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Yashili International Holdings Ltd (the “Company” or “Yashili”) [stock code: 01230) and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”)

As a whole is a domestically leading professional infant formula producer with international presence that
focuses on the production and sales of premium infant formula and nutrition food. The Group has factories
in Guangdong, Shanghai, Shanxi, Inner Mongolia and New Zealand. It sells infant formula through widely
recognized brands such as Yashily, Reeborne, Dumex, Arla and Doraler, as well as various nutrition food
including milk powder for adults and dissolvable products.
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Mr. Zhang Ping

Mr. Gu Peiji (alias Philip Gu]

Executive director
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COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Kwok Wai Cheong, Chris
PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN THE PRC

11/F, East Tower, Poly Development Plaza
832 Yuejiang Road Central

Haizhu District, Guangzhou City
Guangdong Province

The People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”)

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Room A, 32nd Floor
COFCO Tower

262 Gloucester Road
Causeway Bay

Hong Kong

REGISTERED ADDRESS OF THE COMPANY

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681
Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
DEEFE)

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716

17th Floor, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wan Chai

Hong Kong

INVESTOR RELATIONS DEPARTMENT

Office of the Board

INVESTOR ENQUIRY HOTLINE

+86-20-37795190
+852-2845-1230

INVESTOR ENQUIRY EMAIL ADDRESS
ir@yashili.cn

STOCK CODE

Hong Kong Stock Exchange 01230
COMPANY’S WEBSITE

www.yashili.hk
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited
Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited

Hong Kong Branch
Bank of China, Guangdong Pilot Free Trade Zone Nansha Branch
China Guangfa Bank Limited, Guangzhou South Yuexiu Subbranch
Industrial Bank Co., Limited, Hong Kong Branch

LEGAL ADVISERS

As to Hong Kong law

Sullivan & Cromwell (Hong Kong] LLP
As to Cayman law

Conyers, Dill & Pearman

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young, Certified Public Accountants
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Letter to shareholders

ALl

On behalf of the board of directors
(the “Board”) of Yashili International
Holdings Ltd, | hereby present the
Annual Report of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2021 to all
shareholders of the Company [the
“Shareholders”).
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS (CONTINUED)
R RAVEE)

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Yashili
International Holdings Ltd, | hereby present the Annual Report
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 to all
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”).

In 2021, following the trend of recent years, and with the
continued COVID-19 pandemic and further decline in China’s
birth rate, the growth of infant formula milk powder market
size had slowed down and the market features competition for
existing market volumes. In addition, the government continued
to strengthen the regulation of the milk powder industry, and
coupled with the well-controlled domestic pandemic, consumer
confidence in domestic brands had increased. At the same
time, driven by the Chinese economy, consumers’ income
and purchasing power increased and the market had seen an
upgrading trend, with consumers’ demand for high-end products
increasing. As a premium domestic milk powder brand, Yashili
capitalized on the above market trends to drive solid sales
growth during the year.

On the other hand, as people’s health awareness increased after
the pandemic, coupled with the continuous aging of population,
adult milk powder products targeting different physiques such
as goat milk powder, camel milk powder and yak milk powder
had emerged in the market. By applying different nutritional
ingredients and innovative materials, Yashili developed and
launched adult milk powder and nutritional products to meet
different nutritional needs, seizing market opportunities and
providing new growth drivers for our business.

YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD
ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS (CONTINUED)

In addition, digital marketing became more important for the
milk powder market as consumer habits have changed under
the pandemic and pregnant women were gradually dominated
by young post-95 women. Yashili continued to strengthen digital
marketing channels in 2021, including enhancing interaction
with consumers through major self-media platforms. At the
same time, it insisted on opening channels in lower-tier markets
and enhancing the quality of its terminal stores. Through the
consolidation of both online and offline marketing efforts, the
rebranding of several brands launched in 2020 has begun to
bear fruit. Among them, the core infant formula brand Reeborne
had successfully raised its brand awareness and differentiation
level with the mission of “Nutrient in a drop, blooming every
life”, while the brand Arla Baby & Me continued to focus on its
proposition of “Organic A2, choose Baby & Me”, successfully
strengthening its brand advantages. As for the nutrition brands,
Mengniu Yourui high-end adult milk powder brand and Mengniu
M8 Children’s Formula Milk Powder also strengthened their
brand image and drove sales ahead of the market through
joining hands with different brand ambassadors and partners.

In 2021, Yashili continued to make good progress in the research
and development of infant formula and nutritional products.
The Group continued to implement its upgrading plan for infant
formula products already launched, entailing research on
protein, lipid and oligosaccharides to develop innovative infant
milk powder. In terms of nutritional products, our Group also
applied innovative materials to develop and upgrade products
to meet different nutritional needs. In particular, a series of
upgraded Yourui milk powder for the middle-aged and the
elderly, which was launched with a brand-new functional
portfolio and a new product image during the year, while our
Group also developed and launched a series of nutritional
products such as baked cereals, yam powder and goji drinks.
Yashili also continued to collaborate with leading research
institutes and universities, and strived to bring in R&D talents to
enhance its product and technology development capabilities.

The Group continued to strengthen the strategic channel
deployment entailing “focus infant formula on mother-and-baby
stores, nutrition products on modern trade channels, facilitate
e-commerce channels and develop new channels and new
products”.
cooperative relationships with well-known chain stores and
regional chain stores with presence nationwide, while insisting
on opening channels in lower-tier markets, strengthening
dynamic marketing efforts for its stores and building
high-quality stores.

While for the offline channels, we have established
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS (CONTINUED)
R RAVEE)

At the same time, the Group stepped up its investment in
digitalization, completing the development of the distributor
interaction platform and the distributor order module to
realize the integration of distributor business services and
the digitalization of products-to-customers phase. Yashili
also promoted intelligence in membership management and
empowered stores by launching the “Ruimenghui 020 Mall” to
bring traffic and orders to stores and successfully increased
consumer loyalty through membership activities.

In 2021, the Group continued to take the initiative to shoulder its
corporate social responsibility by providing prompt support in
the prevention and control of pandemic and in times of natural
disasters to ensure that frontline personnel and affected
people receive the nutrition they need. During when Henan
province was affected by an extremely heavy rainstorm, the
Group donated milk powder products to local children’s welfare
institution, flood control and drought relief headquarter and
women’s federation. During the prevention and control of the
COVID-19 pandemic, our Group initiated a nutritional product
donation activity together with the Guangdong Provincial
Preventive Medicine Association. In addition, Yashili actively
promoted the “Reeborne Poverty Alleviation Plan” and other
charity activities during the year, donating milk powder products
with a value of nearly RMB9.7 million to people in need.

In 2022, with the continuous support of large-scale resource
platforms such as COFCO, Mengniu, Danone and Arla Foods,
Yashili will gather global quality resources to achieve the best
quality in the dairy industry, firmly root our social responsibility
in the development of the enterprise, and be committed to
becoming the trustworthy brand of choice to provide consumers
with comprehensive nutrition and health solutions.

Jeffrey, Minfang Lu
Chairman
Hong Kong ' 30 March 2022
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
k2 Y A 3 Bl

Year ended 31 December & E12A31H L FE

Percentage
2020 change
gEHEOL
(BR4FRIDIEAIN  FRE &
(All amounts in Renminbi (“RMB”) HARBTARYED
million unless otherwise stated) BE YR
Key results FTEHXE
Revenue I'N 3,649.2 21.5%
Gross profit E A 1,333.8 9.5%
Operating profit g & 54.9 -363.8%
Earnings before interest, tax, BRI EHFENET
depreciation and amortization
(EBITDA) 210.3 -90.6%
Profit attributable to equity holders AN A B A
of the Company (Note 1) JE % A (B 3E1) 101.1 -180.5%
Net operating cash flow (Note 2) KEReREFEHE2) 118.7 -322.7%
Basic earnings per share BREABMARESD)
(RMB cents) (Note 3) (Ff 7£3) 2.1 -181.0%
Net asset value per share BREEFEB(AREBT)
(RMB yuan) (Note 4) (Pt 3% 4) 1.2 0.0%
Proposed special dividend per share &R EZFHIKE
(RMB cents]) (AR®D) — —
Dividend payout ratio SN 1 - -
Key performance ratios FTEXEBLLE
Profitability ratios BT
Gross profit margin E F & 36.6%
Operating profit margin D || e 1.5%
Net profit margin 7R & 2.8%
Margin of profit attributable to IR #E +5 8 A FEAG A =
equity holders 2.8%
Return on net assets F A BB R 1.8%
Net profit to total assets Fom M A E R
(Note 5) (Pt 3%5) 1.3%
Asset ratios BEE
Current ratio (Note 6) B b & (BT 51 6) 1.8
Inventory turnover days (Note 7) FEREXE(MET) 150
Trade receivable turnover days B 5 W KA E R H
(Note 8) (Pt 5£8) 12
Trade payable turnover days CEY AN PN
(Note 9) (Pt 3% 9) 99
Debt to equity ratio (Note 10) B & ¥ X (M 3E10) 36.1%
Gearing ratio (Note 11) BEBBL XTI 4.7%

BIREERERERLE 11
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA (CONTINUED)
BENUEEIE (R

Year ended 31 December

HENANBILEE

Notes:

If excluding the effect of the one-off impairment of the Dumex trademark
of RMB200 million, profit attributable to equity holders of the Company was
RMB118.6 million.

Cash inflow generated from operating activities for the year less cash outflow
generated from operating activities for the year.

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company for the year divided by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue for the year.

Net assets at year end divided by the number of ordinary shares in issue at
year end.

Profit for the year divided by total assets at year end.

Total current assets at year end divided by total current liabilities at year
end.

Average inventory balances for the year divided by cost of sales for the year

and multiplied by 365 days.

Average balances of trade and bills receivables for the year divided by
revenue of sales for the year and multiplied by 365 days.

Average balances of trade and bills payables for the year divided by cost of

sales for the year and multiplied by 365 days.

. Total liabilities at year end divided by total equity attributable to equity

holders of the Company at year end.

. Total interest-bearing bank and other borrowings at year end divided by total

assets at year end.

12 YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

INDUSTRY REVIEW

In 2021, as the new-born population of China continued to
decline, the infant formula milk powder market became
increasingly competitive, driving companies to improve product
quality and develop more efficacious product segments.
Meanwhile, the market share of domestic milk powder brands
continued to expand during the year as the trend of consuming
domestic products surged among consumers.

Birth rate further declined, and the industry returned to
the competition of quality

In recent years, the number of babies born has been decreasing,
and the birth rate in China has further decreased as COVID-19
continued, leading to a decelerated growth in the total
consumption of infant formula milk powder. Although China has
introduced the three-child policy and its supporting measures
since the end of May 2021, it is still uncertain whether it will
be able to genuinely promote the significant increase in the
number of new-born babies. At present, the infant formula
milk powder market features competition for existing market
volumes, coupled with the new national standards and recipe
re-registration requirement to accelerate industry integration
and further enhance concentration. The market is returning to
the competition of quality.

Domestic milk powder embraced new opportunities

As the supervision of the milk powder industry has been
improving and the market has been further regulated,
consumers’ confidence in domestic brands has increased
significantly. In contrast to the severe global pandemic,
COVID-19 has been under effective control in China, resulting in
consumers’ concerns about the safety of products from foreign
brands which instead promotes the development of domestic
brands. During the year, the market share of domestic milk
powder brands further increased, and their dominant markets
expanded from third-and fourth-tier cities to first-and second-
tier cities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEEEETJ Eﬁ/-\*ﬁ[na)

Rising spending power drove product iterations

With the steady growth of disposable income in China, the
spending power of the mother-and-baby market has continued
to rise, and the demand for high-end milk powder has also
increased. As consumers paid more attention to health in the
wake of the pandemic, the nutrition of infant food has become
a major concern, driving product segmentation towards more
efficiency. Manufacturers generally consider A28 -casein
protein milk powder, organic milk powder and goat milk powder
as the key products for the infant formula milk powder market,
and gradually develop niche markets for the milk powder for
pregnant women and special formula milk powder at the same
time.

Owing to the aging population and the growing per capita
income, as well as consumers’ increasing emphasis on
supplementing nutrition through dairy products during the
pandemic, the demand for milk powder for the middle-aged and
the elderly, for children and for the whole family demonstrated
a substantial growth, and sales for child nutrition products like

probiotics, lactoferrin and calcium products spiked.

Post-95 women become the main force of maternity and
the development of digital marketing accelerated

With the young women born after 1995 becoming the main force
of maternity, digital marketing for milk powder consumers
has become more important.
have accelerated the development of new digital businesses
such as social retail, WeChat community marketing and live
streaming commerce, and have acquired more users and online
transaction volume from traditional e-commerce platforms to
expand their customer base.

Companies in the industry

14 YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Population aging continued, and adult milk powder
products went through strategic upgrades

With the increasing nutritional awareness of middle-aged and
elderly consumers, dissolvable milk powder has become their
choice of supplemental nutrition. In the context of continuous
aging of population, the “silver-haired economy” will become
a more obvious driving force for the dairy industry. As a
new market breakthrough point, adult milk powder, which is
currently at its initial stage of development, is undergoing
strategic upgrading on products according to the health needs
of the middle-aged and elderly people, demonstrating great
growth potential. At present, many Chinese and foreign brands
have launched related milk powder products for the elderly,
covering goat milk powder, camel milk powder, yak milk powder,
etc., and have launched different products for the middle-aged
and elderly people targeting different physiques to differentiate
themselves.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Staying true to its original aspiration, the Group is committed
to becoming the brand of choice that provides consumers with
comprehensive nutrition and health solutions they can trust. The
Group has tremendous support in resources from its controlling
shareholder, China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (“Mengniu
Dairy”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Mengniu Group”],
and the second largest shareholder Danone Asia Baby Nutrition
Pte. Ltd. ("Danone Asia”), which advances the Group’s business
exploration and internationalization.

Segment results
Milk powder products

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the results of milk
powder products segment were RMB3,650.4 million (2020:
RMB2,975.6 million], increased by 22.7% as compared to the last
year. which was mainly due to the significant increase in revenue
from adult milk powder attributable to the successful strategies
such as product segmentation and channel expansion.

Other milk powder products

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the results of other
milk powder products segment amounted to RMB438.4 million
(2020: RMB427.4 million), representing an increase of 2.6%
from the last year, which was mainly because of the increase
in the sales of Yashili New Zealand Dairy Co., Limited (“Yashili
New Zealand”) driven by the increasing orders for whole milk
powder.
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Dissolvable products

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the results of dissolvable
products segment was RMB221.2 million (2020: RMB166.4
million), increasing by 32.9% as compared to the last year, which
was mainly due to the adjustment of product strategy.

Others

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the results of other
segments were RMB124.7 million (2020: RMB79.8 million],
increased by 56.3% as compared to the last year, which was
mainly due to the new milk tablet business introduced during
the year.

Product introduction

The Group strives to become the preferred brand of all-round
nutrition and health solutions for consumers. Its products
are divided into two major categories, namely infant formula
milk powder and health and nutrition products, with cow milk
powder, organic milk powder and goat milk powder covering
markets of various price points — including ultra-high-end, high-
end and middle-end markets. The milk powder brands of the
Group include Yashily, Dumex, Reeborne, Doraler, the strategic
cooperative brands Arla Baby & Me, Mengniu, Topconic, M8
children’s milk formula, as well as Yourui, the brand which
caters to the needs of the middle-aged and the elderly.

The Group takes pride in its business model of integrating
premium imported dairy raw materials, high quality milk
sources, scientific research and self-developed formulas,
advanced manufacturing system and stringent quality
management system, enabling it to gather high-quality
resources from around the world to supply the best quality
dairy products worthy of the trust of consumers, and its brands
include:

Yashily

Yashily, a brand focusing on the nutrition research of Chinese
babies and production and sale of infant formula milk powder
for 39 years, has international standard production bases in
China and New Zealand. It sources milk of superior quality
from New Zealand and implements quality standards of China
and New Zealand, striving to become a world-class “Chinese
infant formula expert”. Yashily's products are made from high-
quality raw materials worldwide, such as OPO-structured lipid,
lactoferrin, prebiotics and nucleotides.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Dumex

Dumex was born in Europe in 1946 with over 50 years’
experience in research on breast milk and over 20 years’
experience in research on the human immune and digestive
systems. Dumex entered China many years ago, and has over
the years constantly innovated and upgraded its product
formulas featuring the 9:1 golden ratio of prebiotics, DHA and
lactoferrin content. Its goat milk contains 100% whole goat milk
protein with OPO-structured lipid added, helping absorption of
key nutrients.

Reeborne

Since 2020, the Group reshaped the brand proposition of
Reeborne with “lighter taste and more nutritious ingredients
(B MBEXROEK - % %% K 5] as its brand positioning.
The brand launched seven products to address the different
nutritional needs of infants, covering mainstream milk powder,
high-growth organic milk powder and goat milk powder for
segmenting product category.

Reeborne’s “Kieember (£3A)", produced in Yashili's New Zealand
factory, adopts the advanced international MSD drying process,
which retains the vitality of nutritional ingredients. It contains
double high-quality protein, i.e. lactoferrin and a-whey protein,
OPO-structured lipid, high living CPP factors and prebiotics in
golden ratio and DHA&AA, providing babies with versatile and
easy-to-absorb nutrition. Reeborne organic milk powder passes
the WIT organic certification and adopts the “one can, one code”
tracking system to provide quality assurance. Reeborne’s “TruYn
(¥]58)" goat milk powder selects high-quality small molecule
goat milk protein, and rare ingredients, such as lactoferrin, the
OPO-structured lipid and probiotics and prebiotics, are added to
provide high-quality nutrition that babies can easily digest and
absorb. In addition, Reeborne series also has other products
at different prices, with different nutritional content tailored to
address the different nutritional needs of infants.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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Arla Baby & Me

Arla, a century-old brand, is also the world-renowned organic
dairy brand, and the high product quality it affords has made
it an authorized brand fit for consumption by Danish royals.
Arla “Baby & Me” includes three series, namely “Organic (&
H) “Lanxi (E8)” and “Milex (& 13%)".
powder of Arla “Baby & Me” has obtained three major organic
certifications.

The organic milk

It is produced from rare and selected organic
A2 milk sources with high DHA and prebiotics in golden
ratios and uses 100% organic lactose. Arla “Baby & Me Lanxi
(E8%)" contains NutriCollab, a unique complementary set of
nutrients, MFGM milk fat spherical film and quality nutritious
elements such as choline, taurine and nucleotide. The formula
of Arla "Milex (3£ J17%)" combines OPO-structured lipid, BB-12
probiotics and a golden ratio of prebiotics to form the Pro Plus
growth formula better matching needs.

Doraler

Originally from Australia, Doraler goat milk powder contains
100% whole goat milk protein, which can be easily digested and
absorbed by the human body because it is all natural. Doraler
insists on not adding sucrose, flavors and fragrances and
maltodextrin in its products, providing babies with the pure and
healthy nutrition.

Yourui

Based on the physical characteristics and nutritional
supplement needs of the middle-aged and the elderly
population, the Group has developed innovative products one
after another such as Yourui Guyi (&% & &), Yourui Liyi (4&
i A1 E), Yourui Shunyi (/&% B H), Yourui Yitian (/& Im 16 75),
Yourui Xinpei [ #& I% A /), Yourui Goat Milk Powder Rich in
Selenium and Calcium, Yourui Probiotic Powder, Yourui Probiotic
Formula Camel Milk Powder and Yourui Pure Camel Whole Milk
Powder. These products contain ingredients such as strains
and dietary fibres which enhance the absorption capabilities
of intestines of the middle-aged and the elderly, and boast
ingredients such as calcium, Colostrum basic protein powder,
Lactobacillus casei Zhang, CaHMB/EPA and DHA to supplement
the gradual loss of nutritional content in the bodies of the
middle-aged and the elderly.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

M8 Children’s Formula Milk Powder

M8 children’s formula milk powder is specially developed
to cater to the nutritional needs of children aged 3 to 6, by
adding Bifidobacterium lactis Probio-M8 and 28 kinds of fruit
and vegetable powders with dietary fiber to address parents’
concerns about children’s picky and unbalanced eating habits
and help children grow.

1.88M Children’s Growth Formula Milk Powder

1.88M Children’s growth formula milk powder is developed for
the growth needs of children aged between 3 and 15, containing
CBP, high calcium, vitamin D+K, and lactoferrin, as well as FOS,
GOS, DHA, ARA, PS, taurine, lutein, zeaxanthin, vitamin A, and
many other nutrients necessary for growth.

“Goji” (Goji Berries) the Rising Star

Based on an innovative formula of goji berries — a nourishing
ingredients, fruits and new food ingredients, “Goji” the Rising
Star (¥ =% 1212 F) utilizes modern nutrition science and
appropriate calculation of ingredient ratios to provide women
with a scientific nutrition program.

Fruit Oatmeal

Fruit oatmeal is a product targeting the nutritional needs of
young female consumers aged between 18 and 35. It contains
diverse ingredients such as nuts, milk and rose petals.
Emphasizing the concept of low-calorie, it is rich in dietary
fiber and beneficial to the intestines. It is the smart choice for
breakfast, afternoon tea and snacks.

Brand strategies

To integrate superior resources and focus on brand building,
the Group launched several rebranding projects in 2020, while
in 2021, the Group’s rebranding was made effective through
the consolidation of both online and offline marketing efforts,
supplemented by three-dimensional multi-media campaigns
to convey the brand story to consumers. At the same time, the
Group has been committed to spreading positive energy for the
public by devoting to public welfare.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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Rebranding efforts starting to pay off

The core infant formula milk powder brand Reeborne took on
the mission of “Nutrient in a drop, blooming every life (/& &
E RS @E®), and combed through the cow milk, goat
milk and organic milk categories, among others, to restructure
the product mix. The Group consolidated online and offline
marketing efforts during the year to further enhance brand
awareness and create differentiation. At the same time, the
Group continued to focus on product innovation, and was
awarded the Research Outcome Certificate under the “13th
Five-Year Plan” National Key Research Project ([+ = F |
REMHMRIEEBMRREARZZF), CBIS Annual Technology
Research and Development Award (/%= & £ 5 i 7 % #8) and
Editor's Choice Award of MaMa.cn (45 45 43 47 %8 %0 3% 52, etc.
The Group’s strength in scientific research was recognized by
the industry. As for the brand Arla Baby & Me, during the year,
the Group continued to focus on its proposition of “Organic
A2, choose Baby & Me (B# A2 - 2= B £ % )" and signed up
reputable actress Liu Tao as its endorser to vividly communicate
the outstanding selling points and advantages of the products
to the target audience, robustly connect the brand to the
organic category and raise brand awareness among the target
consumers.

Regarding nutrition products, the Group launched Mengniu
M8 Children’s Formula Milk Powder, which is positioned to
specifically address the nutritional needs of children aged 3
to 6, concerning their digestive and absorption problems, with
famous movie star Deng Chao as the brand endorser to enhance
brand awareness. Mengniu Yourui (5 4 & ¥ ) is a high-end
milk powder brand under Mengniu Group devoted to setting up
a new standard for high-end milk powder, which successfully
signed up National Grade 1 Actor Zhang Guoli as the endorser
during the year. In addition, Mengniu Group coordinated with the
Chinese Football Association and became the official partner
of the Chinese Football Team, further strengthening the brand
image of Mengniu Yourui (R4 #&35) and explore the middle-
aged milk powder market to a further extent. According to
Euromonitor's (Bl &) research: “Mengniu Yourui (5 4 & i),
National Sales Leader of High-end Milk Powder for the Middle-
aged and the Elderly (First Half of 2021) (R4 1&Im = o F £ F
M2 B8 EEL(2021F L4 F) )
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Media promotion in multiple dimensions and communication
through diversified scenarios

During the year, the Group’s infant formula milk powder brands
proactively carried out media promotions, including arranging
“television + outdoor + Internet” multi-media exposure for the
Reeborne brand to conduct in-depth interaction with consumers
in diversified scenarios. The Group successfully arranged for
the brand to appear in the Anhui Spring Festival Gala, which
was broadcasted across national satellite televisions and local
provincial stations, reaching over 260 million people. The brand
also placed advertisements at the entrances of high-speed
railways and highways during the peak of the Spring Festival
travel, reaching out to people returning to hometowns. During
the year, the Group created IP images for Pandas Rui Rui (% i)
and En En (& &) and produced a nation trending childcare video
“The Amazing Adventures of National Treasure ((El & pk & & i
Z2) )" with CCTV.com (SRR #) and iPanda (B& 5 #8 i), covering
more than 96 million fans with over 50 million views on Weibo
(# 18) brand topics. As for Arla “Baby & Me", during the year,
the Group made further attempts to capture popularity on social
media platforms such as Douyin (¥l &) and Xiaohongshu (/)
#T£) to expand publicity by leveraging the influence of KOLs,
while ensuring private domain traffic. In addition, the Group also
placed advertisements in elevators in 12 key cities in order to
boost the sales of organic A2 products during the launch period.

Spreading positive energy by devoting to public welfare

In 2021, Yashili proactively participated in public welfare
activities to establish a positive image for the Company and
the brand, reflecting the brand’s sense of social responsibility.
During the year, Yashili organized over 70 public welfare
activities and donated more than 5,000 pieces of nutrition
products. In addition, Yashili actively responded to the
government’s call for “rural revitalization (%8 &7 #k % )" and
initiated the “rural revitalization (#§#J 4Kk #)" series of public
welfare activities in 2021. During the year, the public welfare
team visited 18 provinces such as Yunnan, Hubei, Gansu, Qinghai
and Anhui, to care for orphaned and disabled children, poor
families, widowed and lonely elderly, and school children in
mountain areas through donations and visits with a donation
amount of nearly RMB9 million. Moreover, after the flooding
in Zhengzhou, the Group promptly sent relief materials and
supplies to the local children’s welfare institutions and women'’s
organizations.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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Comprehensive layout to increase membership

In 2021, the Group fully deployed its membership system and
expanded the scale of its membership through the “Million
Red Packet Gifts in the Year of Ox (A &P K- B EA B X
)" campaign. Meanwhile, the Group continued to expand the
bonus points and rights award system for members, consolidate
resources across various industries to channel traffic, create
the “21st” membership day IP and export high-quality childcare
content, so as to build trust with members and enhance loyalty.

Product research and development

During the year, the Group has made satisfactory progress in
the registration of infant formula milk powder and the research
and development of adult nutrition products. Leveraging its
strong and professional research and development team and
responding to market development trends and demands of
consumers, the Group continued to create differentiated product
advantages. The Group continued to develop infant formula milk
powder products based on the scientific standard of nutritional
composition of breast milk, while innovating and developing a
series of milk powder for children, women, adults, the middle-
aged and the elderly to cover the increasingly diversified
nutritional needs of different consumer groups.

Innovation and upgrade of infant formula milk powder

As of the end of December 2021, the Group and its partner
Arla had a total of 51 infant formula products in 17 series with
recipes registered. To continuously enhance and consolidate
the advantages of differentiated products, the Group continued
to implement its upgrading plan for infant formula products
already launched, entailing research on lipid, protein, and
oligosaccharides to develop innovative infant milk powder. The
Group also conducted research on product packaging refresh
and upgrade based on the needs of infant feeding population to
attract more consumers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Innovation and development of high-end milk powder for adults

In the first half of 2021, the Group launched a variety of
children’s milk powder to meet different nutritional needs
through the application of M8 breast milk-derived probiotics'. In
addition, the Group utilized new raw materials to develop high-
end adult functional milk powder. In particular, the Group had
developed a series of upgraded Yourui milk powder for the
middle-aged and the elderly, which was launched with a brand-
new functional portfolio and a new product image during the
year. The Group has also developed and launched a series of
baked cereals, yam powder and goji drinks based on its own
insight and consumers’ needs.

Improving research and development level with progressive
results

The Group continued to embark on collaborative projects with
industry-leading research institutes in the aspects of food,
agriculture and nutrition, including the nutrition research on
infant formula products, children, adults, middle-aged and
elderly populations with experts from Jiangnan University, China
Agricultural University, Inner Mongolia Agricultural University,
Sun Yat-sen University and other institutions. Regarding the
research on the nutritional composition of breast milk under the
“13th Five-Year Plan”, the Group has kicked off works related
to formula design, trial production and animal experiment. The
Group’s continuous investment in research and development
has started to bear fruit. During the year, a total of 16 patents
were granted, including 2 invention patents, 5 utility models
and 9 appearance patents. In addition, the Group continued
to strengthen the recruitment of nutrition research talents
and process research talents during the year to enhance its
innovation capability and product quality in nutrition science and
process research.

Note:

1 Breast milk-derived probiotics added to the product refer to Bifidobacterium

Probop-M8, which is a strain isolated from healthy breast milk.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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Sales channels

In 2021, Yashili continued to strengthen the strategic channel
deployment entailing “focus infant formula on mother-and-baby
stores, nutrition products on modern trade channels, facilitate
e-commerce channels and develop new channels and new
products (BHEIMHBELSERE 2ERZEHBEREE K

REREPRE MEENEREEERE). The Group insisted
on opening channels in lower-tier markets by cooperating
with well-known chain stores and regional chain stores with
presence nationwide, complementing its own channels in
main markets such as Anhui and Henan. As for offline stores
operation, Yashili continued to enhance the overall quality of its
stores, taking Hubei, Anhui and Henan as pilot areas to build
high-quality stores.

In addition, in order to respond to the changes in sales channels,
Yashili increased investment in digital marketing, in conjunction
with targeted channel product portfolios and a sound product
line, established a solid distribution foundation in core sales
channels. During the pandemic, the home delivery service of
infant formula milk powder and nutrition products of the Group
has also become a standard service, which safeguarded the
supply of products to end-consumers, while at the same time
receiving good reputation from clients and consumers at all
levels.

Improving channels for market penetration and establishing
market presence

During the year,
development of the mother-and-baby store channel, and devised
a synergistic operation among mother-and-baby store chains,
modern trade and e-commerce channels. The Group continued
to strengthen dynamic marketing efforts for its stores and
launched comprehensive consumer education and dynamic
marketing activities around the theme of
Shelf Sales (&) #4 & )", receiving unanimous praise for its
10,000 “Members’ Day” campaigns. The Group also held the
“Smelting Camp (48 8 & )" for marketing agents across the
nation to further enhance their marketing skills so as to build a
professional and efficient marketing team.

Yashili mainly focused on the steady

“First and Foremost,
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Yashili continued to promote the effective distribution of “TruYn
(¥1#)" products and continued to build and improve channels
to fully penetrate the second-and third-tier markets after
gaining traction in certain local markets and key stores. For the
organic category, based on its objectives to develop channels
and enhance services, the Group has gradually established
its market presence by solving the shelf life issue through
airfreight and ensuring the imported infant formula milk powder
is produced recently.

Strengthening digital marketing system

The rapid development of mobile Internet, coupled with the
impact of the pandemic, has led to the continuous proliferation
of innovative channels such as community group purchase,
live streaming e-commerce and social e-commerce, driving
consumers to shift from traditional retailing to new retailing.
Changes were not just at the consumer level, B2B has developed
into the third largest sourcing channel for small terminal stores.
B2B has been able to reach more sales terminals, and terminal
stores have made more and bigger orders on the platform since
2020.

During the year, Yashili placed emphasis on the full range of
consumer engagement through various self-media platforms,
including Douyin (£} &), Xiaohongshu (/N 4L £ ), public accounts
(2 R 5%), etc. Combining digital tools and basic sales execution,
Yashili fully empowers offline business growth with its highly
innovative BC integrated marketing model. Meanwhile, the
Group ensures stability of pricing through price control on
the online platform and carried out long-term procurement-
inventory-sales management and refined production rate
management to empower the digitalization of channels.

For membership management, Yashili stepped up its investment
in intelligence by building a bonus points award system for
members and introducing Al robots to strengthen consumers’
loyalty to the brand. Yashili also empowered terminal stores
by building the innovative “Ruimenghui 020 Mall (#5020
%) to bring traffic and orders to the store in combination
with the mechanism of attracting new customers. The Group
made innovative uses of “Members’ Day (2 & H)” and “Parents
and Children’s Show (%% F 3] and other scenarios to achieve
in-depth interaction with consumers, thereby boosting the
effect of its consolidated marketing effort as well as increasing
consumer loyalty.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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Quality management

In 2021, quality management adhered to the Company’s quality
policy with the targets of TOP [i.e. Trust ({5 #8), Outstanding (&
i) and Preferred (& %)), based on the principles of “compliance,
risk control and safety first (SF& R ~ ZE R R - REL 2], with
the four first-class requirements, namely “first-class system (—

B8 R, "first-class standard (—/RIZ )", “first-class quality
(—#R@E)" and “first-class organization (—i#4A#4%)", as the

core pillars, and “perfect products (X E f1)” as the driving
force to facilitate sustainable development.

Consolidating the foundation for a first-class system

In 2021, the Group continued to improve the 4Q management
system [i.e. quality planning, quality control, quality assurance
and quality support) and relevant system documents have
been implemented in four factories. In addition, the Group has
established an effective replication mechanism of the best
practices in factories within the Group to continuously improve
quality management by sorting out the merits of factories, and
replicating, promoting and implementing them among different
factories.

In order to build a first-class system, Yashili has taken the
initiative to learn from international advanced quality and food
safety management standards. In 2021, the Group introduced
the SQF (Safe Quality Food) specification on top of the original
ISO9001 and HACCP standards. After six months of study and
operation, all four factories in China have successfully passed
the high-level food quality standard certification, and together
with the addition of FSSC22000 in Chaozhou factory during
the year, all factories of the Group in China have passed the
SQF and FSSC22000 certifications recognized by GFSI (Global
Food Safety Initiative]. In addition, both Chaozhou and Shanghai
factories have successfully passed the national inspection of
the infant formula milk powder system and achieved excellent
results, which demonstrated the high standard of the Group’'s
quality system.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Comprehensive upgrading of infant formula food safety and
quality

To guarantee safe, healthy and nutritious food for infants at all
times, Yashili has established a risk monitoring system for
infant formula food with reference to the international
standards relating to pollutant limits. Through internal and
external communication and study of the EU standards, the
Group also identified food safety items within the EU standards
for infant formula milk powder and tightened the standards for
food safety indicators (chemical and microbiological] of key raw
materials. The Group has also managed the entire chain of raw
materials and water used in the production process to ensure
that its products comply with the requirements of rules under
EU food standards assessment and certification. At present,
Yashili's eight series of infant formula milk powder have
obtained product certifications. Yashili is the first infant formula
milk powder company in China to have its products assessed
and certified under EU food standards?.

Continuous improvement of product quality

During the year, Yashili optimized its quality design procedures,
introducing quality design at the developmental stage of new
infant formula milk powder products to account for potential
quality and food safety risks right from the phase of product
design. In addition, in line with its value of “consumers first,
first and first CH B &% — + % — + % —)", and with the purpose
of “improving the existing and avoiding the future (2{Z3R A -
#2 3 K 8], Yashili has been fully implementing the “perfect
products (53 E )" campaign from various dimensions, such
as customers’ feeling at the first and second moments of
purchasing products, sales site evaluation, service experience
and other dimensions. During the year, 44 items were identified
for improvement and 14 sub-projects were established
accordingly, ten of which were completed by the end of the year
to further enhance the competitiveness of the products.

Note:

2 In compliance with: (ECJNo 1881/2006, (EC)No 2073/2005, (EUJNo 2016/127
(Only for items involving pesticide residue]).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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Strengthening digitalization for quality management

After more than a year of research, project work, development
and trial run, the Group officially launched the laboratory
information system of its Helin factory, Chaozhou factory and
Shanxi factory in September 2021, achieving an automatic and
paperless quality inspection process, which systematically
reducing the time spent on manual data entry and test reports
preparation, the three factories can save 1,000 working hours
per month, which significantly improves efficiency and ensures
all tests are true, reliable and traceable, truly enabling quality
management digitalization.

Supply chain

In 2021, driven by the principle of “speeding up for victory (3f
BN - £ & E E)", the Group's supply chain business firmly
focused on the three major objectives of high speed, high
efficiency and high quality, with an aim to achieve high quality
development of the supply chain.

Stable supply

The Group adopted a people-oriented approach, constantly drew
on its management experience and improved its management
system to create a standardized operation system. In March
2021, the Group implemented world-class WCO operation and
the four modules of LMC, OA, Fl and AC in its Shanxi factory to
achieve the goals of cost reduction and efficiency improvement,
enhancing the ability of the factory in solving problems and
overall operation and coordination, ultimately achieving zero
waste, zero defect, zero failure, zero inventory and zero
accident.

In terms of supply coordination, the Group continued to
coordinate resources across the region and optimize the
allocation of production capacity during the year to maximize
the Group’s production capacity. At the same time, the Group
focused on improving production efficiency to achieve quick and
flexible delivery by streamlining the product distribution chain
and simplifying the process. In addition, the Group adopted a
flexible stocking strategy to meet sales demand and enhance
supply security. In terms of logistics support, the Group
promoted “direct delivery from the place of origin (E i & )"
during the year to reduce logistics costs. Meanwhile, the Group
continued to improve its warehousing layout and organise the its
transportation network, successfully maintaining the logistics
transportation time of an average of less than three days with
all indicators meeting targets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Quality assurance

The Group’'s supply chain always adheres to the bottom
line of food safety, emphasizes food safety risks and
customer satisfaction, enhances and strengthens the
relevant management system, and continuously ensures the
comprehensive operation of the quality system. During the year,
the Group obtained two system certifications (including CNAS
laboratory certification) and two product certifications (including
SQF quality and food safety regulations), and conducted 14
audits and assessments, including the audit of the infant
formula milk powder system in autonomous regions, the audit
of the healthcare food system in autonomous regions, four on-
site audits of production licenses, and two external audits of the
quality and food safety system.

Management system

In 2021, the Group completed the development of the distributor
interaction platform and the distributor order module, realizing
the integration of distributor business services and the
digitalization of products-to-customers phase.

In terms of quality management, the Group fully covered
the inspection processes of raw materials, semi-finished
products and finished products through the LIMS system and
integrated with the existing SAP, ERP and other systems, as
well as upgrading the RDL system and establishing a platform
framework for formula product development to provide data
support for the Group’s comprehensive quality management.
The Group developed and used multi-dimensional financial
Bl statements and strategic Bl statements simultaneously to
achieve refined management of financial and supply chain ends.

In terms of channel management, the Group achieved
standardized management of offline channels, launched the
self-developed sales service tool “Business Smart Assistant (3
% EEZB)F)” to strengthen the service management efficiency
of the sales team to the terminals, and launched the 020 mall
and MiniCRM to enable shopping guides and stores to quickly
reach consumers and improve business efficiency.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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In terms of marketing, the Group established a marketing
business middle-end platform, and commenced the research
and development and operation of the product center,
membership center, bonus points center and activity center. In
particular, the marketing business system has been gradually
launched to improve the efficiency of terminal stores. In terms
of consumer operation, the Group focused on the concept of
“service first (AR 7% % —)", upgraded the C-end service tool,
connected more than 2,000,000 real members, and efficiently
completed online and offline customer traffic acquisition by
establishing online operation matrix for WeCom (1} % {5,
public accounts (2 R 5%) and Mini Program (/N 12 7).

In the information security module, the Group has established
a unified identity authentication platform, a group-wide smart
monitoring platform, an information leakage prevention
and control platform and a terminal security management
platform to enhance the Group’s overall information security
management and control capabilities and ensure the stable
operation of the Group’'s core network, data and information

systems and the security of data assets.

During the year, Yashili also completed the establishment of
a technology independent research and development team
to realize the private deployment of core business systems,
consolidate data assets, and commence the initial stage of
the independent research and development of core business
systems to further improve the efficiency of digital tools.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue
For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group’s revenue

amounted to RMB4,434.7 million (2020: RMB3,649.2 million), up
by 21.5% as compared to the corresponding period last year.
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2021 2020 Percentage
By product category RMB million RMB million change
BEREHYS AREEE T N £ %)t B
Milk powder products I3 #) & & 3,650.4 2,975.6 22.7%
Other milk powder H A )4 &
products 438.4 427.4 2.6%
Dissolvable products A E @ 221.2 166.4 32.9%
Others HAtp 124.7 79.8 56.3%
Total T 4,434.7 3,649.2 21.5%

As of 31 December 2021, sales revenue from milk powder
products amounted to RMB3,650.4 million (2020: RMB2,975.6
million), representing an increase of 22.7% from the last year,
which was mainly due to the significant increase in the sales of
adult milk powder. The sales revenue from other milk powder
products amounted to RMB438.4 million (2020: RMB427.4
million), representing an increase of 2.6% from the last year,
which was mainly because of the increase in the sales of Yashili
New Zealand driven by the increasing orders for whole milk
powder. The sales revenue from dissolvable products amounted
to RMB221.2 million (2020: RMB166.4 million), representing an
increase of 32.9% from the last year, which was attributable to
the adjustment of product strategies. The sales revenue from
other products amounted to RMB124.7 million (2020: RMB79.8
million), representing an increase of 56.3% from the last year,
which was mainly due to the new milk tablet business introduced
during the year.
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The increase in the Group’'s sales revenue was mainly due to: (1)
the significant increase in the revenue from adult milk powder;
and (2) enhanced product awareness attributable to media
promotion in multiple dimensions and communication through
diversified scenarios.

Gross profit

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group recorded a
gross profit of RMB1,460.0 million (2020: RMB1,333.8 million],
representing an increase of 9.5% from the last year. The gross
profit margin was 32.9% (2020: 36.6%), representing a decrease
of 3.7% from the last year, which was a result of product
structure adjustment with larger sales proportion of adult milk
powder of lower gross profit.

Selling and distribution expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group generated
selling and distribution expenses of RMB1,146.8 million (2020:
RMB1,039.1 million], representing an increase of 10.4% from
the last year. The Group’s selling and distribution expenses
as a percentage of revenue decreased to 25.9% (2020: 28.5%)],
representing a decrease of 2.6% from the last year. The main
reason for the decrease was the enhancement in the efficiency
of selling expense during the year, while the branding strategy
was being adjusted according to market conditions, resulting in
lower investment.

Administrative expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2021, administrative expenses
amounted to RMB239.3 million (2020: RMB186.6 million],
representing an increase of 28.2% from the last year, which
was mainly attributable to the expiry of the social insurance
exemption policy related to the pandemic and the increase in the
loss from production suspension of the newly introduced fresh
milk project of Yashili New Zealand has led to an increase in
expense.

Net finance income

For the year ended 31 December 2021, net finance income
amounted to RMB51.8 million (2020: RMB74.8 million]. The
decrease in net finance income of 30.7% was mainly attributable
to the global adoption of quantitative easing policy under the
pandemic, leading to a decrease in deposit rate and capital for
deposits.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Income tax

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the income tax credit of
the Group amounted to RMB11.7 million (income tax expense
of 2020: RMB28.6 million], and the effective income tax rate
was 12.6% (2020: 22.1%). The decrease in income tax expense
was mainly due to the increase of the proportion of adult milk
powder (which has lower gross profit than infant formula
milk powder], resulting in a lower profit before tax excluding
dividends and hence a lower effective tax liability for the current
period.

Inventory

As at 31 December 2021, the balance of inventory of the Group
amounted to RMB816.0 million (31 December 2020: RMB984.8
million), representing a decrease of 17.1%, which was mainly
due to the alleviation of capital pressure through optimized
inventory management.

Other current financial assets

As at 31 December 2021, other current financial assets
amounted to RMB93.9 million (31 December 2020: RMB121.8
million).

Trade receivables

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’'s trade receivables
amounted to RMB414.7 million (31 December 2020: RMB91.2
million). In 2021, the trade receivables turnover days were 21
days (2020: 12 days], representing an increase of 9 turnover days
from last year, which was mainly attributable to the increase
in the trade receivables from large-scale modern trade and
e-commerce platforms within normal credit period as a result
of a notable increase in the revenue from the adult milk powder
in the current period.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities (31 December 2020: nil).
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Capital commitment

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’'s net cash outflow in
capital expenditures was RMB222.2 million (31 December 2020:
RMB84.1 million). As at 31 December 2021, the Group's capital
commitment was RMB1.2 million (2020: RMB4.3 million), which
was mainly related to the purchase of milk powder production
equipment and optimization in software systems.

Provision for doubtful debts of trade receivables

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had provisions for doubtful
debts of RMB11.8 million (2020: RMB12.1 million). These
provisions were made for impaired receivables relating to
customers that were in delinquency of payments. The Group
does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over such amounts. An impairment analysis is performed by
the Group using a provision matrix to measure expected credit
losses. The provision rates are based on the ageing of the
balances for the groupings of various customer segments with
similar default patterns (e.g. by customer type). The calculation
reflects the probability weighted outcome, the time value of
money and reasonable and supportable information that is
available at the reporting date about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

Provision for impairment and disposal losses of
inventories

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s balance of provision for the
impairment on inventories was RMB44.0 million (2020: RMB71.2
million), which was mainly because some of the inventories
affected by the rebranding had longer age and corresponding
provision of impairment was required in accordance with the
policy. In addition, the Group recorded losses on disposal of
inventories of RMB10.6 million in 2021 (2020: RMB21.1 million],
which was mainly because, under the impact of rebranding,
unsuitable packaging materials were disposed of and the
provision for inventory impairment of deteriorated inventory
were required.

Pledge of assets
As at 31 December 2021, the Group had pledged assets with

an aggregate value of approximately RMB1,501.3 million (31
December 2020: RMB1,715.8 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

(Loss)/profit attributable to equity holders of the
Company

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the loss attributable to
equity holders of the Group amounted to RMB81.4 million (2020:
the profit attributable to equity holders of the Group amounted
to RMB101.1 million). This was mainly due to the provision for
the impairment on Dumex trademark.

Liquidity, capital resources and capital structure

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s liquidity and capital
resources, including cash and bank balances, pledged deposits
to be released within one year, other current financial assets/
structured bank deposits and long-term bank deposits,
amounted to RMB2,679.9 million in total (31 December 2020:
RMB3,089.0 million), representing a decrease of 13.2%. The
decrease was mainly due to the increase in the investments for
long-term projects and the decrease in daily working capital.
Details of the liquidity and capital structure of the Group are
set out in notes 38(d) and 38(e] to the consolidated financial
statements.

Operating activities

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group’'s net cash
outflow from operating activities was RMB264.4 million (2020:
net inflow of RMB118.7 million). The decrease in net operating
cash inflow was mainly attributable to the higher percentage of
revenues from modern trade at the end of the year and higher
receivable balances within the normal credit period.

Investing activities

For the year ended 31 December 2021, net cash outflow
generated from investing activities amounted to RMB65.6
million (2020: net outflow of RMB1,067.1 million], which was
mainly attributable to the increased expense from the fresh milk
project of Yashili New Zealand.

Financing activities

For the year ended 31 December 2021, net cash inflow generated
from financing activities amounted to RMB53.7 million (2020:
net inflow of RMB71.1 million], which was mainly attributable to
the repayment of interest-bearing loans due.

BB wEE)

FAFIRERAAEG(EER), &

HE2021F12A3MBLEFE @ AEERERF
EAEMLEEAARESILLEE T (20204 ¢
EEHEFAREINIAET)  TEARET
REEXLEIZRA -

REBRE RERERREER

R2021F12A318  AEEN R EELE
AERBRIERSRBITES  —FTABRK
BREIMNRESGTR HtvrnBemEE
EEBERTERLERHARTEREATAR
#267998 B 7T (2020F12A318: A R ¥
3,089.08&7T) NF13.2% - FTHEMERERAE
ZEAAENKBIEERE AFEZEE
SR  AEBMADEREALEENFE
R A& OF B 78 W & BT 3E38(d) K238(e) ©

EEED

HE2021F12A3BIEFE  FEEHKS
EHIREFRE ARB24.48 & £ (2020
F O FERAAREIBIAE T - KEH S

= ERRBAMREEEREE M -

REED

HE2021F12A3MBLEFE  BEEHEE
MRS F RN AAREEES.68 8T (2020F ¢
FREHARKI0TIBEL) T EREH
FARIILENBPEE X HR KT -

Bl S E

HE2021F12A3BILFE  mEGFYHE
FREFRABARELSTAEBIT(2020F ¢
FRAARBINIEE L) T EREEZEZ
HAMET B E P B o

BITAEERERERAE
20214 %R

35



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEET WD E)

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings

As at 31 December 2021, the Group's interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings amounted to RMB320.8 million (31 December
2020: RMB365.9 million). The above loans shall be repayable
on demand upon maturity. As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s
gearing ratio, which is calculated by total interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings at year end divided by total assets at year
end, was 4.4% (31 December 2020: 4.7%).

Use of net proceeds from the Initial Public Offering

The Company’s net proceeds from the Initial Public Offering
amounted to approximately RMB1,965.8 million after deduction
of relevant expenses. As of 30 June 2018, the Company had
used up all the net proceeds from the Initial Public Offering in
accordance with the manner as disclosed in the section headed
“Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the prospectus dated 30
October 2010.

Event after the reporting period

The Company has issued an announcement on 16 March 2022.
The Company was informed by Mengniu Dairy, its controlling
shareholder, that Mengniu Dairy was in discussion with other
parties regarding its holdings in Yashili and certain other
business interests, which may result in a number of potential
transactions (the “Potential Transactions”]), the structure and
details of which are yet to be finalized but which may include a
potential pre-conditional privatization offer for the Company by
Mengniu Dairy (or through its affiliate] (the “Potential Offer”).
As of the date of this Annual Report, no definitive agreement
or arrangement in respect of any of the Potential Transactions
has been entered into. Therefore, the Potential Transactions,
including the Potential Offer, may or may not proceed.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As of 31 December 2021, the Group has a total of 2,762 (31
December 2020: 2,919) full-time employees. The total staff
cost for the year was approximately RMB561.7 million (2020:
RMB435.3 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Promoting the implementation of new culture and
deepening the application of values

In response to the reshaped corporate culture in 2020,
systematic plans were formulated by the Group to hasten the
promotion and implementation of the new culture in various
departments, while the management led the implementation
of corporate values. The Group has also worked to integrate
relevant values into performance appraisal, formulation
of criteria for selection and employment to deepen the
implementation of corporate culture in the organizational
system.

Flat organization structure with agile management

During the year, the Group further strengthened the operation
of business divisions, standardized organizational management,
improved organization agility, flattened organizational structure
and organized roles and responsibilities, in order to delegate
authority and empower the front line and minimize reporting
levels. In addition, during the year, the Group strengthened the
coordination between departments, which further enhanced the
internal operational efficiency.

The establishment of dual-channel career development
clarifying employee development path

The Group has released the "Dual-channel Career Development
Plan for Employees”, which forms a horizontal and vertical
development roadmap for employees. The career promotion
assessment schemes on 14 professional areas are also
completed. During the year, the Group also introduced Mengniu’s
“Zhide ({75)" online learning platform and developed more
than 3,000 tailor-made courses in order to strengthen the
cultivation of employees with potential.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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Reforming remuneration system to motivate talents
with excellent performance

During the year, the Group continued to optimize its
remuneration structure to enhance the competitiveness on
remuneration for its entry level employees, and retained talents
for the Company through enhancing in-process incentives,
increasing pay for performance component of annual bonus,
and promoting a culture of high performance and high incentive.
With respect to welfare, the Group continued to raise the sum
assured on critical illness and accidents for its entry level
employees, emphasize the health condition of employees, and
expand the coverage of the medical checkup institution and
increase the number of medical checkup items to satisfy the
needs from different groups of people.

Enhancing the employer image and attracting the
external outstanding talents

In this post epidemic era, the Group demonstrated the inclusive,
open and entrepreneurial atmosphere of Yashili to the public
through the exploration of emerging channels such as live
recruitment and video channel.

In addition, the Group was

awarded the “Outstanding Human Resources Management
Award” by 51job.com and the “Work Different” award by Liepin,
which enhanced the Group’s employer image, to better attract

middle and high-end talents.
SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

In 2021, the Group continued to take the initiative to shoulder its
corporate social responsibility to protect the nutritional needs
of those in need and to support emergency responders and
disaster victims during epidemic prevention and control periods
and natural disasters.

During the year, the Group proactively promoted “Reeborne
Poverty Alleviation Plan ( I M B k & 5 &l )", through its
partnership with the China Children and Teenagers’ Fund to
“Warmth accompanied with Love (JB B& 8 + £
campaigns for breast milk caring, reaching out to 18

launch the
ER{T)
provinces, municipalities and autonomous regions including
Hubei, Hebei, Shandong, Shaanxi, Jiangxi,
Qinghai, Jiangsu, Zhejiang and Guizhou, and donated milk
powder products with a value of nearly RMB9.7 million to local

Shanxi, Gansu,

women's federations, children’s welfare centers, disabled
persons federations, homes for the aged, kindergartens and
households in need.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

In addition, Yashili has continued to explore the combination of
corporate development together with its strong local presences,
and actively cooperated with local stores and distributors to
carry out public welfare activities. Taking Hubei as an example,
Yashili organized local caring teams to visit people in need and
delivered milk powder and other supplies in the township of
Huopai, Guyi and Zhuji in Xiangzhou District of Xiangyang City.
In Guangxi, Yashili worked with its partners to visit Minglang
Kindergarten in Pubei county to deliver nutrition products to
local children and organized a birthday party for the elderly
in Yuezhou nursing home, donating nutritional milk powder to
send care to the elderly. In Ganzhou, Jiangxi, Yashili responded
to the call of China Dairy Industry Association and donated M8
children’s formula milk powder of RMB100,000 to the people in
the old revolutionary base area.

In July 2021, Henan province was severely affected by an
extremely rare heavy rainstorm. After learning 600 children
in Zhengzhou Institute for Children’s Welfare needed to be
relocated and were facing a shortage of food, the Group
immediately organized donation of disaster relief materials to
the areas affected, and delivered Yashili Reeborne’s “Kieember
(& 34)” milk powder to the children of the institute to alleviate
their immediate needs. In this disaster, Yashili donated a total
of 238 cartons of milk powder products to Zhengzhou Institute
for Children's Welfare of the Party Committee of Zhengzhou
City of Henan Province, the Flood Control and Drought Relief
Headquarters of Huixian, Henan Province, and the Women'’s
Federation of Xinxiang, Zhengzhou, Henan Province according
to the actual demands from the frontline to implement social
responsibility, and provide practical help to the people in areas
affected by the disaster.

In addition, Yashili visited the medical workers who devoted
fully to their positions during the prevention and control of
the COVID-19 pandemic, and paid tribute to the “white angels”
who worked at the frontline in fighting against the COVID-19
pandemic. Yashili and Guangdong Provincial Preventive Medicine
Association jointly initiated the activity of donating nutritional
products to Guangzhou Shipai Street Community Health Service
Center and Guangzhou Xiancun Community Health Service
Center.

Going forward, Yashili will continue to implement corporate
social responsibility. It will assist the construction of a
harmonious society and contribute itself to the healthy life of
the people.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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PUBLIC RELATIONS AND CRISIS MANAGEMENT

In 2021, the Group communicated with the government, media
and consumers in a timely and effective manner through
mass communication, organizational communication and
interpersonal communication to gain public understanding of the
Group and raise awareness of its brand and products, in order
to build a good corporate image for seizing a broader market.

During the year, the Group launched public relations campaigns
such as the launch of Reeborne OPO Il products and Mengniu
M8 children’s formula milk powder to publicize the Group’s
leading research products to the media and consumers. The
Group actively participated in the 4th China International Import
Expo (/0 EH HER¥EO1EE €), which is an international
and authoritative event, to recommend the Group’s new
technologies and products to the world. In addition, the Group
made public its breast milk research results at the 1st China
Breast Milk Science Conference (F— BB IAREXRE),
which was jointly organized by the Chinese Nutrition Society
(% Z& 2 2) and the Institute of Nutrition and Health of the
Chinese Center for Disease Control and Prevention (1 B /& Jim 78
By 28 I AR 0y 4% 25 BA {# 7 FT) with several academic organizations
and institutions, at which the Group’s Hong Kong version of
Reeborne products were presented, attracting widespread
attention from the participants and the industry.

The Group learned from the public opinion prevention and
control management measures of Mengniu Group and strived
to improve public opinion prevention and control management
by establishing an optimal mechanism for the prevention,
control and handling of public opinion risks and setting up
a public opinion risk management leadership group. Under
the operation of the relevant mechanism, the Group’'s public
opinion management achieved positive results with sensitive
and prompt monitoring of public opinion during the year. The
Group’s reputation has increased significantly with increasingly
positive comments on the Internet. At the same time, under the
leadership of the public affairs office, the Group has established
a crisis alert and prompt response mechanism, with various
departments working together to handle various consumers’
complaints in a timely manner and actively respond to issues of
concern from government departments and the media to adopt
measures to eliminate potential risks with utmost effort.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED]

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Group believes that effective communication with
shareholders, investors and potential investors is essential
for enhancing investor relationship and enabling investors to
understand its business performance and strategies. The Group
communicates with investors through various channels and
means such as onsite receptions, telephone conferences, and

non-deal roadshows.

To facilitate effective communication, the Group has also set
up a website (www.yashili.hk) to publish its latest financial
information, corporate governance practices and other updated

data for public reference.
FUTURE PROSPECTS
Policy implications

In March 2021, China’s health regulatory authorities issued
three new national standards for infant formula food, which set
higher requirements for raw materials, supply chain, research
and development and process stability of infant formula milk
powder enterprises, and will be implemented as of 2023. The
authorities subsequently carried out formula re-registration
work after the publication of those standards, and issued a
series of relevant policies such as announcements on formula
registration related matters, answers to formula registration
questions and the labelling and identification regulating infant
In addition,

formula products. important regulations related

to food safety, such as Good Manufacturing Practice for Dairy
Products (%L ® fh R &f &£ &= #1 #)), Good Manufacturing
Practice for Infant Formula Food ({4 R AR B RITFEER
#) ), and the Detailed Rules for the Examination of Production
License for Infant Formula Milk Powder ((52%4) B 5 %L # 4
EFAEEMA), are also being revised. It is expected that
the approval of product registration will become more rigorous
in the future, and products that have already been registered in
the formula will be subject to more stringent supervision.
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The tightening of regulatory regulations is expected to drive
enterprises to strengthen raw material control and enhance
their capabilities in research and development, production and
inspection, which will help improve the quality of domestic infant
formula milk powder and raise the entry barrier of the industry.
The promulgation of new standards provides an opportunity
for domestic milk powder to gain a first-mover advantage,
such that in the event that an enterprise can complete the
formula registration as soon as possible in accordance with the
requirements of the new national standards, it is more likely to
seize the market share sooner.

In terms of nutrition products, the authorities have not yet
introduced specific policies for milk powder for adults to
regulate industry development. The market entry barrier for
milk powder for adults is relatively low compared to infant
formula milk powder. Therefore, if the current requirements for
the research and development and design of the formula of milk
powder for adults remain high, it is more likely for enterprises
to stand out.

In addition, after the revision of the Law of the People’s Republic
of China on Population and Family Planning ({F # A & #
ME ADOEF S 4 F%A)) and the introduction of the three-
child policy, provinces, cities and regions have successively
implemented supporting measures to support childbirth, which,
together with the implementation of the national strategy
of “Healthy China ({& & 9 Bl)", will benefit the milk powder
industry.

Industry trend
Increasingly fierce market competition

The number of new-born population in China has declined since
2017. However, with the improvement of consumption level of
residents and the upgrade of parenting concept of the younger
generation, coupled with the differences in pandemic conditions
between China and overseas and the gradual effectiveness of
the three-child policy, it is expected that the size of China’s
infant formula milk powder market will grow steadily in 2022.
As dairy enterprises continue to strengthen quality control
management, the share of domestic brands is consolidating
rapidly, with the leading enterprises continuing to seize the
market share of small-and medium-sized enterprises.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED]

Lower-tier markets becoming the new consumption force
According to the Ministry of Commerce, after the
implementation of the formula registration requirement,
miscellaneous infant formula milk powder brands that are
produced through outsourcing are eliminated from the market
and are expected to free up market share of 25%.
compared with first-and second-tier cities, third-to fifth-tier
cities have lower living costs, slower working and living pace,
and young families are more willing to have two children. The
infant formula milk powder market in lower-tier cities such as

In addition,

third-to fifth-tier cities, counties and rural areas has a huge
development potential.

Increasing share of mother-and-baby store channel, and speedy
development of digital marketing

The proportion of products purchased by consumers through
mother-and-baby stores has been increasing, while the
proportion of sales in traditional modern trade channels has
decreased year by year. It is expected that the mother-and-
baby store channel will remain the main areas of competition
for infant formula milk powder in 2022. With the steady
development of small-and medium-sized mother-and-baby chain
stores, the trend towards digitalization and platformization of
operations has gradually taken shape. In addition, the pandemic
has sparked more diverse and flexible digital marketing
methods, and consumer interaction and goods delivery are
shifting to the Internet. It is expected that emerging marketing
methods such as live streaming, community marketing and
community e-commerce will continue to develop at a rapid level.

Consumption upgrade speeding up the optimization of product
structure

With the rise in national health awareness after the pandemic
coupled with the rise of the middle class, consumers have paid
more attention to the nutrition and safety of infant formula
milk powder, and the sales of high-end and super high-end
milk powder have increased rapidly. Domestic milk powder
enterprises are continuously increasing investment in research
and development and launching diversified products, such as
organic milk powder and A2 milk powder, to meet the diverse
needs of different consumer groups.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEET WD E)

Silver-hair economy demonstrating great market potential

In terms of adult nutrition products, China is moving from a light
aging stage to a medium aging stage. According to the Report on
the Development of Elderly-related Industry in China ({(fFE %
B EE ¥ B L)) issued by the China National Committee on
Ageing, the elderly population in China will reach 480 million in
2050, and their consumption potential will increase to RMB106
trillion, accounting for 33% of the GDP. It is expected that the
market size of milk powder for adults will continue to expand.

Brand strategies

The Group regards infant formula and adult milk powder as
its main product categories. It continues to develop a multiple
brands driven operation strategy to build a sustainable and
successful business model, striving to consolidate its position
in cow milk powder market, and expand the market for organic
milk powder and goat milk powder products, while gradually
developing the market for dissolvable nutritional products. In
particular, cow milk powder and organic milk powder will be
the main products for the Reeborne brand, the Arla brand will
focus on high-end organic products, and the Doraler brand will
seek for breakthroughs in imported goat milk powder, thereby
forming a comprehensive infant formula milk powder product
mix.

On the other hand, with the emergence of aging population and
younger sub-healthy population, the Group will focus on the
middle-aged, the elderly and the sub-healthy populations, to
create a high-end nutritional category comprising of middle-
aged and elderly milk powder and adult nutritional products.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED]

Multiple dimensional strengthening of brand image

In 2022, the Group will solidify the brand images of Reeborne,
Arla, Doraler and nutrition products from multiple dimensions.
Reeborne will continue to communicate through the benefit
points of “good digestion and absorption (&L T UK)",
heaty (/1 k)" and “not picky (N 8K &)” through the publicity
slogan of “lighter taste and more nutritious ingredients (& I1/&
KO - EZEEMNK S, and strengthen the high-end quality
image through the certification of EU food safety standards.
Reeborne will also leverage on Mengniu's brand influence and
top resources, such as Gu Ailing (A% %), World Cup, China
Aerospace, etc., to rapidly enhance brand awareness. As for
Arla, the Group will adhere to its positioning of “Organic A2,
choose Baby & Me (B# A2 BE B )" to create a story
for organic A2 milk source, improve the quality of the material
from design to material used, to create a high-end image and
enhance brand awareness and consumer recognition. Doraler
and Dumex will fully utilize the IP image to attract online and
offline channel resources and accumulate private domain traffic
for the brand.

In terms of nutrition products, the Group will focus on the
renovation of brands such as Yourui and M8 to shape their
high-end professional images. For example, the Group will
renew its contract with Zhang Guoli, a national first-class
actor, as the endorser of Yourui brand to create the concept
of “Choosing Yourui for high-end milk powder as a new way of
nutrition supplementation (& EMEE X S wm M RIK
I%)” and continue to cooperate with Deng Chao, the endorser, to

vigorously promote M8 children’s formula milk powder.
Empowering the retail-end with media and communication

In 2022, the Reeborne brand will adhere to three major
channels of communication, including: 1) establishing a national
brand image through cooperation with CCTV's popular brand
promotion programs; 2] attracting consumers through online
platforms such as Baidu (& ), Xiachongshu (/) 4T £ ) and
Douyin ($}&); and 3) establishing brand momentum through
outdoor advertising. As for Baby & Me, the Group will use
the selling points such as “Selecting Lanxi for better brain
development and nutrition (J§ )& & @ HEEE)"
with the membership club with self-media as the core, create a
complete closed chain of “appealing-purchasing-sharing (f& &
— B8 — 5 =)", and perform road shows in core key cities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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In terms of nutrition products, the Group will continue to focus
its resources on the promotion of new products in all media in
2022, strengthen the education for specialty stores, enter the
high-end boutique store market, and professionalize shopping
guides for consumers. Meanwhile,
integrated marketing communication through television
advertisement, cooperation with local media programs and
digital media.

the Group will invest in

Product research and development

The Group will continuously upgrade all the launched infant
formula milk powder products to further enhance the
differentiated advantages of its products in 2022. By combining
the latest research results of breast milk nutrition composition,
the Group innovatively develops infant milk powder product with
breast milk composition as the scientific standard. The Group
is preparing to renew and upgrade the packaging of the product
series under the brand based on the insights of the needs of
infant feeding population to attract more consumers and raise
the consumption level of the products.

In 2022, the Group will continue to strengthen research
efforts on nutritional components and products with research
institutions and relevant experts from Jiangnan University, the
China Agricultural University, the Inner Mongolia Agricultural
University and Sun Yat-sen University. The target groups of
nutritional research include infants, children, adults and
the middle-aged and the elderly. The Group will continue to
materialize the research results of the project from “13th Five-
Year Plan”. In addition, the Group will continue to strengthen
the introduction of nutrition and process research talents into
its team to improve the innovation capability of nutrition science
and process research, for the upgrading of its products.

To cater for the diverse needs of the market, the Group will
continue to enrich its brand matrix and improve its product
portfolio. The Group will devote its efforts on the design of
the unique formulas for the nutritional needs for different
groups, conduct research on the nutritional health evaluation
standard of milk powder, and strengthen its innovation on the
development of milk powder series for children, women and the
middle-aged and the elderly that cater for the different demands
on nutrition, to satisfy the diversified needs of different groups
of people.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Sales channels

Continuously strengthening market penetration in lower-tier
cities by focusing on high-quality stores

The Group will focus on high-quality store channels in 2022. In
fourth-and fifth-tier markets, the Group will continue to expand
its channels. Based on focusing on core areas, core customers
and high-quality stores, the Group will launch the “In-can Code
(% W 8 )” to establish a higher standard safety traceability
system and stabilize channel sales orders. In second-and third-
tier markets, the Group will further strengthen the development
of leading mother-and-baby chain stores in the region. As for
national large-scale chain stores, the Group will focus on core
regions, strengthen execution in terminal stores, gradually
increase the sales share of large chain mother-and-baby store
system, and establish a solid cooperation relationship with
vendors.

Increasing effort on marketing digitalization with aid of offline
promotion

Yashili will continue to invest in digitization in 2022 to improve
its digital operation capabilities, including performing in-depth
research on consumer big data to provide targeted marketing
for channels and providing high-standard services through
upgrading the membership marketing platform. At the same
time, the Group will continue to optimize the digitalization of
marketing to improve the efficiency of logistics distribution and
overall service level. In addition, against the backdrop of the
pandemic, the Group will ensure the implementation of 10,000
offline campaigns to be carried out in 2022, achieving full
coverage of online and offline marketing.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENWEDINE)

Grasping new opportunities arising from interest-based
e-commerce

With the rise of content platforms and live streaming platforms,
e-commerce has entered into a dual-domain marketing model.
The Group will seize the new opportunities of interest-based
e-commerce, establish a self-broadcasting matrix, and launch
a series of organic children’s milk powder products exclusively
for e-commerce channels. From the traditional traffic operation
to the dual-driven path of relying on both products and traffic
flow, the Group will bring new channel growth points from the
four dimensions of traffic, marketing, goods and people. In
addition, the Group will focus on the new customer development
and brand attraction, further reaching more consumers through
popular social platforms such as Douyin (£l &) and Xiaohongshu
(/N4 ). Online promotion is supplemented by frequent offline
activities for mothers to fully support the development of new
customers and product sales in the mother-and-baby store
channel.

Supply chain

In 2022, the Group will continue to improve the supply chain
operation capacity of factories, connect various external
cooperation system platforms, and provide business capabilities
and technical support required for digital operation, to achieve
the objectives of collaborative operation, strategic decision-
making and operational excellence.

The Group will focus on the sustainable development of the
entire value chain, including promoting the full implementation
of the strategic system of “Group — Business Department —
Factory (5B — =330 — T )", and accelerating the digital
and smart transformation of production. In terms of refined
production management, the Group will promote real-time data
sharing, improve production adaptability and clarify quality
responsibility. The Group will also continue to promote the
information management of materials in and out of inventory,
filing and disposal to ensure real-time execution of production
tasks, as well as the timeliness and accuracy of material
delivery. In addition, the Group will continue to systematically
manage the inspection, maintenance and repair of equipment.

48 YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD

ANNUAL REPORT 2021

EEEBEHHHLE

BEARFE EREVaMEE En#
ABHEHEEN AEEKLERBER
B BEUYBHERE YHLEBRRSB
BENERAZENRINER  HERKRE
B BEREREERVNRELEEEDNH

BE feRE ZH HEm ABRTME#
B SERHOREERMN - W AEHE
HEEMERE mEIR BBAAE

NIEFETARPFINRERTFEE—FEE
FLHEBE BRLEEREGEURTHAESA
ROGBHIIEY  2EXRHEBEREFT
MBEMEMRBE -

s

025 - AKERFTERS IHREREES
BN BINERSAERERTE  EH
B EEMBNRBRENERMIE
ERBRER BRRRNISBEELNE

i)
1= o

AEERBBEERRBRAKERR BRE
BIEE — FX8 — THW]2E % B
BEX NIREERBECEY ERAL
FEEETE ASERELEEREESR
BAZ RALERER N UAREE
B -AEENTKEEHEIYREAGTR
BEERLERE BRESEELEMLTH
LA Ko ¥ 4 BB B By M RN R RE A o b S
AEEBHBEEARLEEREN KR - 4
EARE o



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED]

For each business interface, the Group will achieve cross-
departmental business and technical capability sharing and
interaction to achieve capability synergy and optimization.
The Group will continue to streamline, optimize and reshape
its business processes, improve its data analysis system, and
achieve digital application innovation. In addition, the Group will
also combine the WCO ideology and practice to achieve business
connection and closed-loop management in terms of quality,

cost and efficiency.
Human resources

The Group will further promote the integration of “research and
development, production, sales and services (#f & - 4 &E -
HE - R
responsibility to promote the synergy of the entire value chain
and improve efficiency. The Group will focus on strengthening
the operation of the headquarters, fully empowering and
supporting business departments, and continuously creating an
efficient organization.

and implement the integration of authority and

The Group will strengthen the cultivation of talents, make
every effort to build an elite business team, strengthen sales
capabilities and functional expertise, and provide employees
with new impetus for career development. The Group will also
continue to enhance the competitiveness of the remuneration
packages of high-performance employees and key personnel
by providing an incentive mechanism that matches business
growth. Meanwhile, through internal research, the Group
will internally select promoters of the Company’s values and
proposition for commendation. The Group will also propagate
Yashili’'s employer brand story to attract outstanding external
talents through recruitment platforms, social platforms, new
media platforms.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERELIRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to maintaining high corporate
governance standards.

The Board believes that high corporate governance standards
are essential in providing a framework for the Company to
safeguard the interests of shareholders, enhance corporate
value, formulate its business strategies and policies, and
enhance its transparency and accountability.

The Company has applied the principles as set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in
Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”).

The Board is of the view that throughout the year ended 31
December 2021, the Company has complied with all applicable
code provisions as set out in the CG Code, except for the
deviation from code provision A.2.1 as explained under the
paragraph “Chairman and Chief Executive Officer” below.

The Company is committed to enhancing its corporate
governance practices appropriate to the conduct and the growth
of its business and to reviewing such practices from time to
time to ensure that they comply with statutory and professional
standards and align with the latest development.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Board has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the Group’s code
of conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions.

Specific enquiry has been made by the Company with all
directors and the directors have confirmed that they have
complied with the Model Code throughout the year ended 31
December 2021.

The Company has also established written guidelines (the
“Employees Written Guidelines”) on no less exacting terms than
the Model Code for securities transactions by employees who
are likely to be in possession of unpublished inside information
of the Company. No incident of non-compliance of the Employees
Written Guidelines by the employees was noted by the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2021.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Responsibilities

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and
control of the Company; and is collectively responsible for
directing and supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads
and provides direction to management by laying down strategies
and overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group's
operational and financial performance, and ensures that sound
internal control and risk management systems are in place.

All directors, including the non-executive directors and the
independent non-executive directors, have brought a wide
spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge and
professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective
functioning. Through active participation in Board meetings,
taking the lead in managing issues involving potential conflict
of interest and serving on Board committees, all non-executive
directors (including the independent non-executive directors)
make various contributions to the effective direction of the
Company.

The independent non-executive directors are responsible for
ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company
and providing a balance in the Board for bringing effective
independent judgement on corporate actions and operations.

All directors carry out duties in good faith, in compliance with
applicable laws and regulations, and in the interests of the
Company and the shareholders at all times.

The directors shall disclose to the Company details of other
offices held by them.

Board composition
The Board currently comprises eight members, consisting of

four non-executive directors, one executive director and three
independent non-executive directors.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
EEERRE @)

During the year ended 31 December 2021 and up to the date of
this Annual Report, the Board comprises the following directors:

Non-executive directors

Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu (Chairman]
Mr. Qin Peng

Mr. Zhang Ping

Mr. Gu Peiji (alias Philip Gu)

Executive directors
Mr. Yan Zhiyuan [Chief Executive Officer]
Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben
Mr. Cheng Shoutai
Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway

The list of directors (by category) is also disclosed in all
corporate communications issued by the Company pursuant
to the Listing Rules from time to time. The independent
non-executive directors are expressly identified in all corporate
communications pursuant to the Listing Rules.

The biographical information of the directors including
relationships among the members of the Board are set out in
the section headed “Directors and Management Biographies” of
this Annual Report.

To the best knowledge of the Company, there is no other
financial, business or family relationship among the members of
the Board.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER (“CEO”)

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles
of chairman and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. The division
of responsibilities between the chairman and CEO should be
clearly established and set out in writing.

The positions of Chairman and CEO of the Company are held by
Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu and Mr. Yan Zhiyuan respectively.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

The Chairman provides leadership and is responsible for the
effective functioning and leadership of the Board. The CEO
focuses on the Company’'s business development and daily
management and operations generally. The Board considers
that the responsibilities of the Chairman and CEO respectively
are clear and distinctive and hence written terms thereof are
not necessary.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Board at all
times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to
the appointment of at least three independent non-executive
directors representing one-third of the Board with one of whom
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise.

Each independent non-executive director has entered into an
appointment letter with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 15 November 2013 and the service contract
shall continue unless and until terminated by not less than three
months’ notice in writing served by either party to another.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each of the independent non-executive directors in respect of his
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines
set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all independent non-executive directors are independent.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code stipulates that
non-executive directors shall be appointed for a specific term,
subject to re-election, whereas code provision A.4.2 of the
CG Code states that all directors appointed to fill a casual
vacancy shall be subject to election by shareholders at the first
general meeting after appointment and that every director,
including those appointed for a specific term, shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Each of the non-executive directors of the Company is appointed
for a specific term of three years and is subject to retirement by
rotation once every three years.

INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT OF DIRECTORS

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and
changes in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and
to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant.
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Every newly appointed director will receive formal,
comprehensive and tailored induction on the first occasion of
his/her appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of
the business and operations of the Company and full awareness
of director’s responsibilities and obligations under the Listing
Rules and relevant statutory requirements. Such induction
includes visits to the Company’s key plant sites and meetings
with senior management of the Company.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. Internally-facilitated briefings for
directors would be arranged and reading materials on relevant
topics would be provided to directors where appropriate. All
directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at
the Company’s expenses.

The record of continuous professional development relating
to director’s duties and regulatory and business development
that have been received by the directors for the year ended 31
December 2021 and up to date of this report are summarized as
follows:

BUHFEZINETHNEERERER
BEXIA - 2EBRAEEANEEFTEMR
AR ERM AEREEEHEMBEARQF
EBREE URAIRBE EHHRA KX
HEAZEBKRKTEZTEAAENEERER -
ERANEANBRERARANTIERE
BHWRERRRNSREEEEH -

EER2EAENREZERER URE
WEHREMBERE REENBERT
EERELHERANBETNERS X
EZHEEITENMEMN - A2BZBE
BEZHFHEBEIRE EABAQA
A e

REBZ22021F12ANBILFEFEREBEEARFR
B ESEEEEHESTBHEUALEE
BOREBRERENFETEERCHEM A
N

Type of Training Nete

Directors = 1% F Bl
Non-executive directors FHITES
Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu & B ok & A/B/C
Mr. Qin Peng =S A& A/B
Mr. Zhang Ping ok ¥k A& A/B
Mr. Gu Peiji (alias Philip Gu) B8 1% & (X & Philip Gu) %t &£ A/B
Executive directors ITES
Mr. Yan Zhiyuan BEEkE A/B
Independent non-executive directors BIFHTES
Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben BEEEE A/B
Mr. Cheng Shoutai BFAREE A/B
Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway FEEEE A/B
Note: B &
Types of Training 3R Rl

A: Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings, seminars,
conferences and workshops

B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and relevant

publications

C: Giving talks at seminars and/or conferences and/or forums
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board reserves for its decision of all major matters of
the Company, including approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and
risk management systems, material transactions (in particular
to those that may involve conflict of interest), financial
information, appointment of directors and other significant
financial and operational matters.

The daily management, administration and operation of
The

delegated functions and responsibilities are periodically

the Company are delegated to the senior management.
reviewed.
All directors have full and timely access to all the information

seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the

of the Company and may, upon request,

Company’s expenses for discharging their duties to the
Company.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs. All Board committees of the Company are established
with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly
with their authority and duties. The terms of reference of the
Board committees are posted on the websites of the Company
(www.yashili.hk] and the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk]
and are available to shareholders upon request.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee of the Company was established on 8
October 2010 with revised written terms of reference (adopted
on 26 August 2015) in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing
Rules

As at 31 December 2021, the Audit Committee consists of three
members including two independent non-executive directors,
namely Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway (Chairman) and Mr. Mok Wai
Bun Ben and one non-executive director, namely Mr. Zhang
Ping with Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway possessing the appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.
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The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no
less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The
main duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board in
reviewing the financial information and reporting process, risk
management and internal control systems, effectiveness of
the internal audit function, scope of audit and appointment of
external auditors, and arrangements to enable employees of
the Company to raise concerns about possible improprieties
in financial reporting, internal control or other matters of the
Company, and providing advice and comments to the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Audit Committee
held three meetings and reviewed the Group’s interim and
annual financial results and interim and annual reports,
significant issues on the financial reporting, operational and
compliance controls, the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems and internal audit function,
appointment of external auditors and relevant scope of works,
connected transactions and arrangements for employees
to raise concerns about possible improprieties. The Audit
Committee has been provided with sufficient resources to
discharge its duties.

The Audit Committee also met the external auditors three times
without the presence of executive director.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee of the Company was established
on 8 October 2010. As at 31 December 2021, the Remuneration
Committee consists of five members including three
independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Mok Wai
Bun Ben (Chairman), Mr. Cheng Shoutai and Mr. Lee Kong Wai
Conway and two non-executive directors, namely Mr. Jeffrey,
Minfang Lu and Mr. Qin Peng.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
of no less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code.
Its main duties are to evaluate and make recommendation to
the Board on the overall remuneration policy and structure
relating to all directors and senior management of the Group,
including making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive directors and
senior management, and establishing transparent procedures
for developing such remuneration policy and structure to ensure
that no director or any of his/her associates will participate in
deciding his/her own remuneration.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

The Remuneration Committee has reviewed the remuneration
policy and structure of the Company, and the remuneration
packages as well as the annual bonuses of the executive
directors and the senior management during the year ended 31
December 2021.

The Remuneration Committee held two meetings during the
year ended 31 December 2021.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee of the Company was established
on 8 October 2010. As at 31 December 2021, the Nomination
Committee consists of three members including one
non-executive director namely Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu
(Chairman), and two independent non-executive directors,
namely Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben and Mr. Cheng Shoutai.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of
no less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The
principal duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the Board composition, developing and formulating relevant
procedures for the nomination and appointment of directors,
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment
and succession planning of directors, and assessing the
independence of independent non-executive directors.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects as set out in the
Company’s Board Diversity Policy, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge and industry and regional
experience, etc. The Nomination Committee would discuss and
agree on measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the
Board, where necessary, and recommend them to the Board for
adoption.

During the year ended 31 December 2021 and up to the date
of this annual report, the Nomination Committee reviewed
the structure, size and composition of the Board and the
independence of independent non-executive directors and to
consider the qualifications for the retiring directors standing for
election at the annual general meeting held on 2 June 2021. The
Nomination Committee considered an appropriate balance of
diversity perspectives of the Board is maintained.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year
ended 31 December 2021.
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BOARD PROCEEDINGS
Board practices and conduct of meetings

Annual meeting schedules and draft agenda of each meeting
are normally made available to the directors in advance. Notice
of regular Board meetings is served to all the directors at least
14 days before the meeting. For other Board and committee
meetings, reasonable notice is generally given.

Board papers together with relevant information are sent to
all directors at least 3 days before each Board meeting or
committee meeting to keep directors apprised of the latest
development and financial position of the Company and to enable
them to make decisions. The Board and each director also have
separate and independent access to the senior management
where necessary.

The senior management normally will attend regular Board
meetings and where necessary, other Board and committee
meetings, to advise on business development, financial and
accounting matters, statutory and regulatory compliance,
corporate governance and other major aspects of the Company.

The Company’s memorandum and articles of association contain
provisions requiring directors to abstain from voting and not
to be counted in the quorum at the meetings for approving
transactions in which such directors or any of their associates
have a material interest.

The secretary of the meetings is responsible for taking and
keeping minutes of all Board meetings and committee meetings.
Draft minutes are normally circulated to directors for comment
within a reasonable time after each meeting and final version
are open for director’s inspection.
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Attendance records of directors

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

The attendance records of each director at the Board, Board

committee meetings and the general meetings of the Company
held during the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out below:

EEERRS @)

ERHEEROKS

ZREELREARAIRE E£2021F12A8318 1t
FERTEZCCH EFTLECTCH
FlRRERASHNEHESHNOT:

Number of Attendance in Person/Number of Meeting(s)

CELT 98 VA-£ V8 |
Annual  Extraordinary
Audit  Remuneration Nomination General General
Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting'" Meetings'?
Bx BR
Name of director ESps EZe EQZEe HMZEE REZEE RBEREN  HHKgw
Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu BRMEL 4k = 22 i 11 22
Mr. Qin Peng mErE 4k = 22 = 11 22
Mr. Zhang Ping iR i 4fh 33 - - 11 22
Mr. Gu Peiji (alias Philip Gu) B E (X &Philip 6u) £ £ 4k = = = 11 22
Mr. Yan Zhiyuan BHEfE 4k - - - 11 22
Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben BERtE ift 33 202 1 1 202
Mr. Cheng Shoutai BIALE 4k = 22 11 11 22
Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway FEEEE 44 33 22 - N 22

Notes: Pt &F -

(1) The annual general meeting of the Company was held on 2 June 2021.

(2) The extraordinary general meetings of the Company were held on 30

November 2021.

Apart from regular Board meetings, an independent
non-executive directors’ meeting was also held without the

presence of other directors on 24 March 2021.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR

MANAGEMENT

The Company has established a formal and transparent
procedure for formulating policies on remuneration of directors

and senior management of the Group.

(1) RRABRRBEFARNENR2021F6H2B 817

(2) ANAB B EEFR RS R2021F11A308 81T
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The annual remuneration of the members of the senior
management (other than directors] by bands for the year ended
31 December 2021 is set out below:

HE2021F 128318 I-FE » L BN 28 5 2
PHEREEBREB(EERINFFOT

Number of

individuals

AE
Nil to RMB1,000,000 = %= A R #1,000,0007C 1
RMB3,000,001 to RMB4,000,000 A R #3,000,0017C & A R #4,000,0007C 1
Total 5 2

Details of the remuneration of each of the directors for the
year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in note 9 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Details of the remuneration of the five highest paid individuals
of the Group are set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial
statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in
the code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Board had
reviewed the Company’'s corporate governance policies and
practices, training and continuous professional development of
directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
the compliance of the Model Code and Employee Written
Guidelines, and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in this corporate governance report.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy on 14 December
2018 which sets out the Company’s approach on the diversity of
the Board of the Company.

The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board level as
an essential element in maintaining the Company’s competitive
advantage.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

The Company believes that greater diversity of directors is good
for corporate governance and is committed:

e To attract and retain candidate(s) for Board with a
combination of competencies from the widest possible pool
of available talent.

e To maintain a Board with diversity perspectives at all levels,
in particular, those are aligning with the Company’s strategy
and objectives.

e To assess regularly the diversity profile of the Board and,
where applicable, senior management prepared for Board
positions under the succession planning of the Company and
the progress on achieving diversity objectives, if any.

e To ensure that the selection and nomination of Board
positions are appropriately structured so that a diverse
range of candidates can be considered.

e To set up appropriate procedures for development of a
broader and more diverse pool of skilled and experienced
senior management that would be prepared for Board
positions.

e To ensure that changes to the Board's composition can be
managed without undue disruption.

The Nomination Committee will review annually the structure,
size and composition of the Board and where appropriate, make
recommendations on changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy.

In reviewing and assessing the Board composition and the
nomination of directors (as applicable], Board diversity has to be
considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited
to the following:

e Gender

e Age

e (Cultural and educational background

e Professional qualifications

e Skills, knowledge and industry and regional experience
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The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of
diversity perspectives of the Board that are relevant to the
Company’s business growth.

The Nomination Committee will discuss and where necessary,
agree on the measurable objectives for achieving diversity on
the Board and make recommendation to the Board.

The Board may adopt and/or amend from time to time (as
applicable) such diversity perspectives and/or measurable
objectives that are appropriate to the Company’s business and
Board succession planning, as applicable.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board diversity policy
as appropriate and recommend revisions, if any, to the Board for
consideration and approval.

DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has adopted a Director Nomination Policy on 14
December 2018 which sets out the criteria and process in the
nomination and appointment of directors of the Company. The
policy aims to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
Company as well as the Board continuity and appropriate
leadership at Board level.

Criteria for nomination and appointment of directors

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the
following criteria should be considered:

e Character and integrity.

e Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the
Board Diversity Policy that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy.

e Any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on
the Board.

e Requirement for the Board to have independent directors in
accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the candidate
would be considered independent with reference to the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.
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Any potential contributions the candidate can bring to
the Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity.

Willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge
duties as a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s)
of the Company.

Such other perspectives that are appropriate to the
Company’s business and succession plan and where
applicable, may be adopted and/or amended by the Board
and/or the Nomination Committee from time to time for
nomination of directors and succession planning.

Nomination process

(a) Appointment of new director

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should,
upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of new
director and the biographical information (or relevant
details) of the candidate, evaluate such candidate based
on the criteria as set out above to determine whether
such candidate is qualified for directorship.

(ii) If the process yields one or more desirable candidates,
the Nomination Committee and/or the Board should rank
them by order of preference based on the needs of the
Company and reference check of each candidate (where
applicable).

(iiiJThe Nomination Committee should then recommend
to the Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for
directorship, where applicable.

(ivIFor any person that is nominated by a shareholder for
election as a director at the general meeting of the
Company, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as
set out above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship.

Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the
Board should make recommendation to shareholders in
respect of the proposed election of director at the general
meeting.
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(b) Re-election of director at General Meeting b RABERAELERES
(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should i) REZEER HEFTSEBTR
review the overall contribution and service to the FEZSHARARANEBER KRS -
Company of the retiring director and the level of UEEEEEN2EEERKR -

participation and performance on the Board.

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should (I REBZEER, / REFTSNERF
also review and determine whether the retiring director LTERIESFERMARTE L
continues to meet the criteria as set out above. A o

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should then iR Z8ek RESSHEELER

make recommendation to shareholders in respect of the RERREAELEEESHREAR
proposed re-election of director at the general meeting. REHHEEER -
Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect or HWEEEHRNRRRGLIEZARE
re-elect a candidate as director at the general meeting, RETXEBREGREARES  f&
the relevant information of the candidate will be disclosed BANBRERNESRETHAUR
in the circular to shareholders and/or explanatory HBAHEERER REBEHNEBEK
statement accompanying the notice of the relevant RAEBENHBREBE K HFH
general meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules B BN AR BE o

and/or applicable laws and regulations.

The Nomination Committee will conduct regular review on the REZZECHTHRITESSHERB A
structure, size and composition of the Board and this Policyand ZHRAEAXUNKEARK T HEBEBEFAERS
where appropriate, make recommendation on changes to the ZARAAMTCERBEEBTRMBEHEE
Board to complement the Company’'s corporate strategy and EE{EHEFTHNEH -

business needs.

DIVIDEND POLICY BB BUR

The Board adopted a Dividend Policy on 14 December 2018 which ZEE 2 2 R2018F 128148 WAL B K &
sets out the principles and guidelines that the Company intends EHFHAAQXRH TR KN kD Kk & 48
to apply in relation to the declaration, payment or distribution of  F{E /& AKX R AR H X 8 #t /E Aoy B & 5
its net profits as dividends to the shareholders of the Company. gl o

A summary of the dividend policy is set out below: REBEREFHINAT

1. In recommending or declaring dividends, the Company shall 1. REFZXERBKEHR KRR EHEFE

maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting its working RS REE UWENEEEET K-
capital requirements and future growth as well as its REERUARHEKREEE -

shareholder value.

2. The Company intends to distribute part of the annual net 2. S THEHREZFTR » ARQ A #HIKE

profits of the Group or other special dividend amount AEENHBOFEAANNRKESTSHED
approved by the Board as dividends to its shareholders, HiFERESBERGE TARAMKREK
subject to the conditions and factors as set out below. No FIAR S o B AT BL MR A E AR B EE I o

specific dividend proportion has been currently adopted.
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. The Board has the discretion to declare and distribute

dividends to the shareholders of the Company, subject to the
Articles of Association of the Company and all applicable
laws and regulations and the factors set out below.

. The Board shall also take into account the following factors
of the Group when considering the declaration and payment
of dividends:

financial results;

e cash flow situation;

e business conditions and strategies;

e future operations and earnings;

e capital requirements and expenditure plans;

e interests of shareholders;

e any restrictions on payment of dividends; and

e any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.
Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and
the Group and the conditions and factors as set out above,
the following dividends may be proposed and/or declared by
the Board for a financial year or period:

e interim dividend;

e final dividend;

e special dividend; and

e any distribution of net profits that the Board may deem
appropriate.

. Any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to
shareholders’ approval.

The Company may declare and pay dividends by way of
cash or scrip or by other means that the Board considers
appropriate.

. Any dividend unclaimed shall be forfeited and shall revert to
the Company in accordance with the Company’s Articles of
Association.
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The Board will review the dividend policy as appropriate from
time to time.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ responsibilities for financial reporting in
respect of financial statements

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2021.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports,
announcements relating to disclosure of insider information and
other disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other
statutory and regulatory requirements.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation
and information as are necessary to enable the Board to
carry out an informed assessment of the Company’s financial
statements, which are put to the Board for approval.

The Board is not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report of this
Annual Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk
management and internal control systems, and that it has the
responsibility to review their effectiveness on an ongoing basis.
Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance that there will
be no material misstatement or loss.
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The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks (including but
not limited to business, operation as well as environmental,
social and governance ("ESG”) risks) it is willing to take
in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives,
establishing and maintaining appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems. The Board is the
highest decision-making authority for overall corporate risk
management,
following risk management duties.

and

and is mainly responsible for performing the

A risk management committee composed of a member of the
Board and the department heads of the Group was established
pursuant to the guidelines of the Listing Rules. By establishing
a comprehensive risk management organizational system,
the Group carried out risk management effectively,
decision-making,
management responsibilities, formed a scientific and effective
system with division of duties and set up three lines of defense

clarified

execution, supervision and other risk

for risk management. The first line of defense consisted of sales
management divisions, factories and bidding and procurement
directly in charge of each of risk management; the second line
of defense comprised the risk and internal control management
functional and support divisions and the risk
management division in charge of the overall planning and

committee,

supervising of risk management; and the third line of defense
was composed of the Audit Committee, the internal audit
division and the discipline inspection office in charge of verifying

risk management.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the
management and overseeing their design, implementation and
monitoring of the risk management (including ESG related
risks) and internal control systems. The Audit Committee
is the supervisory and evaluation office of risk and internal
control management, which guides and supervises the Group
in carrying out risk management. The risk and internal control
management committee, being a committee established under
the Audit Committee, is the highest coordination and business
affairs office for risk management. The committee is composed
of the first level officials in charge of various divisions, and
chaired by the chief executive officer of the Group. The risk
management division is directly under the risk management
and audit divisions of the Group, reporting to the head of
the risk management and audit divisions. As the centralized
management department of the Group’s risk management, the
risk management division is responsible for the Company’s
day-to-day arrangement, coordination, supervision, analysis and
reporting of risk management.
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The risk management division has developed a "Risk
Management Workflow”, which divides the workflow into
five major sections, namely (I) risk identification, (1) risk
assessment, (Ill) risk response, (IV) risk monitoring and (V]
risk management reporting, and clarifies and unifies the
workflow trend of risk management as well as the roles and
functions of relevant departments, implementation steps and
so on. To regulate the system and set out unified management
requirements for workflow execution, the department has
specifically set out the work requirements for each section in
the workflow as follows:

(1) Risk identification

Risk identification is the first step and the basis for risk
management. It refers to the process of analysing and
discovering, by the staff in each business area and at each
level of the Company, the potential factors that may impact
on the achievement of business objectives. The Group may
take the initiative to select appropriate, effective ways to
cope with and handle risks only if it is able to identify its own
risks comprehensively and correctly.

The Group’s risk identification is carried out in two main
lines. The first one is a routine check on risk identification
arranged and initiated by the risk management division once
a year, and the second one is a temporary risk identification
initiated by each of the affairs divisions and factories in line
with the management needs. The job requirements for risk
identification are as follows:

(1) Time of risk identification: the Group will initiate routine
risk identification for the coming year in the fourth
quarter of each year. The risk management division will
issue the relevant notice and collect internal and external
information (such as changes in China’s relevant policies
or industry regulatory requirements, the Company’s
strategic and operational objectives for the current period
as well as major findings on the risk management and
internal audit supervision for the previous year] for the
preparation of annual risk alerts;
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Scope of risk identification: there are inherent risks in
conducting any business activities. Each of the affairs
divisions, functional divisions and factories are required
to organize risk identification on a unified basis according
to the required dates of starting and ending the risk
identification as notified by the risk management division.
Management staff and risk counterpart staff at each
level are the main organizers of risk identification and
are required to boost the risk management awareness
among all staff internally and to comprehensively identify
various internal and external risks which impact on the
achievement of objectives;

Areas of risk identification: in commencing a risk
identification process, each affairs division, functional
division and factory are required to sort out and collect
risks comprehensively and systematically in line with
the Group’s risk management framework which consists
of seven dimensional areas including strategy, market,
finance, operations, law and compliance, quality and food
safety as well as sustainable development, taking into
account the factors that impact on the achievement of the
Company’s business objectives;

Principle of risk identification: it is necessary to follow
the three basic principles including comprehensiveness,
systematicness and continuity;

Method of risk identification: employing the risk
identification methods commonly used by enterprises
as well as a variety of ways and methods to collect a
wide range of risks associated with the Group’s business
areas;

Summarizing and submitting findings on risk
identification: risk counterpart staff of each affairs
division, functional division and factory are required to
describe each risk identified strictly in accordance with
the Company’'s common risk language and compile a
list of risks identified at the affairs division/functional
division/factory level which, after being verified and
confirmed by the affairs division, functional division
and factory manager, shall be submitted by the risk
counterpart staff of affairs division, functional division
and factory to the risk management division of the Group;
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(7) Organization of risk seminars: specifically for the findings
on risk identification submitted by each affairs division,
functional division and factory, the risk management
division is required to sort out the differences regarding
the unclearly defined leading role in risk management
and incomplete description of risks;

(8

Establishment and improvement of the risk database: the
risk management division is required to establish and
improve the risk database of the Group as an essential
basis for risk management based on the findings on
risk identification submitted by each affairs division,
functional division and factory annually;

(9

Other requirements: in addition to the routine risk
identification carried out by the Group each year, each of
affairs divisions, functional divisions and factories are
required to carry out temporary risk identification in line
with their own internal actual situations. The workflow
and methods shall be carried out with reference to the
above criteria.

(Il) Risk assessment

Risk assessment refers to the risk assessment conducted
on the basis of the possibility of occurrence and the degree
of impact of a risk. In particular, possibility refers to the
probability of occurrence of a risk, and the degree of impact
means the degree of impact of the occurrence of a risk
created on the target. The scope of impact covers daily
operations, laws and regulations, financial loss, food hygiene
and safety, environmental protection, corporate reputation
and so on. By comparing various risks, the significant risks
are arranged, and the priority to manage these risks in
chronological order and the strategies to cope with them are
determined initially. The specific job requirements include:

(1) the cycle of a risk assessment (conduct regularly once a
year);

(2) to carry out a risk assessment at different levels;
(3) to assess and identify significant risks at different levels;
(4) to build up a team of risk assessment experts;

(5) to set risk score weight across affairs divisions/functional
divisions/factories.
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(I Risk response

Risk response refers to the strategies and plans determined
by each level of the management for responding to risks in
line with the Company’s own conditions and the external
environment, with a focus on the management intent
determined in the Company’s development strategy upon
assessment of the relevant risks. Risk response shall take
into account the growth objectives and the balance between
risk and opportunity, and focus on emphasized management
of and response to significant risks at each level. The specific
workflow includes:

(1) to determine the main unit in charge of the Group's
significant risks (including ESG related risks);

(2) to make preparations for responding to and notifying of
risk;

(3) to develop strategies for analysing and responding to
risks;

(4) to execute and modify measures for responding to risks.

(IVIRisk monitoring

Risk monitoring is a mechanism or method used by the
management to understand and determine whether risk
management is functioning continuously and effectively
under the changing internal and external environment. It is
a continuous process aimed at evaluating the effectiveness
of risk control, detecting control deficiencies and making
improvement in a timely manner. The specific work
requirements are as follows:

(1) Division of duties in risk monitoring: significant risks
(including ESG related risks) at Group level are monitored
by the risk management division throughout the process.
The risk management division conducts random
checks while significant risks of functional division/
affairs division/factory level are monitored by the risk
counterpart staff of the functional divisions/affairs
divisions/factories throughout the process;

(2

Frequency of risk monitoring: significant risks at Group
level are monitored quarterly, while significant risks
(including ESG related risks) at functional division/affairs
division/factory level are monitored quarterly or monthly
by the functional divisions/affairs divisions/factories on a
selective basis;
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(3) Particulars of risk monitoring: risk monitoring covers
the implementation and effectiveness of strategies for
responding to significant risks at each level as well as the
monitoring and early warning of significant risk events
and related risk information within the industry.

(V) Risk management reporting

Risk management reporting includes the report submitted
to the superior risk management division annually as well as
the information and communication details generated in each
part of the process of carrying out risk management. The
specific requirements for risk management reporting are as
follows:

(1) Risk management reporting to the Audit Committee:
report at least once a year, as required by the Audit

Committee;

(2

Reporting to the risk and internal control committee:
report at least twice a year, as required by the risk and
internal control committee;

(3

Other risk management forms and reports: while the
risk management system and workflow (refers to risk
identification, assessment, response and monitoring)
are being carried out, the functional divisions/affairs
divisions/factories shall, as required by the risk
management division, submit all kinds of process
management form and information report in a timely
and quality manner to ensure that the Group’s risk
management information is communicated and reported
smoothly.

As part of the drive to improve the internal control systems
and pursuant to the direction of the Stock Exchange in the
news release published on 27 September 2019, the Company
appointed an independent international accounting firm on 25
October 2019, as the Company’s internal control consultant
(the “Internal Control Consultant”] to conduct a thorough
review (the “"Review”) of and make recommendations
to improve the Company’s internal controls to ensure
compliance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Review
was completed on 27 November 2019, and the report of the
Review has been issued by the Internal Control Consultant
and submitted to the Stock Exchange on the same date.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Procedures implemented by the Internal Control Consultant
as part of the Review include:

(i) conducting interviews with the relevant management
personnel and staff of the Company, and conducting site
review of the relevant documents relating to internal
control at the same time;

(ii) conducting walk through testing on relevant internal
control processes and systems;

(iii)conducting sample testing on relevant internal controls to
determine whether the internal controls of the Company
are consistent with the requirements of the management
and the relevant policies and procedures handbook;

(ivibased on the results of procedures [ii] and (iii] above,
identifying deficiencies of internal controls of the
Company and making appropriate recommendations to
improve them.

The Internal Control Consultant identified findings and made
recommendations to the Company on the issues regarding
the Internal Rules on Connected Transactions currently in
effect, procedure for identification of connected persons,
independent review of the list of the connected persons
and written rules in relation to price enquiry procedures in
connected transactions in supply transactions.

All the recommendations of the Internal Control Consultant
as set out in the report of the Review have been implemented
by the Company and a follow-up review (the “Follow-up
Review”) on the Company’'s internal controls by the
Internal Control Consultant was completed on 23 January
2020. Report of the Follow-up Review has been issued by
the Internal Control Consultant on 23 January 2020 and
submitted to the Stock Exchange on 24 January 2020.

Procedures implemented by the Internal Control Consultant
as part of the Follow-up Review include:

(i) conducting follow-up review of the rectification measures
implemented by the Company;

(ii) discussing the procedures of the rectification measures
with the relevant management personnel and staff of the
Company; and
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(iii)conducting walk through testing on the rectified internal
control processes and systems.

Having considered the findings and results of the Follow-up
Review, the Board concurs with the Internal Control
Consultant’s view and are of the view that the Group’s
internal controls to ensure compliance with Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules are sufficient to meet the obligations under
the Listing Rules. For further details of the internal control
reviews, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 8 November 2019, 11 December 2019 and 7 February
2020.

The management has confirmed to the Board and the Audit
Committee on the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems for the year ended 31 December
2021.

At the board meeting held on 30 March 2022, the Board, as
supported by the Audit Committee as well as the internal
audit findings, reviewed the risk management and internal
control systems, including the financial, operational and
compliance controls, for the year ended 31 December 2021,
and considered that such systems are effective and adequate.
The annual review also covered the financial reporting and
internal audit function and staff qualifications, experiences
and relevant resources.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which
provides a general guide to the Company’s directors,
officers, senior management and relevant employees in
handling confidential information, monitoring information
disclosure and responding to enquiries.

Control procedures have been implemented to ensure that
unauthorized access and use of inside information are
strictly prohibited.

MANAGEMENT OF CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

To ensure compliance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules,
the Company has implemented the “Rules for Management of
Connected Transactions” ((FEX 5 E B E)) with effect
from 20 January 2020, with emphasis on the following areas:

e Maintenance of the list of connected persons and connected
transactions;

e Procedure for identifying connected transactions other than
those with members of the Mengniu Group and Danone;
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

e Procedure for aggregating connected transactions and
managing the aggregated transaction amount; and

e Monitoring mechanism for the annual caps of continuing
connected transactions.

Procedures for identifying connected transactions are as
follows:

(I) The first control gate — Business Unit

All business units of the Company shall act as the first
gatekeeper and maintain a high degree of sensitivity and
alertness to connected transactions.

(1) When negotiating any business contract, it is necessary
to take the initiative to check with the other party of the
contract whether it is a connected person of the Company
and conduct research and verification on the list of
connected persons;

(2) When signing any business contract, it is necessary to
add an option for declaration of connection to the contract
with reference to the “Supplementary Rules on Contract
Management” (& [@ & & #i 7© # £) ). Currently, the
option for declaration of connection is mainly targeted at
the Company’s substantial shareholders, Mengniu Group
and Danone Group;

(3

Contracts confirmed as connected transactions must be
countersigned to the Compliance Department in the OA
system;

(4) The pricing of connected transaction contracts strictly
follows the principles of fairness and impartiality;

(5) The term of the connected transaction contracts shall not
exceed three years; and

(6) It is forbidden to make connected transactions first and
then to enter into contracts or backdate the connected
transaction contracts.

ERER®RSE (B
c MEZHHAHENRDREETER
Bk

s BEMBEXZFE LRMEIEHG -

BRBEXZNEFNT

(- B—ERHIRO — M

KRR SEBIMEEEETE—ER -
REHBEIISNSERBRMEZ T -

MKHATMEHAR BEAEHRAE
RNEBTOTERERELRETERA
NRAIHAEALT YHEAHBEALE
BETERRERE:

(2

RAEAEBEARE  BE2E(A
REEmMmERE)EARRTMARRE
BHER BEZRERAMEE
HHARBATERRRFTEBARE

REEE:

(3) ﬁEE%F@LX%E’J/\ BIEOA R &t
A RE:
LHEERXRZARTEBRREBEAFA

ERA:

BlHEXZFARMRIBEB=F K

[6]*”¢F%L B RBEERBER &
LtEEXSERAMEE -

BITAEERERERAE
20214 R

75



76

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
EEERRE @)

(Il The second control gate — Legal Department

(1) To supervise the review of any draft business contract
initiated by the business unit and check whether the
contract text includes the option for declaration of
connection. If there is no option for declaration of
connection, the draft contract will be returned to the
business unit.

(2

If the connection is declared as “the contracted party
is a connected company”, the business unit must be
reminded and requested to countersign the contracts to
the Compliance Department in the OA system.

(I The third control gate — OA system

The Compliance Department ensures that the latest list
of connected persons is imported into the OA system back
office. When the business unit initiates a contract review
at the “contract process” in the OA system, the OA system
will automatically search for and match the “contract
counterpart” with the back-office list. If the “contract
counterpart” is recognized as a connected person, the
system will forcibly add the Compliance Department to the
signing approval flow.

(IV) The fourth control gate — Seal Management
Department

(1) If any business contract is found to lack the option for
declaration of connection, the contract shall not be
stamped;

(2) If the connection is declared as “the contracting party
is a connected company”, but the contract process of
the OA system is not countersigned to the Compliance
Department, the contract shall not be stamped.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS AND AUDITORS’
REMUNERATION

The statement of the external auditors of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities for the financial statements are
set out in the section headed “Independent Auditors’ Report” of
this Annual Report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the remuneration
paid/payable to the Company’s auditors, Ernst & Young, Certified
Public Accountants, is set out below:

EEERRS @)

HE2021F12A31B L EE - ARFEN
JENARNA ALk 2t B EI5 AT (R %
IR A EFBME DT

Fee paid/payable

Category of services BR % %8 Bl B EHER
RMB'000

ARET T

Audit services EZ R 2,840
Non-audit services JETEZRTE =
Other assurance services H b $% 3B AR 75 273
Total et 3,113

COMPANY SECRETARY ARAWE

Mr. Kwok Wai Cheong, Chris is the company secretary of the
Company. Mr. Kwok is the financial controller and company
secretary of China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 2319) ("Mengniu Dairy”) (the holding company of the
Company), a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Kwok is not an employee
of the Company. Mr. Kwok contacts the management of the
Company and reports to the chairman of the Board and/or the
chief executive officer of the Company through Mr. Eric Fang
of Strategic Development Department, when necessary in
accordance with the code provisions set out in the CG Code in
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules. Mr. Kwok has confirmed that
he has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
trainings during the year ended 31 December 2021.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The Company also recognizes the importance
of transparency and timely disclosure of corporate information,
which will enable shareholders and investors to make the best
investment decisions.
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The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue
with shareholders and in particular, through annual general
meetings and other general meetings. The general meetings
of the Company provide a platform for communication between
the Board and the shareholders. The Chairman of the Board as
well as chairmen of the Nomination Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Audit Committee or, in their absence, other
members of the respective committees, are available to answer
shareholders’ questions at general meetings. A notice to
shareholders is sent by the Company at least 20 clear business
days before the annual general meeting and at least 10 clear
business days in all other general meetings.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company has
not made any changes to its Memorandum and Articles of
Association. The Company’'s Memorandum and Articles of
Association is available on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains
a website (www.yashili.hk], where up-to-date information and
updates on the Company’s financial information, corporate
governance practices, biographical information of the Board and
other information are available for public access.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company engages with shareholders through various
communication channels and a Shareholders” Communication
Policy is in place to ensure that shareholders’ views and
concerns are appropriately addressed. The policy is regularly
reviewed to ensure its effectiveness.

To safeqguard shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate
resolution is proposed for each separate substantial issue at
general meetings, including the election of individual directors.
All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted
on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will
be posted on the websites of the Company and of the Stock
Exchange after each general meeting.

The procedures for shareholders of the Company to propose a
person for election as a director are available on the Company’s
website (www.yashili.hk].
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE AN
EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING AND PUTTING
FORWARD PROPOSAL AT GENERAL MEETING

Article 58 of the Company’s Articles of Association provides that
any one or more members of the Company holding at the date
of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to the Board or the company secretary of
the Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held
within 2 months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21
days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s] himself (themselves) may do so in
the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

PUTTING FORWARD ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, shareholders
may send written enquiries to the Company. The Company will
not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

CONTACT DETAILS

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as
mentioned above to the Company:

Address: Room A, 32nd Floor
COFCO Tower, 262 Gloucester Road
Causeway Bay
Hong Kong

Telephone: +852 2845 1230

Fax: +852 2845 1231

Email: irdyashili.cn

Contact person: Mr. Eric Fang

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholders must deposit and send
the original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement,
or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide
their full name, contact details and identification in order to give
effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as
required by law.
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DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT BIOGRAPHIES

EREREHEEBRERE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu

Aged 53, was appointed as the Chairman of the Board, the
Chairman of the Nomination Committee of the Board and a
member of the Remuneration Committee of the Board, and was
redesignated as a non-executive director of the Company on 15
September 2016. Mr. Lu was a director for each of the following
subsidiaries of the Company, namely Yashili International
Ltd., Yashili International Group Limited, Newou Hong Kong
International Co., Limited and Mengya International Group
Limited (formerly known as Scient International Group Limited)
from 27 April 2015 to 9 January 2017. Mr. Lu is currently an
executive director and the CEQ of Mengniu Dairy (a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code:
2319], a non-executive director and the chairman of the board of
China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1117), a non-executive
director and the chairman of the board of China Shengmu
Organic Milk Limited. (a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 1432], as well as a non-independent
director and the chairman of the board of Shanghai Milkground
Food Tech Co,. Ltd. [a company listed on the Shanghai stock
exchange, stock code: 600882). Mr. Lu is also a director of
International Dairy Federation. Mr. Lu was the Vice President
(Greater China) of Danone Early Life Nutrition Greater China
and had been with the Danone Group and Dumex Baby Food Co.,
Ltd. for over 10 years. During the tenure at the Danone Group,
he demonstrated strong strategic business and market planning
capabilities. With strong leadership, management skills and
in-depth knowledge of markets, Mr. Lu contributed significantly
to the success of the Danone Group’s baby nutrition business in
China. Prior to joining the Danone Group, Mr. Lu spent 9 years
with Johnson & Johnson (China) Company Limited and almost
4 years with General Electric Company (China). Mr. Lu has over
18 years of experience in sales and marketing and has been
served in general manager or senior management roles for over
12 years. He has extensive experience in the management of
fast-moving consumer products and dairy companies and has
an excellent understanding and the in-depth knowledge of the
PRC market. Mr. Lu obtained his bachelor degree from Shanghai
Fudan University.
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DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT BIOGRAPHIES (CONTINUED)

Mr. Qin Peng

Aged 66, was appointed as a non-executive director of the
Company and a member of the Remuneration Committee on
27 April 2015 and 5 June 2015 respectively. Mr. Qin has been
appointed as the Chairman of China division of the Danone
Group since 2007, and has deep knowledge and understanding
of international and Chinese business and culture. Mr. Qin joined
the Danone Group in 1983. Mr. Qin was appointed as the vice
president of the China Operation division of the Danone Group
from 1997 to 2006 and as the vice president of the Corporate
Development division of the Danone Group in Asia Pacific from
1995 to 1996. Mr. Qin served as the general manager of Amoy
Foods Limited in Hong Kong from 1991 to 1994 and as the
general manager of Guangzhou Danone Yogurt Company Limited
from 1988 to 1990. Mr. Qin was engaged in Danone’s marketing
and sales operations in France when he joined the Danone
Group and has stationed in Asia since 1988. Mr. Qin graduated
from the Rene Descartes University with a Bachelor degree
and from the Paris Institute of Political Sciences with a Master
degree.
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Mr. Zhang Ping

Aged 57, was appointed as a non-executive director of the
Company and a member of the Audit Committee on 27 April
2015. Mr. Zhang was appointed as the authorized representative
of the Company on 16 March 2018. He has been also a director of
Yashili International Group Limited, a subsidiary of the Company,
since 27 April 2015. Mr. Zhang joined the Mengniu Group in
2014 and is currently an executive director, vice president and
the chief financial officer of China Mengniu Dairy Company
Limited. He has over 31 years of experience in the industry of
fast-moving consumer goods, specializing in the management
of operation, finance and audit as well as risk control. Mr.
Zhang successively worked as the manager of internal audit and
system development, finance director in Swire Beverages Co.,
Ltd., general manager of its bottler manufacturing company
and chief executive officer in Coca-Cola Bottler Manufacturing
Holdings Limited. Mr. Zhang graduated from Beijing Information
Science and Technology University with a Master degree in
management engineering. Mr. Zhang has been a non-executive
director of China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1117]
since 22 March 2016, a non-executive director of China Shengmu
Organic Milk Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1432) since 25 August 2020, a
non-independent director of Shanghai Milkground Food Tech
Co,. Ltd. (@ company listed on the Shanghai stock exchange,
stock code: 600882 since 27 September 2021 and an executive
director of China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code:
2319]) since 1 December 2021.

Mr. Gu Peiji (alias Philip Gu)

Aged 68, was appointed as a non-executive director of the
Company on 29 April 2019. Mr. Gu received his Master of Laws
degree from the East China Institute of Politics and Law (now
known as East China University of Political Science and Law]
in 1988 and had been teaching in the same institute from 1988
to 1991. Mr. Gu had been a practicing lawyer in Shanghai No.
7 Law Firm (the firm has changed its name to Shanghai Bund
Law Firm) for ten years since 1989. Mr. Gu joined Danone Group
in 1999, and is currently the general manager of Danone Asia
Pacific (Shanghai) Management Co., Ltd and the chairman of the
board of Danone (China) Food & Beverage Co., Ltd. In the past,
Mr. Gu has also held various positions within Danone Group,
including the General Counsel for Danone China.
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DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT BIOGRAPHIES (CONTINUED)

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Yan Zhiyuan

Aged 39, was appointed as an executive director, Chief Executive
Officer and authorized representative of the Company on 8
January 2020. Mr. Yan has also been a director for each of
the following subsidiaries of the Company, namely Yashili
International Ltd., Yashili International Group Limited, Newou
Hong Kong International Co., Limited and Mengya International
Group Limited (formerly known as Scient International Group
Limited) since 8 January 2020. Mr. Yan has seventeen years
of working experience in Mengniu Dairy (together with its
“Mengniu Group”),
extensive sales and management experience in the dairy
products industry. Mr. Yan was formerly the assistant vice
president of Mengniu Dairy, and had also been the general
manager of the sales management center of Mengniu Group’'s
room temperature product business division since January 2017,

subsidiaries, the and has accumulated

leading the room temperature sales team to achieve continuous
high growth in sales revenue and market share. During his
term of office, Mr. Yan was also in charge of Xinjiang Mengniu
Dairy Company Limited (#7188 X 4% % B R 2 7]) (the "Xinjiang
Company”], which runs an operation with integrated production
and sales of room temperature, low temperature and frozen
products. With his outstanding ability to manage the entire
business chain, the performance of Xinjiang Company recorded
steady growth and achieved continuous growth in profits in last
three years. Prior to this, Mr. Yan held different management
positions within the Mengniu Group, including general manager
of Mengniu Arla (Inner Mongolia) Dairy Products Co., Ltd. (A
SHEFMuIARRBEREMT QA (milk powder segment)
in Central/East China region and general manager of Mengniu
Henan region. Mr. Yan obtained an Executive Master of Business
Administration degree from the University of Texas at Arlington,
and is currently pursuing a Doctorate degree in Business
Administration at the City University of Hong Kong.
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DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT BIOGRAPHIES (CONTINUED])

EEREEEEBE(R

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben

Aged 73, was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company, the Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee, and a member of each of the Nomination Committee
and the Audit Committee on 15 November 2013. Mr. Mok has
been appointed as an independent non-executive director of
China Foods Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 506) since 29 August 2017. Mr. Mok
served as a senior consultant for COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages
Limited in 2012. Mr. Mok had served as a general manager of
Beijing Coca-Cola Beverage Co., Ltd. from 2002 to 2011. From
1993 to 2001, he was a general manager of Hangzhou BC Foods
Company Limited and Nanjing BC Foods Company Limited. Mr.
Mok also served as the general manager of Swire Beverages
Limited responsible for overseeing bottling plant of Swire
Beverages Limited in China. Mr. Mok was awarded a Bachelor
degree of Economics from McGill University, Canada in 1975.

Mr. Cheng Shoutai

Aged 55, was appointed as an independent non-executive director
of the Company, and a member of each of the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee on 15 November
2013. Mr. Cheng is a practicing lawyer of the People’s Republic of
China, the chief partner of Tahota Law Firm, a law firm based in
China. Mr. Cheng also serves as the vice president of the All China
Lawyers Association (2 2 B &A1 ), an arbitrator of the
China International Economic and Trade Arbitration Commission
(CIETAC) (FEIEIR&EE S Z &= MH &), the president of
Sichuan Province Lawyers Association (P8I & 2% & € &) and
a legal advisor of the People’'s Government of Sichuan Province.
Mr. Cheng holds a Doctorate’s degree in civil and commercial
law from Southwestern University of Finance and Economics. Mr.
Cheng is honored with the titles of "Model Worker in the Judicial
Administration System in Countrywide (2 Bl Rl A 1T L R 45 &
E) L #1)", National Outstanding Lawyer, Chambers Asia Pacific
Asia’s Leading Lawyer for Business [#% 1A &7 28 K i [& £ H 7 7%
£2EM), China Top Ten Influential Lawyers of Asia Legal Business
(ALB) (22 M ’% % %) and LEGALBAND “China Top Lawyers of
2020"(LEGALBAND “2020% /& 1 B J& 4 {2 Al ") and was one of
the Fangyuan Top Ten Elite Lawyers of the Year as well as the
First Session of Top Ten Outstanding Lawyers Graduated from
Southwest University of Political Science and Law.
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DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT BIOGRAPHIES (CONTINUED)

Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway

Aged 67, was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company, the chairman of the Audit Committee
and a member of the Remuneration Committee on 27
November 2013. Mr. Lee has over 30 years of experience in
public accounting and auditing, corporate finance, merger and
acquisition and initial public offerings. Mr. Lee served at Ernst
& Young from September 1980 to September 2009. Mr. Lee was
a partner of Ernst & Young and held key leadership positions in
the business development of Ernst & Young in China. Mr. Lee is
a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales, the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia
and New Zealand, the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Macau Society of Certified Practising
Accountants respectively. From 2007 to 2017, Mr. Lee was a
member of Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
of Hunan Province.

Mr. Lee is an independent non-executive director of Chaowei
Power Holdings Limited (stock code: 951), China Modern Dairy
Holdings Ltd.(stock code: 1117), GCL New Energy Holdings
Limited (stock code:451), GOME Retail Holdings Limited (stock
code: 493), NVC Lighting Holding Limited (stock code: 2222),
West China Cement Limited (stock code: 2233), WH Group
Limited (stock code: 288) and Guotai Junan Securities Co., Ltd.
(stock code: 2611] (the above companies are all listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange). From July 2014 to December
2020, Mr. Lee served as an independent non-executive director
of China Rundong Auto Group Limited (a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1365).
From March 2011 to February 2020, Mr. Lee also served as an
independent non-executive director of Tibet Water Resources
Ltd. (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 1115). From July 2014 to September 2015, Mr. Lee
also served as a non-executive director of China Environmental
Technology and Bioenergy Holdings Limited (a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1237). From
November 2011 to May 2016, Mr. Lee was also an independent
non-executive director of CITIC Securities Company Limited
(a company listed on the Stock Exchange [stock code: 6030) as
well as the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600030)).
Mr. Lee was an independent non-executive director of China
Taiping Insurance Holdings Company Limited (a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 966)
from October 2009 to August 2013. Mr. Lee was an independent
non-executive director of Sino Vanadium Inc. (a company which
was delisted on the TSX Venture Exchange in December 2011,
stock code: SVX] from September 2009 to December 2011.

Mr. Lee graduated from Kingston University (formerly known as
Kingston Polytechnic) in London with a Bachelor degree in Arts
in July 1980 and further obtained his postgraduate diploma in
business from Curtin University of Technology in Australia in
February 1988.
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DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT BIOGRAPHIES (CONTINUED])

EEREEEEBE(R

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Ms. Chen Limin

Aged 42, has over 20 years of work experience in accounting
and financial management. Prior to her appointment as the CFO,
Ms. Chen served as Senior Director at the finance management
department of Mengniu Group. Ms. Chen joined the Mengniu
Group in May 2003 and had held various positions at the Mengniu
Group. Ms. Chen has a Master of Business Administration
degree from Inner Mongolia University of Finance and
Economics. Ms. Chen is a member of the Chinese Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.

Mr. Kwok Wai Cheong, Chris

Aged 49, was appointed as the company secretary of the
Company on 10 April 2019. He is also the financial controller
and company secretary of Mengniu Dairy. Prior to joining
the Mengniu Group in May 2007, Mr. Kwok was the financial
controller of a Hong Kong listed company and had also served
in an international accounting firm. Mr. Kwok graduated from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a Bachelor degree in
accountancy. Mr. Kwok is a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) have pleasure in
presenting their report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

A review of the business of the Group and a discussion and
analysis of the Group’s performance during the year under
review and a discussion on the Group’'s future business
development and outlook of the Company’s business, possible
risks and uncertainties that the Group may be facing and
important events affecting the Company occurred during the
year ended 31 December 2021 are provided in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages
13 to 49 of this Annual Report. An account of the Company’s
relationships with its key stakeholders is included in the
paragraphs headed “Emolument Policy”, “Retirement Benefits
Schemes” and “Major Customers and Suppliers” of this Report
of the Directors.

An analysis of the Group’'s performance during the year ended
31 December 2021 using financial performance indicators is
provided in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 13 to 49 of this Annual Report.

In addition, more details regarding the Group’s performance
by reference to environmental and social related policies, as
well as compliance with relevant laws and regulations which
have a significant impact on the Company will be provided in
the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” which
will be published on the websites of the Stock Exchange
(www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company (www.yashili.hk] and a
printed copy of the same will be despatched to the shareholders
of the Company upon request.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EETERE@

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out
in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements. There were
no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal
activities during the year under review.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The profit/loss of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2021 and the state of the Company’s and the Group’s affairs as
at that date are set out in the consolidated financial statements
on pages 130 to 258 of this Annual Report.

FINAL DIVIDENDS

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: nil).

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The annual general meeting of the Company will be held on
Wednesday, 8 June 2022. Notice of the annual general meeting
and all other relevant documents will be published and
despatched to the shareholders of the Company in due course.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group during the
year under review are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2021, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Law,
Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised] of the
Cayman Islands was RMBO million.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Donations made by the Group during the year under review
amounted to approximately RMB1.93 million.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group held
property, plant and equipment of approximately RMB1,538.72
million. Movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in note
13 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EETERE@

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31
December 2021 and during the period from the end of the year
of 2021 to the date of this Report of the Directors were:

Non-executive directors:

Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu (Chairman]
Mr. Qin Peng

Mr. Zhang Ping

Mr. Gu Peiji (alias Philip Gu)

Executive director:
Mr. Yan Zhiyuan [Chief Executive Officer]
Independent non-executive directors:

Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben
Mr. Cheng Shoutai
Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway

In accordance with Article 84 of the Article of Association of the
Company, Mr. Zhang Ping, Mr. Qin Peng and Mr. Cheng Shoutai
shall retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting by
rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The Company has received annual confirmations of
independence from each of the existing independent
non-executive directors in accordance with Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all of the
independent non-executive directors are independent in
accordance with the Listing Rules.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management
are set out on pages 80 to 86 of this Annual Report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed below, there was no transaction, arrangement
or contract of significance to which the Company, its holding
company or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which
a director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisting during or at the end of the year
ended 31 December 2021.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the non-executive directors and independent
non-executive directors in the Board has entered into a service
contract with the Company for an initial fixed term of three years
which will continue thereafter unless otherwise terminated in
accordance with the terms of the service contract, including by
not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either
party to the other. No Director proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has an unexpired service
contract which is not determinable by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, every
Director shall be entitled to be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from
and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they or any of them, their or any of their heirs,
executors or administrators, shall or may incur or sustain by or
by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about
the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective
offices or trusts.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’
liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the
Group throughout the year.

ESTERE@E

EEREREEEEE

EENEAEEENBEEFBH N AT R
$F80E8LE °

EERRZ  ZHHENER

BTN XTI EEIN B ZE2021F12 8318 1
FEARZEER - BEARE HER
ARAKETA T AR ATHAMITMAR
REZEESHMEREEARIMNEAR
5 RHIENNATE -

EERBEL

EFeRUTESRBYUNRTESE
BARARFIRBELD  NTEEHRB
=F O BRIFEBRBRBAAONGR(BEL
A—HTRAZ-—HTELAIPR=ZEANER
BA)TURBITRIE BRARBEEOERZ
HREREBLEX -BERERNEERRASF
RELBREECMNEFEARASEMTH
FRRABATAR —FATERECETE
BERINBAELENERERRE S -

EEFRERX

BREARANAEAZERMAMR  SEFHA
ARFIBREFEMN A BERXRELM
—AREEA - BEBATANEEEEA
AHTRESEBRBAIANBERER
BESFEREMEL  BERFELDIOLZHEE
HHERTHM A S AEAERIREN
rBEHRB KA BT -BRE BEER
NEBUARRAMNEE M G MNELORE
REMEIEE -

ARBIRAFERRAMEREFRAR
BERTHRABRRHEENEZTRRRMT
BABEEFRRS -

BITAEERERERAE
20214 R

91



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EETERE@

DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2021, the Directors and the chief executives
of the Company had the following interests or short positions in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) ("SFO”)), which have been notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Division 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO, including interests and short positions which
the Directors and the chief executives of the Company are taken
and deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO, or which
are required to be and are recorded in the register required to
be kept under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code contained in the Listing Rules:

Directors’ interests in the shares of the Company:

EERBEESTHRAERKS - 1HE
BROREZNEZER AR

R2021F12A31H  ARBEERFETH
ABRARBREEEEZE(EEREEE
BIESTECEFRBEKRI(ZHRBE
B EXVED) MR - HERDRESHF
BEREBEESRBEKRAIEXVIEETRES
DHEMEARARB MBI ERK AR (B
BREERARAZTETRAEBEREBEESK
HEGKMIZEEXHEERR BEROE
ERARB)VRBLERBEESERBERK
BIE3SMFEFHRENETCMOESS AR -
FRE TRV EETASITNEAR
NAEIRBRFTMERIABWNT

50 A A IR 1 B e HE 2%

Approximate
percentage of

Number of the issued share
Name of director Capacity/Nature of interest ordinary shares capital?
EEITRAEAN
EEpA B EEMtE EERHAE BABD
Mr. Yan Zhiyuan Beneficial owner 15,657,370(L)! 0.33%
BERTE ERlEAA
Notes: Bt 5 -

1 Grant of 18,342,100 phantom shares by the Company to Mr. Yan Zhiyuan, in
which 2,684,730 phantom shares were realized, pursuant to the phantom
share incentive scheme adopted by the Company on 15 July 2020. The
phantom share incentive scheme does not involve the grant of options over
new shares or other new securities that may be issued by the Company (or
any of its subsidiaries). The recipients of phantom shares do not own any

shares, nor enjoy voting rights or allotment rights of the shares.

2 The total issued Shares as at 31 December 2021 was 4,745,560,296.

(L) The interestis held in long position.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Directors’ interests in the shares of Mengniu Dairy (being a
holding company of the Company and an associated corporation
of the Company):

ESTERE@E

BEEZREFIAE(RDA R QR K& AE B
EE) B R

Approximate
percentage of

Number of the issued share

Name of director Capacity/Nature of interest ordinary shares capital

EBRTRANH

Exps B HEatE EBER#E WED

Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu Beneficial owner 11,651,240(L) 0.30%
B WL EnEAA

Mr. Zhang Ping Beneficial owner 1,992,613(L) 0.05%
5 %k A& EnEAA

Mr. Yan Zhiyuan Beneficial owner 82,255(L) 0.00%
BEELE ERlEAA

Note: Bt 3 -

(L) Allthe shares are held in long position.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none of the
Directors or chief executives of the Company had or was deemed
to have any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFQOJ, which
had been recorded in the register maintained by the Company
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or which had been notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code contained in the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, at no time was the Company, its holding
company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements
to enable the Directors and chief executives of the Company
(including their spouse and children under 18 years of age) to
hold any interest or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFQ).

L) FERGHANFERE -

Br EXXER#EEH SN - R2021F12A31H + &
ER AR RS TBRAEMEREAAR K
EEBEZE(TEZRBLHFRBEKDEXY
I EEARMDKESFTER KR
EHRBRERARRREEFK B EEKD
EIREMTFEECMOERIAE B
BEETMRAAMBFEEFANSARAR
X ERERIORE °

B EXFEEES NI AR -
B AR 2 F) S EE T DR B AT S AE
ZH RREFRAAARSTHAER R
ERENEBRERSEDT L) REAT
SEEBEEGER RBER =S
XV 2B) &0 B 19 3% 46 B AR 49 o {8 % R 5 A F
CEEET TR
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EETERE@

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company adopted a pre-lPO share option scheme (the
“Pre-lP0O Share Option Scheme”) on 8 October 2010, and
adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”)
on 8 October 2010. Details of the Share Option Scheme are as
follows:

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme for the
purpose of motivating eligible participants to optimize their
future contributions to the Group and/or reward them for
their past contributions, attracting and retaining or otherwise
maintaining on-going relationships with such eligible
participants who are significant to and/or whose contributions
are or will be beneficial to the performance, growth or success
of the Group.

The maximum number of the ordinary shares of the Company
(the “Shares”) which may be issued upon exercise of all options
to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other
schemes of the Group shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
Shares in issue as at 1 November 2010 (the “Listing Date”), that
is, 350,000,000 Shares, which represented approximately 7.38%
of the Company’s shares in issue as at the date of this report.
No option may be granted to any participant of the Share Option
Scheme such that the total number of Shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted and to be granted to
that person in any 12-month period up to the date of the latest
grant exceeds 1% of the Company’s issued share capital from
time to time.
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An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as determined
by the Board and not exceeding 10 years from the date of the
grant. There is no minimum period for which an option must
be held before it can be exercised. Participants of the Share
Option Scheme are required to pay the Company HK$1.00 upon
acceptance of the grant on or before the 28 days after the
offer date. The exercise price of the options is determined by
the Board in its absolute discretion and shall not be less than
whichever is the highest of:

(a) the nominal value of a Share;

(b) the closing price of a Share as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheets on the offer date; and

(c) the average closing price of a Share as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the offer date.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period of 10 years from the Listing Date, after which no further
options will be granted or offered.

On 23 July 2013, China Mengniu International Company Limited
(“Mengniu International”) made a voluntary general offer to
option holders of the Company (“Option Offer”), to cancel the
outstanding options granted under the Pre-lPO Share Option
Scheme and the Share Option Scheme. Please refer to the
composite offer and response document issued by the Company,
Mengniu Dairy and Mengniu International relating to, among
other things, the Option Offer dated 23 July 2013 for further
details.

On 13 August 2013 (being the final closing date of the Option
Offer], the Option Offer was accepted in respect of 52,088,266
options. The underlying options together with all the rights
attached thereto were cancelled and given up and all the
outstanding options automatically lapsed upon acceptance of the
Option Offer.

The Share Option Scheme expired on 1 November 2020, after
which no further option was granted or offered. As at 1 January
2021 and 31 December 2021, there was no outstanding option
granted by the Company.

ESTERE@E
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EETERE@

PHANTOM SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME

To motivate the employees to maximize the value of and share
the results with the Company in order to achieve sustainable
development of the Group, the Company adopted the Phantom
Share Incentive Scheme (the "Phantom Share Incentive
Scheme”] on 15 July 2020 for certain key management team,
middle and senior management personnel and key personnel
who have a material impact on the operating performance
and sustainable development of the Company (the “Incentive
Recipients”).

Phantom Share Incentive Scheme does not involve the grant of
options over new shares or other new securities that may be
issued by the Company (or any of its subsidiaries) and therefore,
it does not fall within the ambit of, and is not subject to, the
requirements under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

Phantom Share Incentive Scheme shall be valid for a period of
10 years commencing from the effective date of the Scheme
(the “Effective Period”). The Board could terminate the Scheme
before the expiry of the Effective Period if the Board considers
it necessary. The total number of Phantom Shares to be granted
under the Effective Period shall not exceed 474,556,029 Shares.
The Incentive Recipients do not own any shares, nor enjoy voting
rights or allotment rights of the shares. Phantom Shares cannot
be transferred or used as security or for repayment of debts.

On 15 July 2020, the Board approved the initial grant of
59,660,700 Phantom Shares under the Phantom Share Incentive
Scheme.

On 15 July 2021, the Board approved the grant of 62,619,900
Phantom Shares under the Phantom Share Incentive Scheme.

For further details of the Phantom Share Incentive Scheme and
the grant of Phantom Shares on 15 July 2020 and 15 July 2021,
please refer to the announcements issued by the Company on 16
July 2020 and 15 July 2021.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed, no equity-linked agreements were entered
into by the Group, or existed during the year.

ARRANGEMENT FOR DIRECTORS TO PURCHASE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed, at no time during the year were rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company granted to any Director or their
respective spouses or minor children, or were such rights
exercised by them, or was the Company, its holding company
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable
the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debt securities (including debentures) of the
Company or any other body corporate.

ESTERE@E
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EETERE@

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING

SHARES

FTERRRROREBER D OEDS
5978 )

So far as is known to the Director or chief executives of the BMARREZESFSHETEZTHRABEHRH R
Company, as at 31 December 2021, the persons or corporations 2021F 128310 * ®A AR K EAHH = E &
(other than Directors or chief executives of the Company) who RO EBBBEOPHEEREZFRBEK
had interest or short positions in the shares and underlying fHIZEXVEBFE2RID HBHIE X AR E T AR
shares of the Company or its associated corporation(s) which AR EZE AR @ KBL AREFEF K H
were required to be disclosed to the Company under the B F36KHEETEFENECLMAMD
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which #HmIABHA T EB (WIEAXRAES
were recorded in the register required to be kept under section HEFEITHRAB)WT:

336 of the SFO were as follows:

Approximate

Number of percentage of

Name Capacity/Nature of interest ordinary shares* shareholding®

1 IR RE

=x 2% 331 EZERHAE BABD LS

Mengniu Dairy! Interests in a controlled corporation 2,422,150,437 51.04%
BT XA B ) R

Mengniu International’ Beneficial owner 2,422,150,437 51.04%

S4B ExnEAA

Danone SA? Interests in a controlled corporation 1,186,390,074 25.00%
# B SA? AR HEE R =

Danone Baby and Medical Interests in a controlled corporation 1,186,390,074 25.00%

Nutrition BV?

PR B ) R A

Nutricia International BV? Interests in a controlled corporation 1,186,390,074 25.00%
R HDEE R R =

Danone Asia? Beneficial owner 1,186,390,074 25.00%

ZEae BN EmEAA
Vanguard International Interests in a controlled corporation 303,462,119 6.39%
Investment Co., Ltd?3

EEHDEE R =

Zhang Yangui® Interests in a controlled corporation 303,462,119 6.39%
ok JfE A3 AR HEE ) R =

Zhang International Beneficial owner 303,462,119 6.39%

Investment Ltd?3

REXBERKREBR RGNS

EmEAA
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Notes:

1 As at 31 December 2021, Mengniu Dairy held 99.95% interest in Mengniu

International and Mengniu International directly held the relevant Shares.

2 As at 31 December 2021, Danone SA held 100% interest in Danone Baby
and Medical Nutrition BV. Danone Baby and Medical Nutrition BV held 100%
interest in Nutricia International BV. Nutricia International BV held 100%

interest in Danone Asia and Danone Asia directly held the relevant shares.

3 As at 31 December 2021, Zhang International Investment Ltd. was held as to
35.06% by Vanguard International Investment Co., Ltd, which is in turn wholly
owned by Mr. Zhang Yangui.

4 All the shares are held in long position.

5 The total issued Shares of the Company as at 31 December 2021 was
4,745,560,296.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, the Directors
are not aware of any other person or corporation having an
interest or short position in shares and underlying shares of the
Company or its associated corporation(s) which would require to
be recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company'’s listed securities during the year ended 31 December
2021.

ESTERE@E

B 3

1 R22NFNANB EHAERFREEFEE®
99.95% #m  MEFEREERAABARKRMD -

2 F2021%12A31H - E B2 SAF 5 Danone Baby and
Medical Nutrition BV #100% # % ° Danone Baby
and Medical Nutrition BV#¥ A& Nutricia International
BVH)100% ## = ° Nutricia International BV# & &
BETMAII00% =S  MEERETIMNEERAEREER

3

3 20214 12A31H ' Vanguard International
Investment Co., Ltd#F ARKBEBEKREFR QA
35.06% % % - ifi Vanguard International Investment
Co., LtdBIARERE L2 EHES -

L FAEBRDBNERFEER -

5 R2021F12A3B - ARBEETRHBEEAR
4,745,560,296f% °
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EETERE@

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

REAL

Connected persons

()l RAAX - AEERSF - AERERF

(a) Mengniu Dairy, Inner Mongolia Mengniu, Inner Mongolia

Mengniu Cheese Co., Ltd. (“Mengniu Cheese”) and Burra
Foods Pty Ltd (“Burra Foods”)

Mengniu International, a subsidiary of Mengniu Dairy, holds
51.04% of the shares of the Company and is a substantial
shareholder of the Company. Therefore, Mengniu Dairy is
a connected person of the Company. As Inner Mongolia
Mengniu is a subsidiary of Mengniu Dairy, Inner Mongolia
Mengniu is a connected person of the Company. Mengniu
Cheese is a subsidiary of Inner Mongolia Mengniu and
a connected person of the Company. Burra Foods is a
subsidiary of Mengniu Dairy and therefore a connected
person of the Company.

(b) Danone Trading, Danone Asia Pacific Holdings Pte. Ltd.

(“DAPH”), Danone Nutricia NZ Ltd (“Nutricia NZ”), Shanghai
Nutri Go Food Co. Ltd. (“Shanghai Nutri Go”) and DanTrade
B.V. (“DanTrade”)

Danone Asia, a subsidiary of Danone SA, has a 25.0%
shareholding interest in the Company. Therefore, Danone SA
is a connected person of the Company. As each of Danone
Trading, DAPH, Nutricia NZ, Shanghai Nutri Go and DanTrade
is an indirect subsidiary of Danone SA and a member of the
Danone Group, each of Danone Trading, DAPH, Nutricia NZ,
Shanghai Nutri Go and DanTrade is a connected person of the
Company.
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(b) Danone Trading * Danone Asia Pacific
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EEEREE
Connected transactions REXH
1. Equipment Purchase Agreement 1. RERBHS
On 26 August 2021, Oushi Mengniu (Inner Mongolia) Dairy 2021F8H26H  ARR 2 EFRAINE
Products Co., Ltd. (“Oushi Mengniu”), a wholly-owned TERtERFIHNAEREET A (EKHE
subsidiary of the Company, entered into an equipment R DHERFNBITCREEERZ (&
purchase agreement (the “Equipment Purchase Agreement”) BEERBHSZ) Bt BERFREEK
with Mengniu Cheese, pursuant to which Oushi Mengniu BEME4IBRAEEES TRE  ZF
agreed to purchase, and Mengniu Cheese agreed to sell, REERBORARKLIBET °
certain equipment for a total consideration of approximately
RMB4.06 million.
The Directors are of the view that the Equipment Purchase EERR REAEBEHBEREBETH
Agreement and the transaction contemplated thereunder ET2RGIBEARBERELEBHAS -

.

would enable the Company to expand its business portfolio,
diversify production lines and generate more revenue.

Ny
S

FEEMBREZTIKELBEELEES K

E\

HEFEABRERERIE 101
20214 R



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

gﬁiﬁ (lnﬁ)

Continuing connected transactions

1.

Trademark Licensing Agreement

On 25 September 2015, as one of the conditions precedent
to the completion of the equity transfer agreement in
relation to the entire equity interests in Oushi Mengniu,
Yashili International Group Ltd. (“Yashili (Guangdong]”],
Oushi Mengniu and Inner Mongolia Mengniu entered into a
trademark licensing agreement (the “Trademark Licensing
Agreement”) pursuant to which Inner Mongolia Mengniu (as
licensor) agreed to grant Oushi Mengniu, Yashili (Guangdong)
and its affiliates (as licensees) a nontransferable and
non-exclusive right to use and sub-license certain registered
trademarks (the “Trademarks”) of Inner Mongolia Mengniu
in the PRC, which are subject to change by Inner Mongolia
Mengniu from time to time, for a term commencing from the
date of the Trademark Licensing Agreement for a period of
(i) 50 years, or [(ii] the operation period of Oushi Mengniu,
whichever is later. The Trademark Licensing Agreement may
be renewed subject to the negotiations among the parties in
the future. The annual license fee is equal to (a) 3% of the
net sales revenue arising from the sale of the pediatric milk
formula products and milk powder products for adults for
which the Trademarks are used (the “Products”) by Yashili
(Guangdong) and its affiliates during that respective year,
and (b](i) 3% of the net sales revenue arising from the sale of
the Products by Oushi Mengniu during that respective year,
or (i) RMB18.0 million, whichever is higher. The net sales
revenue of Qushi Mengniu shall start to accrue (i) following
the completion of the registration of the capital reduction as
further described in the joint announcement of the Company
and Mengniu Dairy dated 21 September 2015 and the circular
of the Company dated 29 October 2015, or (ii] from January
1, 2016, whichever is earlier. The annual license fee shall be
paid by Oushi Mengniu, Yashili (Guangdong) and its affiliates
within two months after the end of each year. Please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated 25 September 2015
for further details.
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The Directors are of the view that the entering into of the
Trademark Licensing Agreement will benefit the Company
and its Shareholders as a whole in the following respects: (i)
the Company can benefit from the brand of Mengniu Dairy,
the “Mengniu” trademark is highly recognized in the PRC and
the use of the "“Mengniu” trademark would be beneficial to
the sale of the Company’'s adult milk powder products and
maintain the market share of Oushi Mengniu's infant milk
powder; and (ii] through the "Mengniu” trademark license,
the Company could access more support from Mengniu Dairy
in terms of brand resources.

On 22 December 2017, Yashili (Guangdong), Oushi Mengniu
and Inner Mongolia Mengniu entered into a confirmation
letter in relation to the Trademark Licensing Agreement,
pursuant to which the parties agreed that for each of the
years ending 31 December 2017 and 2018:

— no license fee shall be payable by Oushi Mengniu and
Yashili (Guangdong] to Inner Mongolia Mengniu for the
use of the Trademarks under the Trademark Licensing
Agreement provided that the expenses incurred by Oushi
Mengniu and Yashili (Guangdong) (and its affiliates) for
the promotion, marketing, advertising and distribution of
the Products (the “Marketing Expenses”) in any such year
shall not be less than 3% of the revenue from the sales of
the Products to third party customers in such year; and

— in the event that the Marketing Expenses incurred by
Oushi Mengniu and Yashili (Guangdong) (and its affiliates)
in any year are less than 3% of the revenue from the
sales of the Products to third party customers in such
year, Oushi Mengniu and Yashili (Guangdong) shall pay the
shortfall to Inner Mongolia Mengniu within two months
after the end of such year.
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On 12 July 2019, Yashili (Guangdong), Oushi Mengniu and
Inner Mongolia Mengniu entered into a supplemental
confirmation letter (the “Supplemental Confirmation Letter”)
in relation to the Trademark Licensing Agreement, pursuant
to which the parties agreed that for each of the years ending
31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021:

— no license fee shall be payable by Oushi Mengniu and
Yashili (Guangdong] to Inner Mongolia Mengniu for the
use of the Trademarks under the Trademark Licensing
Agreement, provided that the expenses incurred by Oushi
Mengniu and Yashili (Guangdong] (and its affiliates) for
the promotion, marketing, advertising and distribution of
the Products (the “Marketing Expenses”] in any such year
shall not be less than 3% of the revenue from the sales of
the Products to third party customers in such year; and

— in the event that the Marketing Expenses incurred by
Oushi Mengniu and Yashili (Guangdong) (and its affiliates)
in any year are less than 3% of the revenue from the
sales of the Products to third party customers in such
year, Oushi Mengniu and Yashili (Guangdong] shall pay the
shortfall to Inner Mongolia Mengniu within two months
after the end of such year.

The Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors but excluding Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu and Mr.
Zhang Ping]) are of the view that the entering into of the
Supplemental Confirmation Letter will benefit the Company
and its Shareholders as a whole as the arrangements
provided in the Supplemental Confirmation Letter would
support the Company’s promotional and marketing activities
for the Products, which are important components of the
product portfolio of the Company in the future, and thereby
increasing the market share of and sales revenue of the
Company.
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On 9 July 2020, Yashili (Guangdong], Oushi Mengniu and Inner
Mongolia Mengniu entered into a supplemental agreement
to the Trademark Licensing Agreement (the “Supplemental
Agreement”), pursuant to which, among others, (i)
Yashili New Zealand, an affiliate of Yashili (Guangdong])
incorporated in New Zealand, is designated as a licensee
under the Trademark Licensing Agreement, and may use
and sub-license the Trademarks in New Zealand and use
the Trademarks in the manufacturing of the Products in
New Zealand, and such Products may be imported to the
PRC for promotion, advertising, marketing and distribution;
and (ii] the Supplemental Confirmation Letter shall apply
to the Trademark Licensing Agreement as amended by the
Supplemental Agreement.

On 16 August 2021, Yashili (Guangdong), Oushi Mengniu
and Inner Mongolia Mengniu entered into a supplemental
agreement to the Trademark Licensing Agreement (the
“2021 Supplemental Agreement”], pursuant to which, among
others: [(i] certain milk powder products, oatmeal, milk
tablets, solid probiotic beverages and children snacks shall
be added into the definition of Products under the Trademark
Licensing Agreement; [(ii) the licensees shall have the right
to sub-license the Trademarks to their affiliated company,
Mengniu Oushi Nutrition Food Co., Ltd, provided that the
scope, the products and the terms of the sublicense are
consistent with that of the license; (iii] the licensees may
entrust third parties with the processing, manufacturing
and selling of certain licensed products and sub-license
the Trademarks to such third parties subject to the scope
and the terms of the Trademark Licensing Agreement and
the 2021 Supplemental Agreement; (iv] the Supplemental
Confirmation Letter shall apply to the Trademark Licensing
Agreement as amended by the 2021 Supplemental
Agreement; and (v) the 2021 Supplemental Agreement is an
effective supplement to and of the same force and effect as
the Trademark Licensing Agreement.

The Directors are of the view that the Supplemental
Agreement, the 2021 Supplemental Agreement and the
transactions contemplated thereunder would enable the
Group to promote the advertising and distribution of its
products through the Mengniu brand.
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gﬁiﬁ (lnﬁ)

On 22 December 2021, Yashili (Guangdong], Oushi Mengniu
and Inner Mongolia Mengniu entered into a supplemental
agreement in relation to the Confirmation Letter (the “2021
Supplemental Agreement in relation to the Confirmation
Letter”], pursuant to which the parties agreed that for each
of the years ending 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024:

— no license fee shall be payable by Oushi Mengniu and
Yashili (Guangdong] to Inner Mongolia Mengniu for the
use of the Trademarks under the Trademark Licensing
Agreement and any supplemental agreements thereto,
provided that the expenses incurred by Oushi Mengniu
and Yashili (Guangdong) (and its affiliates) for the
promotion, marketing, advertising and distribution of the
Products (the “Marketing Expenses”) in any such year
shall not be less than 3% of the revenue from the sales of
the Products to third party customers in such year; and

— in the event that the Marketing Expenses incurred by
Oushi Mengniu and Yashili (Guangdong) (and its affiliates)
in any year are less than 3% of the revenue from the
sales of the Products to third party customers in such
year, Oushi Mengniu and Yashili (Guangdong] shall pay the
shortfall to Inner Mongolia Mengniu within two months
after the end of such year.

The Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors but excluding Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu and Mr.
Zhang Ping] are of the view that the entering into of the 2021
Supplemental Agreement in relation to the Confirmation
Letter will benefit the Company and its shareholders
as a whole as the arrangements provided in the 2021
Supplemental Agreement in relation to the Confirmation
Letter would support the Company’'s promotional and
marketing activities for the Products, which are important
components of the product portfolio of the Company in the
future, thereby increasing the market share of and sales
revenue of the Company.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, pursuant to the
Supplemental Confirmation Letter, no license fee is payable
by Oushi Mengniu, Yashili (Guangdong] and its affiliates to
Inner Mongolia Mengniu under the Trademark Licensing
Agreement.
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2. Manufacturing and Supply Agreement

On 27 May 2016, Dumex China entered into a manufacturing
and supply agreement (the “Manufacturing and Supplying
Agreement”) with Danone Trading, an indirect subsidiary
of Danone SA, pursuant to which Dumex China agreed
to purchase and Danone Trading agreed to sell certain
products for infant nutrition from time to time during the
term from the completion of acquisition of the entire equity
interest in Dumex China to 31 December 2027. The prices
shall be negotiated each year prior to the start of the year
and shall be calculated based on the cost of the relevant
infant nutrition products supplied plus a markup of 10%
and with reference to the volume forecasts provided by
the Dumex China to Danone Trading. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 27 May 2016 ("May 2016
Announcement”] for further details.

The Directors are of the view that the Manufacturing
and Supply Agreement enables Dumex China to secure a
long-term supply of four tailored nutrition products from the
Danone Group, which would complement the existing product
portfolio of the Group and enhance the bargaining power the
Group in channel distribution.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the value of the
transactions contemplated under the Manufacturing and
Supply Agreement was RMBO, which was less than the cap of
RMB14 million as disclosed in the May 2016 Announcement.

. Service Agreement with Nutricia NZ

On 1 May 2017, Yashili New Zealand, a subsidiary of the
Company, entered into a service agreement (the “Service
Agreement with Nutricia NZ") with Nutricia NZ, pursuant to
which Yashili New Zealand agreed to co-pack and deliver to
Nutricia NZ canned infant formula during the period from 1
May 2017 to 30 June 2018 (being the initial term commencing
from 1 May 2017 to 31 December 2017 extended for six
months according to the Service Agreement with Nutricia
NZ). Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
18 January 2018 for further details.
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On 31 May 2018, Yashili New Zealand and Nutricia NZ agreed
to extend the Service Agreement with Nutricia NZ for another
six months (the “31 May 2018 Extension”). Accordingly, the
Service Agreement with Nutricia NZ shall remain in force
until 31 December 2018. Please refer to the announcement of
the Company dated 31 May 2018 for further details.

On 3 December 2018, Yashili New Zealand and Nutricia NZ
agreed to extend the Service Agreement with Nutricia NZ
for another six months (the “3 December 2018 Extension”).
Accordingly, the Service Agreement with Nutricia NZ shall
remain in force until 30 June 2019. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 3 December 2018 for
further details.

On 31 May 2019, Yashili New Zealand and Nutricia NZ
agreed to further extend the term of the Service Agreement
with Nutricia NZ for another six months (the “31 May 2019
Extension”). Accordingly, the Service Agreement with
Nutricia NZ shall remain in force until 31 December 2019.
Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 31
May 2019 for further details.

On 29 November 2019, Yashili New Zealand and Nutricia NZ
agreed to further extend the term of the Service Agreement
with Nutricia NZ for another six months (the “29 November
2019 Extension”). Accordingly, the Service Agreement
with Nutricia NZ shall remain in force until 30 June 2020.
Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 29
November 2019 for further details.

On 29 May 2020, Yashili New Zealand and Nutricia NZ
agreed to further extend the term of the Service Agreement
with Nutricia NZ for another six months (the “29 May 2020
Extension”). Accordingly, the Service Agreement with
Nutricia NZ shall remain in force until 31 December 2020.
Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 29
May 2020 for further details.

On 4 December 2020, Yashili New Zealand and Nutricia NZ
agreed to further extend the term of the Service Agreement
with Nutricia NZ for another six months (the “4 December
2020 Extension”). Accordingly, the Service Agreement with
Nutricia NZ shall remain in force until 30 June 2021. Please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 4 December
2020 for further details.
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On 31 May 2021, Yashili New Zealand and Nutricia NZ
agreed to further extend the term of the Service Agreement
with Nutricia NZ for another six months (the “31 May 2021
Extension”]. Accordingly, the Service Agreement with
Nutricia NZ shall remain in force until 31 December 2021.
Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 31
May 2021 (“31 May 2021 Announcement”) for further details.

The Directors are of the view that the transactions
contemplated under the Service Agreement with Nutricia NZ,
the 31 May 2018 Extension, the 3 December 2018 Extension,
the 31 May 2019 Extension, the 29 November 2019 Extension,
the 29 May 2020 Extension, the 4 December 2020 Extension
and the 31 May 2021 Extension would enable Yashili New
Zealand to further improve its utilisation rate, thereby
achieving greater synergies between the Group and Danone.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the value of the
transactions contemplated under the Service Agreement with
Nutricia NZ as extended by the 31 May 2021 Extension was
NZ$0, which was less than the annual cap of NZ$6 million as
disclosed in the 31 May 2021Announcement.

. Processing Agreement with Shanghai Nutri Go

On 23 March 2018, Dumex China, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into a processing agreement (the
“2018 Processing Agreement”) with Shanghai Nutri Go
pursuant to which Dumex China agreed to provide processing
services in respect of NutriGo nutrition packs to Shanghai
Nutri Go from time to time from 23 March 2018 to 22 March
2019. Please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 23 March 2018 for further details.

On 4 June 2019, Dumex China entered into a processing
agreement (the “2019 Processing Agreement”) with Shanghai
Nutri Go, pursuant to which Dumex China agreed to provide
processing services in respect of NutriGo nutrition packs to
Shanghai Nutri Go from time to time from 4 June 2019 to 3
June 2020. Please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 4 June 2019 (the “4 June 2019 Announcement”) for
further details.
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On 4 June 2020, Dumex China and Shanghai Nutri Go
entered into a supplemental agreement (the “Supplemental
Agreement”) to (i) extend the term of the 2019 Processing
Agreement to the period from 4 June 2020 to 30 June
2020; and (ii) amend certain terms of the 2019 Processing
Agreement. Save as described above, the transactions
contemplated under the Supplemental Agreement shall
comply with the terms of the 2019 Processing Agreement.
Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 4
June 2020 (the “4 June 2020 Announcement”] for further
details.

On 8 June 2021, Yashili (Guangdong) and Shanghai Nutri Go
entered into a processing agreement (the “2021 Processing
Agreement”), pursuant to which Yashili (Guangdong]
agreed to provide processing services in respect of Nutri
Go nutrition packs to Shanghai Nutri Go from time to
time from 8 June 2021 to 7 June 2022. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 8 June 2021 (the “8
June 2021 Announcement”) for further details.

The Directors are of the view that the transactions
contemplated under the 2018 Processing Agreement, the
2019 Processing Agreement, the Supplemental Agreement
and the 2021 Processing Agreement with Shanghai Nutri Go
would generate revenue for the Group and enable the Group
to explore additional business opportunities in the future.

On 22 November 2021, the Board adjusted upward the annual
cap for the period from 8 June 2021 to 31 December 2021
from RMBO0.5 million to RMB2 million and the annual cap for
the period from 1 January 2022 to 7 June 2022 from RMBO0.5
million to RMB3 million. Please refer to the announcement
of the Company dated 22 November 2021 (the “22 November
2021 Announcement”) for further details.

For the period from 1 January 2021 to 30 June 2021,
the value of the transactions contemplated under the
Supplemental Agreement was RMBO0.6 million, which was
less than the cap of RMB3.5 million for the period from 1
January 2021 to 30 June 2021 as disclosed in the 4 June 2020
Announcement.

For the period from 8 June 2021 to 31 December 2021, the
value of the transactions contemplated under the 2021
Processing Agreement was RMBO0.4 million, which was less
than the cap of RMB2 million for the period from 8 June
2021 to 31 December 2021 as disclosed in the 8 June 2021
Announcement and the 22 November 2021 Announcement.
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5. Framework Agreement with Mengniu Dairy

On 29 June 2018, the Company entered into a Framework
Agreement (the “Framework Agreement with Mengniu
Dairy”) with Mengniu Dairy in relation to (i) purchase of
goods by the Mengniu Group from the Group (“Type | CCT"};
(ii) purchase of goods by the Group from the Mengniu Group
(“Type Il CCT"); (iii] provision of services by the Mengniu
Group to the Group (“Type ILL CCT"); and [iv] provision of
services by the Group to the Mengniu Group (“Type IV CCT").
The Framework Agreement has a term of three years
commencing from the date of the approval of the independent
Shareholders (the “Effective Date”).

The goods under the Type | CCT and Type Il CCT are mainly
raw materials for dairy products, raw materials for food,
food additives (including but not limited to whole milk
powder, skimmed milk powder, white sugar, etc.), auxiliary
materials, packing materials, semi-finished goods and
finished goods. The list of goods may be updated from time
to time according to the business needs of the Group and
the Mengniu Group. The services under the Type ILl CCT
and Type IV CCT are mainly testing services, storage and
leasing services, marketing and sales services, IT services,
labour services, advisory services and management
services. The scope of services may be updated from time
to time according to the business needs of the Group and
the Mengniu Group. The price and terms of the transactions
under the Framework Agreement shall be determined in the
ordinary course of business on normal commercial terms,
negotiated on an arm’s length basis and no less favourable
to the Group than those available to the Group from
independent third parties.

Please refer to (i) the announcement of the Company dated
2 July 2018 in relation to the entering into of the Framework
Agreement with Mengniu Dairy, [ii] the announcement of
the Company dated 31 December 2018 in relation to, among
others, the revision of proposed annual caps of the continuing
connected transactions under the Framework Agreement
with Mengniu Dairy, (iii) the circular of the Company dated
22 February 2019 ("22 February 2019 Circular”) and [iv]
the announcement of the Company dated 12 March 2019 for
further details.
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The Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors (whose views were set out in the letter from
the independent board committee included in the 22
February 2019 Circular)) are of the view that the Framework
Agreement with Mengniu Dairy and the transactions
contemplated thereunder would enable the Group to achieve
greater synergies with the Mengniu Group. In particular, (i)
the purchase of goods and services from the Mengniu Group
will enable the Group to realize stable and quality sourcing
and reduce purchase costs; and [ii) the provision of goods
and services by the Group to the Mengniu Group will diversify
and increase the Group’s income and most importantly
improve the capacity utilization of the Group.

The Framework Agreement with Mengniu Dairy and the
transactions contemplated thereunder were approved
by the independent Shareholders of the Company at the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 12
March 2019. The Framework Agreement with Mengniu Dairy
became effective on 12 March 2019.

On 15 October 2021, the Company entered into a
supplemental agreement (the “Supplemental Agreement”)
with Mengniu Dairy to extend the term of the Framework
Agreement for a period from 12 March 2022 to 31 December
2024 (the "Extension”). The transactions contemplated under
the Framework Agreement (as extended pursuant to the
Supplemental Agreement) will be conducted on the same
pricing and payment terms as provided in the Framework
Agreement as disclosed in the 2018 Announcements and
the 2019 Circular. The Group expected that the Mengniu
Group would increase its purchase amount of the goods
from the Group for the year ending 31 December 2021,
which is Type | CCT under the Framework Agreement. As a
result, the Board adjusted the annual cap in respect of Type
| CCT contemplated under the Framework Agreement for
the year ending 31 December 2021 from RMB350 million to
RMB400 million (the “2021 Annual Cap”). Please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 15 October 2021 and
30 November 2021 and the circular of the Company dated
10 November 2021 (the “10 November 2021 Circular”] for
further details.
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The Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors (whose views were set out in the letter from the
independent board committee included in the 10 November
2021 Circular]) are of the view that the Extension and the
transactions contemplated thereunder would enable the
Group to achieve greater synergies with the Mengniu Group.
In particular, (i) the purchase of goods and services from
the Mengniu Group will enable the Group to realise stable
and quality sourcing and reduce purchase costs; and [ii) the
provision of goods and services by the Group to the Mengniu
Group will diversify and increase the Group’'s income and
most importantly the capacity utilisation of the Group.
The Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors]) are of the view that the revision of 2021 Annual
Cap would enable the Group to further utilise its capacity
and increase the Group’s income.

The revision of 2021 Annual Cap, the Extension, the
Supplemental Agreement and the transactions contemplated
thereunder (including the proposed annual caps) were
approved by the independent Shareholders of the Company
at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on
30 November 2021.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the value of
transactions under the Framework Agreement with Mengniu
Dairy was RMB282.7 million, RMB374.4 million, RMB11.7
million, RMB45.6 million for Type | CCT, Type Il CCT, Type
ILL CCT and Type IV CCT, respectively, which was less than
RMB400 million, RMB610 million, RMB43 million and RMB213
million, respectively, as disclosed in the 22 February 2019
Circular and the 10 November 2021 Circular.

. Supply Agreement with Burra Foods

On 29 March 2019, Newou, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into a supply agreement (the “March 2019
Supply Agreement”] with Burra Foods, pursuant to which
Newou agreed to purchase, and Burra Foods agreed to sell,
base powder products for milk based recipes from time to
time from 29 March 2019 to 31 December 2019. Please refer
to the announcements of the Company dated 29 March 2019
and 29 April 2019 for further details.
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gﬁiﬁ (lnﬁ)

The March 2019 Supply Agreement expired on 31 December
2019. On 17 April 2020, Newou entered into a supply
agreement (the “Supply Agreement with Burra Foods”) with
Burra Foods, pursuant to which Newou agreed to purchase,
and Burra Foods agreed to sell, base powder products from
time to time from 17 April 2020 to 31 March 2021. Please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 17 April
2020 (the “17 April 2020 Announcement”) for further details.

The Directors expect that the transactions contemplated
under the March 2019 Supply Agreement and the Supply
Agreement with Burra Foods would enable Newou to procure
high quality raw materials from a stable source, which would
lay a solid foundation for the Group’s expansion into high end
product categories.

For the period from 17 April 2020 to 31 March 2021, the
value of the transactions contemplated under the Supply
Agreement with Burra Foods was AUDO, which was less than
the cap of AUD10 million as disclosed in the 17 April 2020
Announcement.

Service Contract with Nutricia NZ

On 19 June 2019, Yashili New Zealand, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a service contract
(the “Service Contract with Nutricia NZ") with Nutricia
NZ, pursuant to which Yashili New Zealand and Nutricia
NZ agreed to supply services including but not limited to
consulting service, labor service, management service
and marketing service, to each other from 19 June 2019
to 31 December 2021. Please refer to the announcement
of the Company dated 19 June 2019 (the “19 June 2019
Announcement”] for further details.

The Directors are of the view that the Service Contract with
Nutricia NZ and the transactions contemplated thereunder
would enable Yashili New Zealand to leverage on such
Services provided by Danone, and hence take advantage
of Danone’s industry leading edge with the ultimate aim of
achieving greater synergies between the Group and Danone.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the value of the
transactions contemplated under the Service Contract
with Nutricia NZ was RMB1.3 million, which was less than
the cap of RMB20 million as disclosed in the 19 June 2019
Announcement.
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8. 2020 Supply Agreement with DAPH, Danone Trading,

DanTrade and Their Affiliates

On 19 November 2019, Yashili New Zealand entered into
a supply agreement (the “2020 Supply Agreement”) with
DAPH, Danone Trading, DanTrade and their affiliates (the
“Purchasers under the 2020 Supply Agreement”), pursuant
to which Yashili New Zealand agreed to supply, and the
Purchasers under the 2020 Supply Agreement agreed to
purchase, base powder and dairy ingredients from time
to time. The 2020 Supply Agreement and the transactions
contemplated thereunder are subject to the approval by the
independent Shareholders. If the approval of the 2020 Supply
Agreement by the independent Shareholders is obtained
before 1 January 2020, the 2020 Supply Agreement shall take
effect on 1 January 2020, and shall remain in force until 31
December 2020 unless otherwise agreed by the parties in
writing. If the approval of the 2020 Supply Agreement by the
independent Shareholders is obtained after 1 January 2020,
the 2020 Supply Agreement shall take effect on the date
on which it is approved by the independent Shareholders,
and shall remain in force until 31 December 2020 unless
otherwise agreed by the parties in writing. Please refer to
the announcements of the Company dated 19 November 2019
and 31 December 2019 and circular of the Company dated 12
December 2019 (the “12 December 2019 Circular”) for further
details.

The Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors (whose views were set out in the letter from the
independent board committee included in the 12 December
2019 Circular]) are of the view that the 2020 Supply
Agreement would enable Yashili New Zealand to improve its
utilisation rate, thereby achieving greater synergies between
the Group and Danone.

The 2020 Supply Agreement and the transactions
contemplated thereunder were approved by the independent
Shareholders of the Company at the extraordinary general
meeting of the Company held on 31 December 2019. The 2020
Supply Agreement became effective on 1 January 2020.
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On 13 November 2020, Yashili New Zealand entered into an
agreement with DAPH and DanTrade to extend the term of
the 2020 Supply Agreement for a period of one year from
1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021 and to amend certain
terms of the 2020 Supply Agreement (the “Extension”].
Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 13
November 2020 and 23 December 2020 and the circular of
the Company dated 4 December 2020 (the “4 December 2020
Circular”) for further details.

The Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors (whose views were set out in the letter from the
independent board committee included in the 4 December
2020 Circular]) are of the view that the Extension would
enable Yashili New Zealand to improve its utilisation rate,
thereby achieving greater synergies between the Group and
Danone.

The Extension and the transactions contemplated thereunder
were approved by the independent Shareholders of the
Company at the extraordinary general meeting of the
Company held on 23 December 2020. The Extension became
effective on 1 January 2021.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the value of the
transactions contemplated under the 2020 Supply Agreement
was RMB142.2 million, which was less than the cap of
RMB360 million as disclosed in the 4 December 2020
Circular.

On 17 December 2021, Yashili New Zealand entered into an
agreement (the “Extension No.2") with DAPH to extend the
term of the 2020 Supply Agreement for a period of one year
from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022 and to amend
certain terms of the 2020 Supply Agreement. The annual
cap in respect of the total consideration of the transactions
contemplated under the 2020 Supply Agreement (as extended
pursuant to the Extension No.2) from 1 January 2022 to 31
December 2022 shall be RMB52 million. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 17 December 2021 for
further details.

The Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors) are of the view that the Extension No.2 and the
transactions contemplated thereunder would enable Yashili
New Zealand to improve its utilisation rate, thereby achieving
greater synergies between the Group and Danone.
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9. Accounts Receivables Transfer Framework Agreement with

Mengniu Dairy

On 22 October 2021, the Company entered into an accounts
receivables transfer framework agreement (the “Accounts
Receivables Transfer Framework Agreement”) with Mengniu
Dairy, pursuant to which the Company (on behalf of the Group)
agreed to transfer, and Mengniu Dairy (on behalf of the Mengniu
Group) agreed to accept, the Accounts Receivables from time to
time from the date on which the Accounts Receivables Transfer
Framework Agreement and the transactions contemplated
thereunder is approved by the independent Shareholders until
31 December 2023. Please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 22 October 2021 and 30 November 2021 and
the circular of the Company dated 15 November 2021 (the “15
November 2021 Circular”) for further details.

The Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors (whose views were set out in the letter from the
independent board committee included in the 15 November
2021 Circular]) are of the view that the Accounts Receivables
Transfer Framework Agreement and the transactions
contemplated thereunder will (i) revitalize the Group’s assets;
(ii) reduce its amount of accounts receivables so as to optimize
its asset structure; (iii) allow expedite realisation of the
accounts receivables which will in turn enhance the Group’s
working capital efficiency; and (iv) increase the Group's liquidity
and improve its asset efficiency and financial condition, thereby
optimizing its financial statements.

The Accounts Receivables Transfer Framework Agreement
and the transactions contemplated thereunder (including the
proposed annual caps) were approved by the independent
Shareholders of the Company at the extraordinary general
meeting of the Company held on 30 November 2021. The
Accounts Receivables Transfer Framework Agreement
became effective on 30 November 2021.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the value of the
transactions contemplated under the Accounts Receivables
Transfer Framework Agreement was RMBO million, which
was less than the cap of RMB300 million for the year of 2021
as disclosed in the 15 November 2021 Circular.

The pricing policies set out in the relevant announcements
and circulars (where applicable) of the connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions set out
above have been followed when determining the price and
terms of the transactions conducted during the year.
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Other than the connected transactions and the continuing
connected transactions set out above, in respect of which
the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules have been complied with, no contract
of significance has been entered into between the Company
or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling shareholders
during the year ended 31 December 2021.

The independent non-executive Directors of the Company
have reviewed these connected transactions and confirmed
that such transactions were entered into:

— in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

— on normal commercial terms or better; and

— according to the agreement governing them on terms
that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Company’s shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note
740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor
has issued their unqualified letter containing their findings
and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed by the Group in this Annual Report in
accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of
the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the
Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, none of the related party transactions
as disclosed in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements
constitutes non-exempt connected transaction or non-exempt
continuing connected transaction under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rues. The Company confirms that it has complied with
the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

The Directors named in the paragraphs below held offices
in businesses, which are considered to compete or likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2021.
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Each of Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu and Mr. Zhang Ping held offices
in the Mengniu Group during the year ended 31 December 2021.
Mengniu Dairy is a substantial shareholder of the Company.
Bellamy’'s Australia Limited, which is an Australian organic
infant formula and baby food provider, acquired by the Mengniu
Group in 2019, is engaged in, among others, manufacturing and
distribution of milk formula. Each of Mr. Qin Peng and Mr. Gu
Peiji (alias Philip Gu) held offices in Danone. Danone Asia, a
member of the Danone Group, is a substantial shareholder of the
Company. Danone is engaged in, among others, manufacturing
and distribution of milk formula.

The above-mentioned competing businesses are managed
by separate entities with independent management and
administration. The Directors are of the view that the Group
is capable of carrying on its businesses independently of, and
at arm’s length from, the businesses of these entities. When
making decisions, the relevant Directors, in performance of
their duty as Director, have acted and will continue to act in the
best interests of the Group.
Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or their
respective associates had any interest in any company or
business which competes or may compete with the business of
the Group during the year ended 31 December 2021.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the service contracts disclosed in the paragraph
headed “Directors’ Service Contracts”
concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December 2021.

above, no contracts

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Articles of Association or the laws of Cayman Islands
where the Company is incorporated applicable to the Company.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group’s emolument policies are based on the merit,
qualifications and competence of individual employees and
are reviewed by the Remuneration Committee periodically.
The emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the
Remuneration Committee and are decided by the Board, having
regard to the Group's operating results, individual performance
and comparable market statistics.
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The Company has previously adopted two share option schemes
and one Phantom Share Incentive Scheme to motivate and
reward its Directors and eligible employees. Details of the
schemes are set out in the paragraphs headed “Share Option
Schemes” and “Phantom Share Incentive Scheme” above.

None of the Directors waived any emoluments during the year
ended 31 December 2021.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The employees of the PRC subsidiaries of the Company are
members of the state-managed retirement benefits scheme
operated by the PRC government. The PRC subsidiaries are
required to contribute certain percentages of basic salaries
of the employees to the retirement benefits scheme to fund
the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect
to the retirement benefits scheme is to make the required
contributions under the scheme. The contributions are charged
to the consolidated income statements as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the state-managed retirement
benefits scheme. The Group has no other material obligation for
the payment of pension benefits beyond the annual contributions
described above.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group's total
contributions to the retirement benefits schemes charged
in the income statement amounted to RMB36 million. There
are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group
as the employer to reduce the existing level of contributions.
Details of the Group’s retirement benefits scheme and the
basis of calculation are set out in note notes 2.4 and 7 to the
consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s largest and five
largest customers were 7% and 14% of the Group’s total sales
respectively. Aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five
largest customers combined were less than 30% of the Group's
total sales. Aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s
largest and five largest suppliers were 10% and 39% of the
Group's total purchases respectively. At no time during the year
ended 31 December 2021 did a Director, his/her associate(s) or a
shareholder, which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more
than 5% of the Company’s share capital, have an interest in any
of the Group’s five largest suppliers.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining the identity of shareholders who
are entitled to attend and vote at the forthcoming annual general
meeting, the register of members of the Company will be closed
from Wednesday, 1 June 2022 to Wednesday, 8 June 2022, both
dates inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares of the
Company will be effected. In order to be eligible to attend and
vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting to be held on
Wednesday, 8 June 2022, all duly completed and signed transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wan Chai, Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on
Tuesday, 31 May 2022.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company has reviewed, with
the Company’s management and the external auditors, the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Company
and discussed auditing, risk management, internal control,
whistleblowing policy and system and financial reporting
matters, including the review of the Group’s financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2021 have been audited by Ernst & Young.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the
date of this Annual Report, the Company has maintained the
prescribed public float of not less than 23.42% of the Company’s
issued shares pursuant to a waiver granted to the Company by
the Stock Exchange for the period from the Listing Date.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available
to the shareholders by reason of their holding of the shares of
the Company.
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BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of short-term and long-term bank loans of the
Group as at 31 December 2021 are set out in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements. Other than such bank loans,
the Group had no other bank loans.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

Details of foreign currency risk are set out in note 38(b) to the
consolidated financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’'s corporate governance principles and practices
are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 50 to
79 of this Annual Report.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the five financial years ended 31 December 2021 is set
out on pages 259 to 260 of this Annual Report.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Company has issued an announcement on 16 March 2022.
The Company was informed by Mengniu Dairy, its controlling
shareholder, that Mengniu Dairy was in discussion with other
parties regarding its holdings in Yashili and certain other
business interests, which may result in a number of potential
transactions (the “Potential Transactions”], the structure and
details of which are yet to be finalized but which may include a
potential pre-conditional privatization offer for the Company by
Mengniu Dairy (or through its affiliate) (the “Potential Offer”).
As of the date of this Report of the Directors, no definitive
agreement or arrangement in respect of any of the Potential
Transactions has been entered into. Therefore, the Potential
Transactions, including the Potential Offer, may or may not
proceed.

On behalf of the Board

Jeffrey, Minfang Lu
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Ernst & Young LK G FTR B FT

27/F, One Taikoo Place FHEHEBR2BOTNR
979 King’s Road Ky —RE27HE ey.com
ﬁi Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

To the shareholders of
Yashili International Holdings Ltd
{Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability]

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Yashili International Holdings Ltd (the “Company”]) and its
subsidiaries (the “"Group”] set out on pages 130 to 258, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2021, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2021, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards ("IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board ("IASB”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA"]. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
BYZBERE (&)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide
the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated
financial statements.

How our audit addressed the
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Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill amounting to RMB991
million represented 13.61% of
the Group’'s total assets as at 31
December 2021.
tests performed by management

The impairment

involved significant estimations
of the value in use of the cash-
generating unit ("CGU"] group to
which the goodwill was allocated.

The accounting policies, significant
estimates and related disclosures
are included in notes 2.4, 3 and
18 to the consolidated financial
statements.

ANNUAL REPORT 2021

Our audit procedures included,
among others, the evaluation of
management’s identification of the
CGU group to which goodwill was
allocated and the assessment of the
impairment model and underlying
assumptions by comparing key
assumptions, such as the forecasted
revenue and gross margins with
historical operating results. We
involved our internal valuation
experts to assist us in evaluating
the impairment model and in
benchmarking key assumptions,
including expected growth rates
and discount rates. We assessed
management’s sensitivity analysis in
relation to the reasonably possible
changes in assumptions, including
revenue growth rates and gross
margins.

We also reviewed the adequacy of the
related disclosures included in the
consolidated financial statements.
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Key audit matter

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

How our audit addressed the
key audit matter

HRETER

BYZBERE (&)

BZEHABSATRNMEHKN

Impairment testing of trademarks with indefinite lives

Trademarks with indefinite life
amounting to RMB83 million
represented 1.14% of the Group's
total assets as at 31 December
20217. The impairment tests
performed by management involved
significant estimations in the
determination of the value in use of
the CGU to which the trademarks
belong.

The accounting policies, significant
estimates and related disclosures
are included in notes 2.4, 3 and
17 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Our audit procedures included,
among others, the assessment of the
impairment model and underlying
assumptions by comparing key
assumptions, such as the forecasted
revenue and gross margins with
historical operating results. We
also reviewed brand strategy
and business plan prepared by
management and compared the
assumptions such as unit selling
prices and unit costs used in the
impairment testing with the industry
peers. We involved our internal
valuation experts to assist us in
evaluating the impairment model and
key assumptions, in particular those
relating to perpetual growth rates
and discount rates. We also assessed
management’s sensitivity analysis
to evaluate the impact of reasonably
possible changes, including revenue
growth rates and gross margins.

We also reviewed the adequacy of the
related disclosures included in the
consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
BYZBERE (&)

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRSs issued by
the IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’'s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions

material if, individually or in the aggregate,
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
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e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Mr. Ng Siu Ki Ricky.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
30 March 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

= L0,
SHEER
Year ended 31 December 2021 & £2021F12A8318 It F &
2021 2020
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
M 5% AR T ARET T
Revenue A 5 4,434,700 3,649,206
Cost of sales Fi=l= DN 7 (2,974,679) (2,315,373)
Gross profit £ 1,460,021 1,333,833
Other income and gains Ho e A R s 5 59,461 102,039
Selling and distribution expenses HEREHEHAX (1,146,819) (1,039,102)
Administrative expenses TR X (239,301) (186,582)
Impairment loss on financial assets 4 &t & & B {E 18 % (2,669) (3,758]
Other expenses and losses Hith B S A1 18 & (275,542) (151,509)
Finance income 81 7% Uz A 72,948 88,470
Finance costs B 7% A A8 (21,181) (13,712)
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX BB AT (EFE),
= A 7 (93,082) 129,679
Income tax credit/(expense) BT 18 B4R~
(2H) 11 11,719 (28,598)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR EE(EFR) BN (81,363) 101,081
Attributable to: BER:
Owners of the parent S REREREEA (81,363) 101,081
RMB cents RMB cents
AR®S AR S
(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE BATEER
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY BEAELMEBR
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE (1) B
PARENT 12
Basic and diluted AR # 58 (1.7) 2.1
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
afzERRE

Year ended 31 December 2021 & £2021F12A318 It F &

2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMF T AR T T
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FE(BE)BR (81,363) 101,081
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS Ht2EEBE X
Other comprehensive loss that may ARNEBHEEF>EE
be reclassified to profit or loss in BmoEMmEmEIBX
subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation of B EFINEFEKNIE X =58
foreign operations (114,335) (53,861)
Net other comprehensive loss that may AR UERHBHBEH S EE
be reclassified to profit or loss in Bamz FEMEE
subsequent periods B (114,335) (53,861)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR FERRHMZERX
THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (114,335) (53,861)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/ FERXE(BX)
INCOME FOR THE YEAR W 5= 48 58 (195,698) 47,220
Attributable to: BER:
Owners of the parent BRRIREFREA (195,698) 47,220

BEFEBRERERIA 131
20214 %R



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

SHMBRAE
31 December 2021 2021412 A31H
2021 2020
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
M & AR® T ARBFT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BENMRE 13 1,538,718 1,530,467
Construction in progress EETITR 14 20,318 49,199
Investment properties 1B Y 15 62,508 63,924
Right-of-use assets TRAEEE 16 93,165 101,420
Intangible assets BEHEE 17 145,532 345,541
Goodwill E2 18 991,236 991,236
Deferred tax assets IR IH B E 20 382,369 370,995
Long-term bank deposits RHBTER 26 370,558 736,004
Debt investments at LA B 88 BX R 5T 2 /Y
amortised cost BEKRE 19 24,532 =
Prepayments, other receivables and &/ F & -
other assets H b fE U FX B
N H & E 23 1,011 403
Total non-current assets ERBEERT 3,629,947 4,189,189
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories B 21 815,970 984,760
Trade receivables =8N A& 22 414,730 91,166
Prepayments, other receivables B FE -
and other assets H b fE W 3R 18
& H & E 23 107,519 171,745
Other current financial assets EtrnSemiE 24 93,865 20,000
Structural bank deposits EBMERITIER 24 - 101,764
Derivative financial assets PTESMIEA 25 1,901 2,175
Pledged deposits REBE2FK 26 90,354 150,261
Cash and bank balances & MR 1T 4 & 26 2,125,047 2,080,918
Total current assets MBEERE 3,649,386 3,602,789
CURRENT LIABILITIES REAE
Trade and bills payables EORGARER 27 813,885 698,052
Other payables and accruals E b fE {3 & B AT
=g 28 569,228 950,991
Interest-bearing bank FFRRITR
and other borrowings B 18 3K 29 320,758 365,857
Derivative financial liabilities MESMITA 25 407 262
Lease liabilities HEAE 16 6,575 8,839
Tax payable FERTFT 15 81 92 4,885
Total current liabilities mB) & E B 1,710,945 2,028,886
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 1,938,441 1,573,903
TOTAL ASSETS LESS EEHER
CURRENT LIABILITIES REAE 5,568,388 5,763,092
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
& GEEF A AR R 3R (48)
31 December 2021 2021412 A31H

2021 2020
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B =% AR T ARET T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBEE
Deferred income iR FE W 75 30 10,074 9,200
Lease liabilities HEERE 16 7,220 10,700
Deferred tax liabilities FEERIBEE 20 23,035 20,075
Total non-current liabilities ERBEERT 40,329 39,975
Net assets EEFH 5,528,059 5,723,117
EQUITY xR
Equity attributable to owners BAREE A
of the parent AL &
Share capital A 7R 31 399,352 399,352
Reserves &1 5,128,707 5,323,765
TOTAL EQUITY ERBE 5,528,059 5,723,117
Mr. Yan Zhiyuan Mr. Zhang Ping
HERLE R EE
Director Director
o o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
SHEREER

Year ended 31 December 2021 & Z20214F12A31H L F &
Attributable to owners of the parent
BRNSLARESEA
Capital PRC Other Share option
Share Share redemption  statutory capital reserve/share  Translation Contributed Merger  Retained
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve award reserve reserve surplus reserve earnings Total
BRERE/
RBEE HEiE  EbEx ROBRERR E} g4 i RE
Bx  ROEER HE L BE /ROEBER B B# HE BH @it
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARETR ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARBTT ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR
[note 31) [note 40(l) [note 400l (note 40i)
(B3 (R &40l (B SE40ii) (B EE4o(i
At1 January 2020 R2020F1818 399352 3.845,616* 818* 182,021 (44,615)* 2,Th6* 75,122¢ 1367206 (830,504 681961% 5,681,721
Profit for the year FEET - - - - - 101,081 101,081
Other comprehensive loss for the year AEEB2EARX
Exchange differences on translation REBNEBNER R
of foreign operations - - - = = 53,861) = 53,861)
Total comprehensive income for the year 2ENREE - - - - - 53,861) - 101,081 47,220
Statutory reserves appropriated BAEERE - - - 5,880 - - - = (5,880) -
Share option and share award arrangements** hEBERRES Bt & - - - (5,824) - - (5,824]
At 31 December 2020 R2020512A31R 399,352 3,845,816* 818* 187,901 44,615)* 18,922 21261 1367204 (830,504 777 M62¢ 573,117
At1 January 2021 R2021E1818 399,352 3,845,616* 818* 187,901% 44,615]* 18,922¢ 2,061 1,367,206 (850,504 777,162 5723117
Loss for the year ERER - - - - - - - (81.363) (81,363
Other comprehensive loss for the year rEEB2EARX
Exchange differences on translation BERNERMELZE
of foreign operations - - - - - 114,335) - - (114,335)
Total comprehensive loss 2EBAEE
for the year - - - = - (114,335) - - (114,335)  (195,698)
Statutory reserves appropriated BAEERE - - - 6,789 - - - - - 6,789) -
Share option and share award arrangements** RESERREZDE - - - - 640 - - - 640
At 31 December 2021 R2021E128318 399,352 3,845,616 818+ 194,690 44,615)* 19,562* (93,0741 1,367,204  (850,504)* 689,010 5,528,059
* These reserve amounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * E & FEHE S EAR02EH B RN A G X F
RMB5,128,707,000, (2020: RMB5,323,765,000) in the consolidated statement # f#% f8 A R %5,128,707,0007T (20204 : A R #
of financial position. 5,323,765,0007T) ©
* % * %

On 7 May 2018, 24 December 2018, 5 June 2019 and 22 May 2020, China
Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (“Mengniu Dairy”], the Company’s ultimate
holding company, cumulatively granted 230,794 units of shares and 1,038,650
units of share options under its share award scheme and share option
scheme, respectively, to the Company’s directors and management of
the Group for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of Mengniu Dairy. The amount
represented the fair value amortisation of these share options and share
awards for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: reversal of amortisation
of RMB5,824,000].
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
EHAERER

Year ended 31 December 2021 #( £2021F12 8318 I FE
2021 2020
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
Bt & AR TR ARB T T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHRERE
ACTIVITIES
(Loss)/profit before tax Bian (&) s A (93,082) 129,679
Adjustments for: FHEIER
Depreciation of property, M- BER
plant and equipment BT E 7 127,230 119,452
Depreciation of investment properties BWEMERE 7 4,567 3,882
Amortisation of intangible assets mREE#E 7 19,306 17,381
Amortisation of right-of-use assets PR ¥ & =N 7 11,430 11,097
Amortisation of other non-current assets  H b 3E /7% &) & &= # 34 7 2,045 3,616
Amortisation of deferred income 5 AE W 2= 2 5 874 5,723
Net loss on disposal of inventories FEHREFRX 6 10,604 21,058
Net loss on disposal of non-current HEFERBEEN
assets Bk 6 3,065 772
Impairment of trade and other B 5 & H A e KR
receivables, net R E JF 18 K 7 2,669 3,758
Impairment of trademarks ERENRIE b 200,000 -
Impairment of inventories FTEKRBER 6 48,078 75,281
Interest income AR WA (57,148) (33,912)
Interest expense FERX 8 21,181 13,712
Foreign exchange differences, net ME 518w F R 5 (14,614) (40,792)
COVID-19-related rent concessions from ZREHEESEE
lessors 16 - (463)
Expenses/(reversal) of equity-settled R E RGN
share-based payment s,/ ChmE) 640 (3,380)
286,845 326,864
Decrease/(increase) in inventories EERL () 97,642 (161,397)
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables & 5 & K BR 3
(&) R (433,117) 32,748
Decrease in prepayments, TEfT R
other receivables and other assets H b FE W R T K&
H fth & 2R A 58,730 41,213
Increase in pledged deposits RFESFHIEM (40,354) (19,401)
Decrease in trade and bills payables, B S EMERR
other payables and accruals H i J& 1 5K IA F0
it & AR (228,756) (90,652)
Cash flows (used in)/ KR E)
from operating activities (RE) /FEH& (259,010) 129,375
Income tax paid on KEFEHEMNMEH
operating activities (5,392) (10,635)
Cash flows (used in)/from RESEE
operating activities (RH) FrB8HEE (264,402) 118,740
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
EHESRERGE)
Year ended 31 December 2021 # £2021F12831H IEFE

2021 2020
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt & AR TR ARB T T
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZDRERE
ACTIVITIES
Purchases of items of property, BEME BER
plant and equipment B'gi] (50,012) (66,317)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEWHE BER
property, plant and equipment R AT 1S KB 15,763 36,181
Additions to construction in progress R ITRERAAIG M (170,008) (36,193)
Purchases of intangible assets BEETEE (17,935) (17,744)
(Increase)/decrease in long-term REISRITFERE
bank deposits (3 ) D (104,554) 10,087
Purchases of other financial assets BEHEHMESREE (713,035) (180,833)
Proceeds from disposal of TEREtEREE
other financial assets FT 158 3 1A 810,686 773,827
New time deposits with original maturity R Z/HIH & =1 A LA
of more than three months EWRITERD
30 (164,224) (262,630)
Receipts of time deposits with original REHBHBAE=M@A
maturity of more than three months LA k& 8R 1777 3K
2| HY B9 W R 262,630 928,069
Decrease/(increase) in pledged time B E B F R
deposits A () 9,108 (144,892)
Interest received BRSPS 55,933 27,509
Net cash flows (used in)/from BRETEHCGRE),
investing activities FEREFE (65,648) 1,067,064
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING MELTBHEESRE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from bank loans ERAFTERE 838,758 368,051
Repayment of bank loans BEFTEER (883,483) (26,831)
New bank deposits pledged for B R 1T {8 KA &Y
bank loans 7 A3 N (20,000) (249,278)
Release of bank deposits pledged for B SR 1T {8 R AE B A9 B
bank loans HY R 4R 7 SR 150,261 -
Principal portion of lease payments HENZTOARE I D 32 (8,892) (8,373)
Interest paid BEATF & (22,963) (12,493)
Net cash flows from financing activities & & 5% B fT 18
RE&EFHE 53,681 71,076
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH REeRREeEEY
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (R 2,/ # b0 i% 48 (276,369) 1,256,880
Cash and cash equivalents FORER
at beginning of year REEEY 26 1,818,288 576,164
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, EXREFHHURER
net REEEYH
FEFH (11,988) (14,756)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ERRER
AT END OF YEAR RE%EY 26 1,529,931 1,818,288
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 0 B 55 3 R P i

Year ended 31 December 2021 & £2021F12A318 It F &

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. AEIREEBE R
Yashili International Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”) was BTHEEZERAER2B(RAR] R
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 3 June 2010 as an 2010F6 ASEHR B S B R FIEFE22
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies B9 FEFE=550 0 KA REET)
Law, Chapter 22, (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) EREHETMARIAERRBR AT
of the Cayman Islands. The address of its registered office is H 3t it #% = B #h 4k & Cricket Square,
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.0. Box 2681, Grand Cayman Hutchins Drive, P.0. Box 2681, Grand
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands °
The Group is primarily engaged in the manufacture and sale AEFETERFTHENHEILZEREE
of dairy and nourishment products. oo
In the opinion of the directors, the holding company is China EERA EEERARATESZFSE
Mengniu International Company Limited (BVI). The ultimate FRBEBRAGTIBVI) - EBE&EERITERAG A
holding company of the Company is China Mengniu Dairy FRESTAEERAA(HE)-

Company Limited (Cayman).

Information about subsidiaries FAFER
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as ARBREBFRAAMNFRBOT
follows:
Place of
incorporation/
registration and Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
business registered share capital attributable to the Company
FRMKL/ BERTRE/ NGY Principal activities
BLERERME dMERFE REBAL FTERHK

Company name Notes Direct Indirect

DAER W & 83 4%

Yashili International Ltd. BVI US$1 100% - Investment holding
(“Yashili (BVI)")

BErHMERERAR RERNES (EY 100% - RERRK
([Yashili (BVI)])

Yashili International Group Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Investment holding
Limited (“Yashili (HK)")

BIHMEREERRAF B8 18T - 100% H&EAER
(IELA(F#)])

Newou Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Import and export of
International Co., dairy products and
Limited related materials
(“Newou Hong Kong”)

MEEERRERAR BB 1B - 100% #EHOARAR
([HE&EE] RBAMH
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O B SRR I RE ()

Year ended 31 December 2021 & £2021F12A831H It F &

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. ARIREBE R (§)

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Place of
incorporation/
registration and

Issued ordinary/

FATES ()

Percentage of equity

business registered share capital attributable to the Company
BMKL/ BRETRE/ KRR EEH Principal activities
BRREFRLH aAMERFE REBEAL TEEHR

Company name Notes Direct Indirect

ARER Wt & HiE Gk

Yashili New Zealand Dairy New Zealand NZD287,032,059 - 100%  Production and sale of
Co., Limited dairy products
(“Yashili New Zealand")

MERETHAZERD MAEH 17 70.287,032,059 T - 100% HEREELEm
Gl ER 3

Oushi Mengniu (Inner (il The People’s Republic RMB470,000,000 - 100%  Production and sale of
Mongolia) Dairy of China ["PRC")/ dairy products
Products Co., Ltd. The PRC except for
(“Oushi Mengniu”) Hong Kong

("Mainland China”)

NELBE R4 A Em mEARAME A B #470,000,0007C - 100% 4ERFEARD
BEREMEAR (%@ /HEEE
(BttE4]) BRANRE KD

Yashili International Baby (i) & (ii) PRC/Mainland China ~ RMB531,815,600 - 100%  Production and sale of
Nourishment Co., Ltd. dairy products
(“Yashili Nourishment”)

BIMEREHREER e /B K AR #531,815,6007 - 100% 4ERHFEAED
BERAA
((ELHEER])

Yashili Dairy (Maanshan) lil PRC/Mainland China ~ RMB1,320,000,000 - 100%  Wholesale and retail
Trading Limited of dairy products
(“Maanshan Trading”)

BrMAR(FEL) B K A K %1,320,000,0007C - 100% ARGBERTE
HERRRATF
(IRBLHE])

Yashili International Group (i} & (i) PRC/Mainland China ~ RMB2,176,105,300 - 100%  Production and sale of
Ltd. dairy products
(“Yashili (Guangdong)”)

BrAEREEERRA hE /R E AR AR %2,176,105,3007C - 100% 4EREEAED
((ELR(ER))

Shanxi Yashili Dairy Co., [i) PRC/Mainland China  RMB300,000,000 - 100%  Production and sale of
Ltd. (“Yashili (Shanxi)”) dairy products

WEKTHMAZERAR hE /R E AR A R #300,000,0007 - 00% 4ERBEAER
(MELR(OLFE)])
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
Ot R R R M EE ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 #; £2021F12A31B It FE

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. ARIREEER (&)
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) FAREL ()
Place of
incorporation/
registration and Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
business registered share capital attributable to the Company
R e BRETRE/ ADF B Principal activities
BRREELH aMERFE REBEAL TEEHK

Company name Notes Direct Indirect

AR i = EE B &

Dumex Baby Food Co., Ltd. (il PRC/Mainland China ~ RMB2,226,000,000 - 100%  Production and sale of
(“Dumex”) dairy products

SEHENTERERR mE /B ARE AR 12,226,000,0007C - 100% 4£EREEAEm
GEZY4)

Yashili (Inner Mongolia) il  PRC/Mainland China ~ RMB10,000,000 - 100%  Production and sale of
Nutrition Co., Ltd. dairy products
(“Yashili (Inner
Mongolia)”)

NEGRETFZER mE /B ARE A R %10,000,000T - 100% 4#ERHEEAHM
BRAA
([FLF(REH)])

Mengniu Oushi Nutritional (il PRC/Mainland China  RMB50,000,000 - 100%  Production and sale of
Food Co., Ltd. dairy products
(“Mengniu Oushi”)

SHEBtEERM mE /B A R A R %50,000,0007 - 100% 4#ERHEEAEM
BRAR(EFRBE])
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O B SRR I RE ()

Year ended 31 December 2021

1.

HE2021FE12A318 ILEE

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(Continued)

(] These companies are registered as wholly-foreign-owned
enterprises under PRC law.

(i) These companies are limited liability companies
established in the PRC. The official names of these
companies are in Chinese and the English names are for
reference only.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the
results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the
net assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries
would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of
excessive length.

2.1 BASIS OF PRESENTATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with IFRSs (which include all International
Financial Reporting Standards, International Accounting
Standards (“IASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Boards ("IASB”) and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for other current financial assets
and structural bank deposits which have been measured
at fair value. These consolidated financial statements are
presented in Renminbi ("RMB”) and all values are rounded to
the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2021.

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity],
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the investee [(i.e., existing rights that give the Group
the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

| OF B 75 Rk MY 5E ()

Year ended 31 December 2021 #; £2021F12A31B It FE

2.1 BASIS OF PRESENTATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c] the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control described
above. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary,
without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O R SRR M & ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 # £2021F12831H IEFE

2.1 BASIS OF PRESENTATION (Continued) 20 25| E % (1)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
(i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the
subsidiary; [ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling
interest and [(iii) the cumulative translation differences
recorded in equity; and recognises (i] the fair value of the
consideration received; (ii] the fair value of any investment
retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or
loss. The Group’s share of components previously recognised
in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or
loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as
would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities.

2.2CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised IFRSs for the
first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39,
IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 2

Amendment to IFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond
30 June 2021 (early

adopted)

142 YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD
ANNUAL REPORT 2021

& fF B 28 ()

HASEEXEH—FF QR EE S # -
AIERERRNZTFRAANEE(RR
BE)RBE (VEAFERERNRK
EE (i) R ES AR SR R T EE5
RERMAKKEN 2 EE: (AR
BEAKRENDIABERGIEZESP
EARALELENRBRKIEE - TR E
EEREANERNARERGEHNE
MORBBREIRENE EEEEE
REMBEEMABENIRR N BEER
REEE e

2B RRRBEESENE S

REBRAAFHBERERPEXREAUT

KASETH BB B 75 3R 5 2Rl -

B B B 75 R 25 £E Al Fl R EENE

FEoSE - BIRERER — F2BK

F39%% - BB

WMEREBIFETH - B

B 7% 3R &5 £ B S5 45

N B B B S R 45 2 A

F165% 2 &5

B R B 75 1R 45 2% Al 202146430

FI]R 2 EFT H 1% %7 73 &
18 #6 5 9 1
e (R
B A)



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
Ot R R R M EE ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 #; £2021F12A31B It FE

2.2CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

LB BRRREESENE S (F)

(a) Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and (a) BIFR BA TS R A BIB9S - IR &3

IFRS 16 address issues not dealt with in the previous
amendments which affect financial reporting when an
existing interest rate benchmark is replaced with an
alternative risk-free rate ("RFR”). The amendments
provide a practical expedient to allow the effective
interest rate to be updated without adjusting the
carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities when
accounting for changes in the basis for determining the
contractual cash flows of financial assets and liabilities,
if the change is a direct consequence of the interest rate
benchmark reform and the new basis for determining
the contractual cash flows is economically equivalent to
the previous basis immediately preceding the change.
In addition, the amendments permit changes required
by the interest rate benchmark reform to be made to
hedge designations and hedge documentation without
the hedging relationship being discontinued. Any gains
or losses that could arise on transition are dealt with
through the normal requirements of IFRS 9 to measure
and recognise hedge ineffectiveness. The amendments
also provide a temporary relief to entities from having
to meet the separately identifiable requirement when
an RFR is designated as a risk component. The relief
allows an entity, upon designation of the hedge, to
assume that the separately identifiable requirement is
met, provided the entity reasonably expects the RFR risk
component to become separately identifiable within the
next 24 months. Furthermore, the amendments require
an entity to disclose additional information to enable
users of financial statements to understand the effect of
interest rate benchmark reform on an entity’s financial
instruments and risk management strategy.

Since the Group had no certain interest-bearing bank
borrowings based on the London Interbank Offered Rate
("LIBOR") as at 31 December 2021, the amendments
did not have any impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O R SRR M & ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 # £2021F12831H IEFE

2.2CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

LB BRRREESENE S (F)

(b) Amendment to IFRS 16 issued in April 2021 extends (b) 3% 5 R 20214F 4 A &9 B BR BY 76 3R & &

the availability of the practical expedient for lessees
to elect not to apply lease modification accounting for
rent concessions arising as a direct consequence of
the COVID-19 pandemic by 12 months. Accordingly, the
practical expedient applies to rent concessions for which
any reduction in lease payments affects only payments
originally due on or before 30 June 2022, provided the
other conditions for applying the practical expedient
are met. The amendment is effective retrospectively for
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RFEMAZBEEERNEES R
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Wk BIERRH KRB EE2022%6
A30B R ZAIMAE - 2B H A

annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021 with 20VF4 A A 22 AR 25 EH
any cumulative effect of initially applying the amendment MEN BREBZEITZEHT
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of EHARUENHVBEFTRSHRE
retained profits at the beginning of the current accounting B ZIEFIATIREEM -

period. Earlier application is permitted.

AREBER2021F1AIBEC KN ZE
BE] - AW ZREBEHKRKE EFT
AMENEEER LA ER
FHREHRERANBERERER 25 °

The Group has early adopted the amendment on 1
January 2021. However, the Group has not received
COVID-19-related rent concessions and plans to apply the
practical expedient when it becomes applicable within the
allowed period of application.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
Ot R R R M EE ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 #; £2021F12A31B It FE

2.3I1SSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL 2382 MA4EMNERR 2 28|

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

AEBERAZSFVBHRREL RKA
T 51 2 98 5 18 s R A RCE BT AT R B AT

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
IFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in

these financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 3

IFRS 17

Amendments to IFRS 17

Amendments to IFRS 17

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS
Practice Statement 2

Amendments to IAS 8

Amendments to IAS 12

Amendments to IAS 16

Amendments to IAS 37

Annual Improvements to IFRS
Standards 2018-2020

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework’

Insurance Contracts?

Initial Application of IFRS 17
and IFRS 9 -Comparative
Information (Effective for
annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2023)

Insurance Contracts?#

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current?

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies?

Definition of Accounting
Estimates?

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction?

Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended
Use’

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract’

Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS
9, Illustrative Examples
accompanying IFRS 16, and
[AS 411
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O R SRR M & ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 # £2021F12831H IEFE

2.31SSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL 232 MA4EMNERR 2 R (&)

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

¢ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

4 As a consequence of the amendments to IFRS 17 issued in June 2020,
IFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption that permits
insurers to apply I1AS 39 rather than IFRS 9 for annual periods beginning
before 1 January 2023

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to
be applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to IFRS 3 are intended to replace a reference
to the previous Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation of Financial Statements with a reference to
the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting issued in
March 2018 without significantly changing its requirements.
The amendments also add to IFRS 3 an exception to its
recognition principle for an entity to refer to the Conceptual
Framework to determine what constitutes an asset or a
liability. The exception specifies that, for liabilities and
contingent liabilities that would be within the scope of IAS
37 if they were incurred separately rather than assumed in a
business combination, an entity applying IFRS 3 should refer
to IAS 37 respectively instead of the Conceptual Framework.
Furthermore, the amendments clarify that contingent assets
do not qualify for recognition at the acquisition date. The
Group expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from
1 January 2022. Since the amendments apply prospectively
to business combinations for which the acquisition date is
on or after the date of first application, the Group will not be
affected by these amendments on the date of transition.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

| OF B 75 Rk MY 5E ()

Year ended 31 December 2021 #; £2021F12A31B It FE

2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments
specify that if an entity’s right to defer settlement of a
liability is subject to the entity complying with specified
conditions, the entity has a right to defer settlement of the
liability at the end of the reporting period if it complies with
those conditions at that date. Classification of a liability is
unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its
right to defer settlement of the liability. The amendments
also clarify the situations that are considered a settlement
of a liability. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and shall be
applied retrospectively. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group's consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B O R SRR M & ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 # £2021F12831H IEFE

2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL

238D MR E BB S FHER (F)

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
require entities to disclose their material accounting
policy information rather than their significant accounting
policies. Accounting policy information is material if,
when considered together with other information included
in an entity’'s financial statements, it can reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the basis of
those financial statements. Amendments to IFRS Practice
Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance on how
to apply the concept of materiality to accounting policy
disclosures. Amendments to IAS 1 are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and earlier
application is permitted. Since the guidance provided in the
amendments to IFRS Practice Statement 2 is non-mandatory,
an effective date for these amendments is not necessary. The
Group is currently assessing the impact of the amendments
on the Group’s accounting policy disclosures.

Amendments to IAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes
in accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies.
Accounting estimates are defined as monetary amounts
in financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how entities use
measurement techniques and inputs to develop accounting
estimates. The amendments are effective for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
and apply to changes in accounting policies and changes in
accounting estimates that occur on or after the start of that
period. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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Year ended 31 December 2021 #; £2021F12A31B It FE

2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception so that it no longer applies to
transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences, such as leases and decommissioning
obligations. Therefore, entities are required to recognise
a deferred tax asset and a deferred tax liability for
temporary differences arising from these transactions.
The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and shall be applied
to transactions related to leases and decommissioning
obligations at the beginning of the earliest comparative
period presented, with any cumulative effect recognised
as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits
or other component of equity as appropriate at that date.
In addition, the amendments shall be applied prospectively
to transactions other than leases and decommissioning
obligations. Earlier application is permitted.

Amendments to IAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting
from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
any proceeds from selling items produced while bringing
that asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds from selling any
such items, and the cost of those items, in profit or loss. The
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2022 and shall be applied retrospectively only
to items of property, plant and equipment made available for
use on or after the beginning of the earliest period presented
in the financial statements in which the entity first applies
the amendments. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B O R SRR M & ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 # £2021F12831H IEFE

2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL

238D MR E BB S FHER (F)

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of
assessing whether a contract is onerous under IAS 37,
the cost of fulfilling the contract comprises the costs that
relate directly to the contract. Costs that relate directly to a
contract include both the incremental costs of fulfilling that
contract (e.g., direct labour and materials) and an allocation
of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling that contract
(e.g., an allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of
property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract
as well as contract management and supervision costs].
General and administrative costs do not relate directly
to a contract and are excluded unless they are explicitly
chargeable to the counterparty under the contract. The
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2022 and shall be applied to contracts
for which an entity has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at
the beginning of the annual reporting period in which it first
applies the amendments. Earlier application is permitted.
Any cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments
shall be recognised as an adjustment to the opening equity
at the date of initial application without restating the
comparative information. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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Year ended 31 December 2021 #; £2021F12A31B It FE

2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020
sets out amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, Illustrative
Examples accompanying IFRS 16, and IAS 41. Details of the
amendments that are expected to be applicable to the Group

are as follows:

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that an
entity includes when assessing whether the terms of
a new or modified financial liability are substantially
different from the terms of the original financial liability.
These fees include only those paid or received between
the borrower and the lender, including fees paid or
received by either the borrower or lender on the other’s
behalf. An entity applies the amendment to financial
liabilities that are modified or exchanged on or after
the beginning of the annual reporting period in which
the entity first applies the amendment. The amendment
is effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2022. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendment is not expected to have a significant impact
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 16 Leases: removes the illustration of payments
from the lessor relating to leasehold improvements
in Illustrative Example 13 accompanying IFRS 16. This
removes potential confusion regarding the treatment of
lease incentives when applying IFRS 16.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O R SRR M & ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 # £2021F12831H IEFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING WMEESTHERE
POLICIES
Business combinations and goodwill EBatrme

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum
of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by
the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued
by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For
each business combination, the Group elects whether to
measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that
are present ownership interests and entitle their holders
to a proportionate share of net assets in the event of
liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components
of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and
a substantive process that together significantly contribute
to the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised
in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified
as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Year ended 31 December 2021

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
If the sum of this consideration and other items is lower than
the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is,
after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on
bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is,
from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’'s
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or
liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups
of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group
of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with
the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount
of the operation when determining the gain or loss on the
disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances
is measured based on the relative value of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
retained.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O R SRR M & ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 # £2021F12831H IEFE

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING WEESTTHERBE(E)
POLICIES (Continued)
Fair value measurement AREEHE

The Group measures its derivative financial instruments
at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value
is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair
value measurement is based on the presumption that
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset or
liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal
or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the
Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured
using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market
participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted]) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

| OF B 75 Rk MY 5E ()

Year ended 31 December 2021 & £2021F12A831H It F &

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Fair value measurement (Continued)

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly.

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement
as a whole] at the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, contract assets, deferred tax assets, financial
assets, investment properties and non-current assets/
a disposal group classified as held for sale], the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s
value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs. In testing a cash-generating
unit for impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of a
corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated
to an individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the
smallest group of cash-generating units.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O R SRR M & ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 # £2021F12831H IEFE

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING WEEETHRBE(E)
POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued) JEe R EEREE)
An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount BEBLXEREERFEDEBS LK

of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment
loss is charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period
in which it arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iiiJis a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
Ot R R R M EE ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 #; £2021F12A31B It FE

2.4, SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING WEESTHRBE ()
POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties (Continued) R Bk AL (#)
(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions bl Z A ABFENINEMEHNER
applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same () ZEEBRASEEEBER—KEAK
group; BRA]:

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other il —HMEBR ERBONBEALQ
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary AREaErE(EHS—EEN
of the other entity); NE - FTRAIFREEREFAGE ZIE

)

(iii)the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same lifZ BB RAEBH AR —FE=7
third party; MEeELhE:

livione entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the (V- HEBARE=Z7TEBNTXE
other entity is an associate of the third entity; ME—BERRZTEBNBRER

Ej .

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the V) ZERBBEBZRB AN - 53
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity NEXm ARLAEBENELRERER
related to the Group; and the sponsoring employers of MO ERBES: A RRNKSEF G
the post-employment benefit plan; BNk ==

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person (vi) 7% B %8 1 (a) T8 Pt A 4 4% Wil 5k 2
identified in (a); [R] 42 1] ;

[vila person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence Wil @I ERMATHZERBEE
over the entity or is a member of the key management AXEBIEZERB(RZEREN
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); HNAG)ETEEEBABHKNE R
and

[viilthe entity, or any member of a group of which it is a Vil ZERIEEBANEE IS -
part, provides key management personnel services to HIZEBABERBRAEEL
the Group or to the parent of the Group. EREBERNE QA o
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O R SRR M & ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 # £2021F12831H IEFE

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING WEESTTHERBE(E)

POLICIES (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. When an item of property,
plant and equipment is classified as held for sale or when
it is part of a disposal group classified as held for sale, it
is not depreciated and is accounted for in accordance with
IFRS 5, as further explained in the accounting policy for
“Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale”. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location for
its intended use.

Cost may also include transfers from equity of any gains or
losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency
purchases of property, plant and equipment.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit
or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations
where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure
for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount
of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of
property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual
assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

| OF B 75 Rk MY 5E ()

Year ended 31 December 2021 & £2021F12A831H It F &

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment
to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The
estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment are
as follows:

Freehold land Not depreciated

Plant and buildings 13-47 years
Machinery and equipment 5-10 years
Motor vehicles 4-5 years
Office equipment and others 3-5years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the
net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset.

Construction in progress represents property, plant and
equipment under construction, which is stated at cost
less any impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost
comprises the direct costs of construction and capitalised
borrowing costs on related borrowed funds during the period
of construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to
the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment
when completed and ready for use.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O R SRR M & ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 # £2021F12831H IEFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING WETESTHBERE(E)
POLICIES (Continued)
Investment properties BrEME

Investment properties are interests in buildings (including
the leasehold property held as right-of-use asset which
would otherwise meet the definition of an investment
property) held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation, rather than for use in the production or supply
of goods or services or for administrative purposes; or for
sale in the ordinary course of business. Such properties
are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses.

Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its
residual value. Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of
investment properties. The estimated useful lives are 50
years. Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values
are reassessed at each reporting date.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the statement of profit
or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for Sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as
held for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered
principally through a sales transaction rather than through
continuing use. For this to be the case, the asset or disposal
group must be available for immediate sale in its present
condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary
for the sale of such assets or disposal groups and its sale
must be highly probable. All assets and liabilities of a
subsidiary classified as a disposal group are reclassified
as held for sale regardless of whether the Group retains a
non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after the
sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than financial
assets]) classified as held for sale are measured at the
lower of their carrying amounts and fair values less costs
to sell. Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
classified as held for sale are not depreciated or amortised.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Year ended 31 December 2021

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value as at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least
at each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested
for impairment annually either individually or at the
cash-generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not
amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset with an
indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the
indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not,
the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to
finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.

Office software

Office software is stated at cost less any impairment losses
and is amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated
useful life of 5 years.

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or
loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products
is capitalised and deferred only when the Group can
demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale,
its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the
asset, how the asset will generate future economic benefits,
the availability of resources to complete the project and
the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the
development. Product development expenditure which does
not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O R SRR M & ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 # £2021F12831H IEFE

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING WEEETHRBE(E)
POLICIES (Continued)
Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued) | AE(HRBRI) (E)
Research and development costs (Continued) 8% B A (48)

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised using the straight-line
basis over the commercial lives of the underlying products,
commencing from the date when the products are put into
commercial production.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
Ot R R R M EE ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 #; £2021F12A31B It FE

2.4, SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING WETESTHHERE(E)
POLICIES (Continued)
Leases (Continued) HE(\)
Group as a lessee (Continued) ER A AN(E)

() (EREEE

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease [that is the date the underlying asset
is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets
includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial
direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or
before the commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms
and the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Land use right 50 years
Plant and building 3 to 6 years
Machinery and equipment 5years

Motor vehicles 2 to 4 years
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O R SRR M & ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 # £2021F12831H IEFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING WETESTHBERE(E)
POLICIES (Continued)
Leases (Continued) HE(\)
Group as a lessee (Continued) ER A AN(E)

(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEEE

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments to
be made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees.
The lease payments also include the exercise price of a
purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by
the Group and payments of penalties for termination of
a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising
the option to terminate the lease. The variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as an expense in the period in which the event
or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
commencement date, because the interest rate implicit
in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change
in assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are included in interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Year ended 31 December 2021

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c] Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the
recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets to
leases of office equipment and laptop computers that are
considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of its
leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset
are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains
lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each component on a
relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is
accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms
and is included in revenue in the statement of profit or loss
due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to
the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised
over the lease term on the same basis as rental income.
Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in
which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset are accounted
for as finance leases.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O R SRR M & ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 # £2021F12831H IEFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING WEEBEFTBRERBE(HE)
POLICIES (Continued)
Investments and other financial assets RERHEMEMEE
Initial recognition and measurement NmpERNTE

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or
loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in
the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the
transaction price determined under IFRS 15 in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest ("SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that
are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

| OF B 75 Rk MY 5E ()

Year ended 31 December 2021 & £2021F12A831H It F &

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial
assets classified and measured at amortised cost are
held within a business model with the objective to hold
financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income are held within a
business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which
are not held within the aforementioned business models are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are subject
to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised,
modified or impaired.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O R SRR M & ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 # £2021F12831H IEFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING LLEEETBERBE ()
POLICIES (Continued)
Investments and other financial assets (Continued) BRERREMEREE(K)
Subsequent measurement (Continued) BETE(H)
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive RARBEFEEEEHAAHEMES

income (debt instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, interest income, foreign exchange
revaluation and impairment losses or reversals are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss and computed
in the same manner as for financial assets measured
at amortised cost. The remaining fair value changes
are recognised in other comprehensive income. Upon
derecognition, the cumulative fair value change recognised
in other comprehensive income is recycled to the statement
of profit or loss.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments])

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income when they meet the definition of equity under IAS
32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for
trading. The classification is determined on an instrument-
by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled
to the statement of profit or loss. Dividends are recognised
as other income in the statement of profit or loss when the
right of payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to
the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds
as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in
which case, such gains are recorded in other comprehensive
income. Equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income are not subject to impairment
assessment.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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Year ended 31 December 2021 & £2021F12A831H It F &

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair value
with net changes in fair value recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to
classify at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends on equity investments classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss are also recognised
as other income in the statement of profit or loss when the
right of payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to
the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial
liability or non-financial host, is separated from the host
and accounted for as a separate derivative if the economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related to the host;
a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded
derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and the
hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit
or loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value
with changes in fair value recognised in the statement of
profit or loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either
a change in the terms of the contract that significantly
modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required
or a reclassification of a financial asset out of the fair value
through profit or loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing
a financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The
financial asset host together with the embedded derivative is
required to be classified in its entirety as a financial asset at
fair value through profit or loss.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O R SRR M & ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 # £2021F12831H IEFE

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING WMEEETBRBE(E)
POLICIES (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets eMEERILER
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial ETHEBERT —BemEE(REE

asset or part of a group of similar financial assets] is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position) when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a
third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and
either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of
the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of
the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred
asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In
that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability.
The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations
that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required to

repay.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Year ended 31 December 2021

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses ("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value
through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference
between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects
to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include
cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the
next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures
for which there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required
for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the
exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime
ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort, including historical and
forward-looking information.

For debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, the Group applies the low credit risk
simplification. At each reporting date, the Group evaluates
whether the debt investments are considered to have low
credit risk using all reasonable and supportable information
that is available without undue cost or effort. In making that
evaluation, the Group reassesses the external credit ratings
of the debt investments. In addition, the Group considers
that there has been a significant increase in credit risk when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O R SRR M & ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 # £2021F12831H IEFE

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING WEESTBRBE (&)
POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) R EEREE)
General approach (Continued) — &5 X(E)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account any
credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset
is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial assets at amortised cost are subject
to impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement of
ECLs except for contract assets which apply the simplified
approach as detailed below.

Financial instruments for which credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs;

Stage 1 —

Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired financial assets
and for which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs;

Stage 2 —

Stage 3 —  Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an amount equal

to lifetime ECLs.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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Year ended 31 December 2021 #; £2021F12A31B It FE

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group applies the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises
a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting
date. The Group has established a provision matrix that
is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as
hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of
directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other
payables, and interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O R SRR M & ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 # £2021F12831H IEFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING WETESTHBERE(E)
POLICIES (Continued)
Financial liabilities (Continued) emEE(E)
Subsequent measurement BESE

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest rate method unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the effective interest
rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are
an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

| OF B 75 Rk MY 5E ()

Year ended 31 December 2021 & £2021F12A831H It F &

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge
accounting

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as
forward currency contracts and interest rate swaps, to hedge
its foreign currency risk and interest rate risk, respectively.
Such derivative financial instruments are initially recognised
at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is
entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value.
Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is
positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

The fair value of commodity purchase contracts that meet the
definition of a derivative as defined by IFRS 9 is recognised
in the statement of profit or loss as cost of sales. Commodity
contracts that are entered into and continue to be held for
the purpose of the receipt or delivery of a non-financial item
in accordance with the Group’'s expected purchase, sale or
usage requirements are held at cost.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the statement of profit or
loss, except for the effective portion of cash flow hedges,
which is recognised in other comprehensive income and later
reclassified to profit or loss when the hedged item affects
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O R SRR M & ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 # £2021F12831H IEFE

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING WEESTTHERBE(E)
POLICIES (Continued)
Inventories 58

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average cost basis
and in the case of work in progress and finished goods,
comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be
incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short-term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash,
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and
have a short maturity of generally within three months
when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in
nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive] has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can
be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage of
time is included in finance costs in the statement of profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
Ot R R R M EE ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 #; £2021F12A31B It FE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING LLEEETBERBE ()
POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax Frig 1
Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income ISR ELERE B E
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss SNERNMBBMEHIER  stABRE
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other SINEMEE R RS EETARER

comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the EHNAHNANRTEEEEREGETR
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation BRBEMRERMIEL FEEMBH
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have ME(RBRZ)REAITKBEMHEERE
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the NIREHRBEBREFE L EERNEE
reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations KEMEBRRNBITRERENN -

and practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group

operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all RBEHRNEERABENNEEAG
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period MBHREMeMERECHAONERTEE
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their B G AREBEAARETEHEEE -

carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable FTEERMERHEZENERAET

temporary differences, except: MEBE  ETIZERIN:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial s MEREMBEENER BREAL
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a REENEXEBEHIITEEL
transaction that is not a business combination and at the BEMNVBRER MAER S K -
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting HestA B ERNNELEEY
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and meg Rk

e in respect of taxable temporary differences associated e NP RFRAMNKBENERNY
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the HHEZ8 WMEBERNTEEZEN
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled REATUES  EZEREEZER
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not AERHERRATE TG ED -

reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O R SRR M & ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 # £2021F12831H IEFE

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING WEESTTHERBE(E)
POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax [Continued) M (&)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

e when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss; and

e inrespect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed
at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

| OF B 75 Rk MY 5E ()

Year ended 31 December 2021 #; £2021F12A31B It FE

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the
deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either
the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to
be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for
which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to a deferred income account and is released to the
statement of profit or loss over the expected useful life of
the relevant asset by equal annual instalments or deducted
from the carrying amount of the asset and released to the
statement of profit or loss by way of a reduced depreciation
charge.

Where the Group receives grants of non-monetary assets,
the grants are recorded at the fair value of the non-monetary
assets and released to the statement of profit or loss over
the expected useful lives of the relevant assets by equal
annual instalments.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O R SRR M & ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 # £2021F12831H IEFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING WETESTHBERE(E)
POLICIES (Continued)
Government grants (Continued) BB & (48)

Where the Group receives government loans granted with
no or at a below-market rate of interest for the construction
of a qualifying asset, the initial carrying amount of the
government loans is determined using the effective interest
rate method, as further explained in the accounting policy for
“Financial liabilities” above. The benefit of the government
loans granted with no or at a below-market rate of interest,
which is the difference between the initial carrying value
of the loans and the proceeds received, is treated as a
government grant and released to the statement of profit
or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by
equal annual instalments.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable consideration
is estimated at contract inception and constrained until
it is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal
in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not
occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved.
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2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group with a significant financial benefit for
more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer and
the transfer of the promised goods or services is one year
or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects
of a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in IFRS 15.

(a) Sale of dairy and nourishment products

Revenue from the sale of dairy and nourishment products
is recognised at the point in time when control of the
asset is transferred to the customer, generally on
delivery of the dairy and nourishment products.

Some contracts for the sale of dairy and nourishment
products provide customers with rights of return. The
rights of return give rise to variable consideration.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O R SRR M & ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 # £2021F12831H IEFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING WEEEHHEREE)
POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued) W A\ TR ()
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) HEFETSEMNMKA(E)

(a) Sale of dairy and nourishment products (Continued)

Rights of return

For contracts which provide a customer with a right to
return the goods within a specified period, the expected
value method is used to estimate the goods that will
not be returned because this method best predicts the
amount of variable consideration to which the Group will
be entitled. The requirements in IFRS 15 on constraining
estimates of variable consideration are applied in order
to determine the amount of variable consideration that
can be included in the transaction price. For goods
that are expected to be returned, instead of revenue, a
refund liability is recognised. A right-of-return asset
(and the corresponding adjustment to cost of sales) is
also recognised for the right to recover products from a
customer.

(b

Consigned processing service

Revenue from the consigned processing service is
recognised when dairy and nourishment products is
delivered.

Rental income

Revenue is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting
period in which they are incurred.

Interest income

Revenue is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts
the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
Ot R R R M EE ()
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2.4, SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING WEESTHRBE ()
POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued) W A\ TR ()
Dividend income ’E WA
Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right REKWARERKRRESKIMAKIEAD
to receive payment has been established, it is probable that MERER TEERKRSAEEANLEER
the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow HRAERARNEEARS S EERNT]
to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured FHMFE o
reliably.
Service income BR % U A
The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services BERENER BOUEHSEZIREM
are rendered and payment is generally due upon completion [REMEBMET NHRBFTEEEF,R
of customer acceptance. Revenues from services rendered W& - IREEHBAETERE
are derived principally from the testing service performed SEREENRARSE - WAL RS IE
by the Group. Revenue is recognised when the services are TR o
rendered.
Contract assets AREE
A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange EREEREBHAEPOEmI RGN
for goods or services transferred to the customer. If the BERX5HENREN MRRXEBER
Group performs by transferring goods or services to a PXMEEBEZANENRINBAZAEE
customer before the customer pays consideration or before MR GEEPEIBTTHERSE &
payment is due, a contract asset is recognised for the earned REENBRAFEIETEN -BERES
consideration that is conditional. Contract assets are subject REEETREINANEES  ERNTF
to impairment assessment, details of which are included in RemEERBESITHRE -

the accounting policies for impairment of financial assets.

Contract liabilities aRfAR

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received EHNEBERBEASERZKRI TP HEL
or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer BRAFREMEREE)EMBTEIND
before the Group transfers the related goods or services. Bmk it R - eNEBEREAEERE
Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the TEHNTERBRA (0 HEH @
Group performs under the contract [i.e., transfers control of FRBONEHEERER P R)

the related goods or services to the customer).
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B O R SRR M & ()
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2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING WEESTTHERBE(E)
POLICIES (Continued)
Contract costs AREF

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories,
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, costs
incurred to fulfil a contract with a customer are capitalised
as an asset if all of the following criteria are met:

(a] The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
contract that the entity can specifically identify.

(b) The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity
that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)
performance obligations in the future.

(c] The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to
the statement of profit or loss on a systematic basis that is
consistent with the transfer to the customer of the goods or
services to which the asset relates. Other contract costs are
expensed as incurred.

Right-of-return assets

A right-of-return asset is recognized for the right to recover
the goods expected to be returned by customers. The asset is
measured at the former carrying amount of the goods to be
returned, less any expected costs to recover the goods, and
any potential decreases in the value of the returned goods.
The Group updates the measurement of the asset recorded
for any revisions to the expected level of returns, and any
additional decreases in the value of the returned goods.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
Ot R R R M EE ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 & £2021F12A831H It F &

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING LLEEETBERBE ()
POLICIES (Continued)
Refund liabilities HatAR — EFHERR®R
A refund liability is recognised for the obligation to refund RREBSERELIIZHBELEHE
some or all of the consideration received (or receivable) MEF TEAEESZKEATERE
from a customer and is measured at the amount the Group HEPHSHETE AEBEREREH
ultimately expects it will have to return to the customer. The ANEFERFRBERF(RRHERD
Group updates its estimates of refund liabilities (and the HEZE) -

corresponding change in the transaction price] at the end of
each reporting period.

Employee benefits BREHR

Defined contribution plans REMMETE

The Group’'s subsidiaries operating in Mainland China AEBEFBRAEZENTFAR 28
participate in a central defined contribution retirement HEEEMAEMM T HRFEENRRER
benefit plan managed by the local municipal government in ER-FRARBENE - FEHRKXTDRIE
the locations in which they operate. Contributions are made RAIFSEBEANEBRSLAE  URE
based on a percentage of the companies’ payroll costs and RRFTEEFRAKEMNTENORA - E
are charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss NEEGFAMNBRAZHE -

as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
central defined contribution retirement benefit plan.

Short term employee benefits HHEEREA

Short term employee benefit obligations are measured on an CHEERNEE NIRRT R EETH
undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service THREHEERERKII AR -

is provided.

A provision is recognised for the amount expected to be WMALSEREEREZRENRBEMASR
paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if REEZEHETEAZINEBeE B
the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to ZEMEETSEMET  AIRTERREBEREH
pay this amount as a result of past services provided by the ReREADAFE BTN & ERE
employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably. RAEH o

Termination benefits BEBEA

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when BREINNAEETEHOZERMNE
the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits 7B 3N &R B BE RS I A B AR AR A Y
and when the Group recognises restructuring costs involving BEAREAKEMEPREHNRFHER -

the payment of termination benefits.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O R SRR M & ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 # £2021F12831H IEFE

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING WETESTHBERE(E)
POLICIES (Continued)
Share-based payments B8 48 37 11

The Group operates share option schemes for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants
who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations.
Employees (including directors) of the Group receive
remuneration in the form of share-based payments, whereby
employees render services as consideration for equity
instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is
measured by reference to the fair value at the date on which
they are granted. The fair value is determined by an external
valuer using a binomial model.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative
expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at
the end of each reporting period until the vesting date
reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired
and the Group’'s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit
to the statement of profit or loss for a period represents the
movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the
beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group's best estimate of
the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.
Market performance conditions are reflected within the
grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an
award, but without an associated service requirement,
are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting
conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award and
lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there are
also service and/or performance conditions.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

| OF B 75 Rk MY 5E ()

Year ended 31 December 2021 #; £2021F12A31B It FE

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Share-based payments (Continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market
or non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as
vesting irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance
and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, the
minimum expense recognised is the expense as if the terms
had not been modified, if the original terms of the award are
met. An additional expense is recognised for any modification
that increases the total fair value of the equity-settled
transactions or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as
measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as
if it had vested on the date of cancellation and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled
award, and designated as a replacement award on the date
that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated
as if they were a modification of the original award, as
described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O R SRR M & ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 # £2021F12831H IEFE

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING LWEESTTHERBE(E)
POLICIES (Continued)
Borrowing costs BEHEEH

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs
in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. The
directors did not recommend the payment of dividend.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately
as a liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

Each entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency based on the assessment of its specific facts and
circumstances. Once the functional currency is determined,
it can be changed only if there is a change to the underlying
transactions, events and conditions. As the Group mainly
operates in Mainland China, RMB is used as the presentation
currency of the Group. Foreign currency transactions
recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded
using their respective functional currency rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of
the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement
or translation of monetary items are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Year ended 31 December 2021

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss with
the exception of monetary items that are designated as
part of the hedge of the Group’s net investment of a foreign
operation. These are recognised in other comprehensive
income until the net investment is disposed of, at which
time the cumulative amount is reclassified to the statement
of profit or loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to
exchange differences on those monetary items are also
recorded in other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated
in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item [i.e., translation difference on the
item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition
of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating
to an advance consideration, the date of initial transaction
is the date on which the Group initially recognises the
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple
payments or receipts in advance, the Group determines the
transaction date for each payment or receipt of the advance
consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries
are currencies other than RMB. As at the end of the
reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities
are translated into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing
at the end of the reporting period and their statements of
profit or loss are translated into RMB at the exchange rates
that approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the
transactions.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O R SRR M & ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 # £2021F12831H IEFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING WETESTHBERE(E)
POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued) 5hs (48)

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the translation
reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component
of other comprehensive income relating to that particular
foreign operation is recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated
into RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the
cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas
subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated
into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates for the
year.

. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in
the future.

190 YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD
ANNUAL REPORT 2021

B 0 B 362 B R0 2 T Mk 35 7R R R
PEEASNE R BB o EHEENE
BE AZBEESNLEEBNEBR
K 28 4 B R BN BB 2k o

BRanBEeRnERME  BHINFRAN
BenERELRSREEANERE
RMEBARE - BINTRAIZFERE
EENRERENREFNMEFIE
EMBELSARE -

. ERGETHE R MG

EEERNREASENYHERRE - B
HPA - RAX -BERAEREBEHN R
BER URIRAENREFELHE
B RBEE -BRZEFRIXLEFAEA
THEEEE AREREEXRRENRE
BARKKELERHAE -



3.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Year ended 31 December 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements:

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group applied the following judgements that significantly
affect the determination of the amount and timing of revenue
from contracts with customers:

Determining the method to estimate variable consideration
and assessing the constraint for the sale of dairy and
nourishment products

e Certain contracts for the sale of dairy and nourishment
products include a right of return that give rise to variable
consideration. In estimating the variable consideration,
the Group is required to use either the expected value
method or the most likely amount method based on which
method better predicts the amount of consideration to
which it will be entitled.

e Before including any amount of variable consideration
in the transaction price, the Group considers whether
the amount of variable consideration is constrained.
The Group determined that the estimates of variable
consideration are not constrained based on its historical
experience, business forecast and the current economic
conditions. In addition, the uncertainty on the variable
consideration will be resolved within a short time frame.
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Year ended 31 December 2021

3.

HE2021FE12A318 ILEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)
Property lease classification — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on
its investment property portfolio. The Group has determined,
based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the
arrangements, such as the lease term not constituting a
major part of the economic life of the commercial property
and the present value of the minimum lease payments
not amounting to substantially all the fair value of the
commercial property, that it retains substantially all the
significant risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
these properties which are leased out and accounts for the
contracts as operating leases.

Significant judgement in determining the lease term of
contracts with renewal options

The Group has several lease contracts that include extension
and termination options. The Group applies judgement in
evaluating whether or not to exercise the option to renew or
terminate the lease. That is, it considers all relevant factors
that create an economic incentive for it to exercise either
the renewal or termination. After the commencement date,
the Group reassesses the lease term if there is a significant
event or change in circumstances that is within its control
and affects its ability to exercise or not to exercise the
option to renew or to terminate the lease (e.g., construction
of significant leasehold improvements or significant
customisation to the leased asset].
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

| OF B 75 Rk MY 5E ()

Year ended 31 December 2021 & £2021F12A831H It F &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Classification between investment properties and owner-
occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualified as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making
that judgement. Investment property is a property held to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore,
the Group considers whether a property generates cash
flows largely independently of the other assets held by the
Group. If these portions could be sold separately or leased
out separately under a finance lease, the Group accounts
for the portions separately. If the portions could not be sold
separately, the property is an investment property only if
an insignificant portion is held for use in the production or
supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Variable consideration for returns

The Group estimates variable consideration to be included in
the transaction price for the sale of dairy and nourishment
products with rights of return.

The Group developed a statistical model for forecasting sales
returns. The model used the historical return data to come
up with expected return percentages. These percentages
are applied to determine the expected value of the variable
consideration. Any significant changes in experience as
compared to the historical return pattern will impact the
expected return percentages estimated by the Group.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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Year ended 31 December 2021

3.

HE2021FE12A318 ILEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Variable consideration for returns (Continued)

The Group updates its assessment of expected returns every
half year and the refund liabilities are adjusted accordingly.
As at 31 December 2021, the amount recognised as refund
liabilities was RMB17,548,000 for the expected returns and
trade discounts.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least
on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating units ("CGU"s) and also to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those
cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 December
2021 was RMB991,236,000 (2020: RMB991,236,000). Further
details are given in note 18.

Impairment of non-financial assets [other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets (including the right-
of-use assets) at the end of each reporting period. Indefinite
life intangible assets are tested for impairment annually and
at other times when such an indicator exists. Other non-
financial assets are tested for impairment when there are
indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset
or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount,
which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal
and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value less
costs of disposal is based on available data from binding
sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar
assets or observable market prices less incremental costs
for disposing of the asset. When value in use calculations
are undertaken, management must estimate the expected
future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit
and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows. Further details, including
a sensitivity analysis of key assumptions, are given in note 17
to the financial statements.
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3.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Year ended 31 December 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade receivables. The provision rates are based on ageing
of the balances for groupings of various customer segments
that have similar loss patterns [i.e., by customer type).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’'s
historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate
the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience
with forward-looking information. For instance, if forecast
economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic product] are
expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to
an increased number of defaults in the manufacturing sector,
the historical default rates are adjusted. At each reporting
date, the historical observed default rates are updated and
changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is
a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast
of economic conditions may also not be representative of
a customer’s actual default in the future. The information
about the ECLs on the Group's trade receivables is disclosed
in note 22 to the financial statements.

Useful lives, residual values and depreciation of items of
property, plant and equipment

The Group determines the estimated useful lives and related
depreciation charges for its property, plant and equipment.
This estimate is based on the historical experience of the
actual useful lives of property, plant and equipment of
similar nature and functions. The Group will revise the
depreciation charges where useful lives are different to
those previously estimated, or it will write off or write down
technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been
abandoned or sold. Actual economic lives may differ from
estimated useful lives; and actual residual values may differ
from estimated residual values. Periodic review could result
in a change in depreciable lives and residual values and,
therefore, depreciation expenses in the future periods.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O B SRR I RE ()

Year ended 31 December 2021

3.

HE2021FE12A318 ILEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant
management judgement is required to determine the amount
of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon
the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together
with future tax planning strategies.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is organised into business units based on their
products and services and has four reportable operating
segments as follows:

(a) Milk powder products — this segment includes the
development, manufacture and sale of milk powder
products in the PRC and overseas.

(b) Other milk powder products — this segment includes the
production and sale of base powder.

(c) Dissolvable products — this segment includes the
development, manufacture and sale of soymilk powder,

rice flour and cereal products.

(d

Other operations mainly include the sale of surplus raw
materials, and consigned processing operation. The
results of these operations are included in the “others”
column.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Year ended 31 December 2021

. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

For the purpose of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources among segments, the senior executive
management team assesses the performance of the
operating segments based on a measure of “reportable
segment profit”, i.e., “revenue less cost of sales and
The Group
does not allocate other income and gains, net finance costs,

allocated selling and distribution expenses”.

unallocated other expenses to its segments, as the senior
executive management does not use such information to
allocate resources to or evaluate the performance of the
operating segments. Segment assets and liabilities are
not regularly reported to the Group’'s senior executive
management and therefore information of reportable
segment assets and liabilities is not presented in these
financial statements.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with
reference to the selling prices used for sales made to third
parties at the then prevailing market prices.

b,

& Ot R IR R M A ()
HE2021F 1288 ILEE

REDHEN (&)
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B O B SRR I RE ()

Year ended 31 December 2021

HE2021FE12A318 ILEE

4L OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

b BEZBEN (B

Year ended 31 December 2021

BZE2021E12B31BILEE
Other milk
Milk powder powder Dissolvable
products products products Others Total
MBER HtlmBER HREMR Hit &5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBTn AR®Trn AR%Tn AR%ETn
Segment revenue (note 5) 7 & U A (Bt 2£5)
Sales to external customers  $HEFIHINLEF 3,650,352 438,353 221,221 124,774 4,434,700
Intersegment sales PEHEEE - 37,800 - = 37,800
3,650,352 476,153 221,221 124,774 4,472,500
Reconciliation: #5 -
Elimination of intersegment K5 SR S
sales - (37,800) - - (37,800)
Revenue @A 4,434,700
Segment results DHEE 260,532 (507) 12,725 40,452 313,202
Reconciliation: H
Finance income B 7 1L A 72,948
Finance costs (other BBRAN(TRERE
than interest on lease BEMNFEXH)
liabilities) (20,587)
Other income and gains Had A KW= 59,461
Unallocated other expenses K2 B A E i H (518,108)
Loss before tax B A& B (93,082)
Other segment information Hitp HER
Total depreciation and MeER#EHELEE
amortisation 86,433 32,369 14,776 31,000 164,578
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
CREE e A

Year ended 31 December 2021 #; £2021512A8318 I FE

4L OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 4 R&9IEHR (&)

Year ended 31 December 2020

BZE2020F 128318 IEFE
Other milk
Milk powder powder  Dissolvable
products products products Others Total
MMWER EMPHESD R E @ HAh & &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBFTT ARBTRT ARETT ARBTI ARE®TRT
Segment revenue [note 5) 7 & U A (Bt 2£5)
Sales to external customers HEFIINFRS 2,975,566 427,384 166,412 79,844 3,649,206
Intersegment sales 7 2 fE 8 = 111,714 = = 11,714
2,975,566 539,098 166,412 79,844 3,760,920
Reconciliation: A -
Elimination of intersegment HiEH HEHEE
sales - (111,714) - - (111,714)
Revenue FEU N 3,649,206
Segment results DHEE 313,442 31,367 39,512 (89,590) 294,731
Reconciliation: k-
Finance income B 75 W A 88,470
Finance costs (other BBRAN(TRERE
than interest on lease BEMFEXZ L)
liabilities) (12,921)
Other income and gains Had A KW= 102,039
Unallocated other expenses K2 B A E 1 H (342,640
Profit before tax B 4 A 129,679
Other segment information Hit o HEH
Total depreciation and mER#EHLEE
amortisation 73,253 68,505 9,012 4,658 155,428
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B O R SRR M & ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 & £2021F12A831H It F &

4 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 4 &2 &R (&)
Geographical information WEEHE
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMF T ARBTF T
Mainland China o3 A B 4,106,570 3,151,244
Overseas VG SN & 328,130 497,962
4,434,700 3,649,206
The revenue information above is based on the locations of FTHIRAGEUNREFPFEMRE S -
the customers.
Information about a major customer FEEFNER
Revenue of approximately RMB228,693,000 (2020: @ AR A R #228,693,0007T (2020
RMB353,831,000) was derived from sales by other milk £ AR #353,831,0007T) T3 5K &5 £ b 1
powder products segment to a single customer, including MEMOSBRE-—FFPNEE  BER
sales to a group of entities which are known to be under EHEZEPHRAEHN —EERBNE
common control with that customer. g o
5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA - Ht A Rk &=
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WADFTAT:
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE T AR T T
Revenue from contracts KEREFIIVER
with customers KA
Sale of goods 5 & B m 4,385,818 3,624,284
Consigned processing services ZEER NI RS 48,882 24,922
4,434,700 3,649,206
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
| OF B 75 Rk MY 5E ()

Year ended 31 December 2021 #; £2021F12A31B It FE

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA - U A Rz (4)

(Continued)

EEEERITISAKA

Revenue from contracts with customers

i) WAEEHA:

(i) Disaggregated revenue information:

UTIEM—RAEERERRTPE
TaRKADEBEEBHA:

Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from
contracts with customers to the amounts disclosed in the
segment information:

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BZ2021512A831BLEE
Other milk
Milk powder powder Dissolvable
products products products Others Total
mHER HUDBHER HREM HAt &5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FTR AR®BTn AR®Trn AR®Tn AR%®Trn
Segments ki)
Types of goods or services EmREER
Sale of goods HEEM 3,650,352 438,353 221,221 75,892 4,385,818
Consigned processing ZAERMIRH
services - - - 48,882 48,882
Total revenue from contracts KEEBFIIVAR
with customers N 3,650,352 438,353 221,221 124,774 4,434,700
Geographical markets i & 35
Mainland China AR B 3,611,723 228,698 221,221 44,928 4,106,570
Overseas & ah 38,629 209,655 - 79,846 328,130
Total revenue from contracts KIEEEF YA [
with customers FEE PN 3,650,352 438,353 221,221 124,774 4,434,700
Timing of revenue U A B SR R B
recognition
Goods transferred at a point ~ REHXEEY
in time 3,650,352 438,353 221,221 75,892 4,385,818
Services transferred at a A s B 58 A AR 75
point of time - - - 48,882 48,882
Total revenue from contracts KEERFIIVAR
with customers B A 3,650,352 438,353 221,221 124,774 4,434,700
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O B SRR I RE ()

Year ended 31 December 2021 & £2021F12A831H It F &

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA - U A Rz (4)

(Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) EEHERITIISHEKA ()
(i) WAEEEHMA: (&)

(i) Disaggregated revenue information: (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HZE20205 128318 L5
Other milk
Milk powder powder  Dissolvable
products products products Others Total
MHER EtthHESD O E Hit &5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARBTT AREFT ARBTRT ARETR
Segments P!
Types of goods or services EmR%EER
Sale of goods BEES 2,975,566 427,384 166,412 54,922 3,624,284
Consigned processing ZAERMIRS
services - - - 24,922 24,922
Total revenue from contracts KEEFR STV AR
with customers FEV N 2,975,566 427,384 166,412 79,844 3,649,206
Geographical markets it & 35
Mainland China AR K 2,905,787 12,398 165,895 67,164 3,151,244
Overseas i)\ 69,779 414,986 517 12,680 497,962
Total revenue from contracts KEBEER P EE
with customers FER N 2,975,566 427,384 166,412 79,844 3,649,206
Timing of revenue U@ 43
recognition
Goods transferred at a point  REHZZEEY
in time 2,975,566 427,384 166,412 54,922 3,624,284
Services transferred at a A B 25 5% 3K AR 75
point of time - - - 24,922 24,922
Total revenue from contracts KIEEEF V&R
with customers FEV N 2,975,566 427,384 166,412 79,844 3,649,206
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
Ot R R R M EE ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 #; £2021F12A31B It FE

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA - HUg A R4z (48)
(Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) KIEERERIIMERKA (M)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information: (Continued) (i) WAEEBHMA: (&)
The following table shows the amounts of revenue THRBEATIAREHANERN BB
recognised in the current reporting period that were BHEF VAR EE T &R E W
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of REORBAOEBOBRASRE:

the reporting period and recognised from performance
obligations satisfied in previous periods:

2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE T ARBTF T
Revenue recognised that was FUNERBEPERS
included in contract liabilities at HA N SR ) A
the beginning of the reporting
period:
Sale of goods HEEm 220,522 126,938
(ii) Performance obligations il ENHEH
Information about the Group’s performance obligations is AEENBAZHOT:
summarised below:
Sale of dairy and nourishment products HEIHmMNEEMm
Revenue from the sale of dairy and nourishment products HEARDNEZEEMHNRALE
is recognised at the point in time when control of the EEGHBREBRAEPAORNHEEER -
asset is transferred to the customer, generally on BAPRERMNIMRMEEME -
delivery of the dairy and nourishment products.
Consigned processing services ZEER NI RS
Revenue from the provision of consigned processing ZEERMMIRSE R H AT T &G
service is recognised when dairy and nourishment EEEMIMNEHER -

products are delivered.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O R SRR M & ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 # £2021F12831H IEFE

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA -~ HzUg A R4z (48)
(Continued)
An analysis of other income and gains is as follows: H A KRR SESTAT:
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R AR®F T
Other income and gains H A e A R &=
Gross rental income from investment R EHEHELZHE
property operating leases e WA
- Income relating to fixed — EEMEEKA
lease payments 11,234 9,816
Exempted accounts payable X E R B FE 1T BR X 7,998 5,849
Government grants B T 7 B
- Compensation for expenses —HEEEXHN
incurred HE 1,573 11,512
- Compensation for acquisition of —HBEAEMNME
assets 240 293
- Taxes refunded — R 778 944
Foreign exchange gains, net P 5 2= F 5 14,614 40,792
Others H it 23,024 32,833
59,461 102,039
6. OTHER EXPENSES AND LOSSES 6. HAiFX M X
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE T ARBTFT
Impairment of trademarks (note 17) 7 1% 8 B (B 5£17) 200,000 -
Impairment of inventories FEKELEHE 48,078 75,281
Donations 1B 1,934 21,388
Net loss on disposal of inventories FEmBEFELX 10,604 21,058
Net loss on disposal of non-current BEEIFRBEEFERX
assets 3,065 772
Others H 11,861 33,010
275,542 151,509
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7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B fF B 35 R R Y A ()

Year ended 31 December 2021 #; £2021F12A31B It FE

7. BRBLATE R

AEBOBI RN LR EMT

(crediting): P B IEBFTEMRS:
2021 2020
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B = ARB TR AR T T
Cost of goods sold BmHERAK 2,932,606 2,299,223
Cost of consigned processing services X & I RK A 42.073 16.150
2,974,679 2.318,373
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BERZETE
equipment 127,230 119,452
Depreciation of investment properties REMENE 4.567 3.882
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEESN 11.430 11.097
Amortisation of other HhIE R B & # H
non-current assets 2,045 3,616
Amortisation of intangible assets EREE®H 19.306 17.381
Total depreciation and amortisation FERBHEAR 164,578 155.428
Impairment of trademarks [ERES A1 200,000 -
Lease payments not included in the HEGBINEEER
measurement of lease liabilities 49,803 48,397
Auditor’s remuneration 1% 25 AT B & 3113 2923
Employee benefit expense (excluding EERAEB(TEREESER
directors’ and chief executive's F E/TEA B &
remuneration (note 9)): (Pt 5£9)) :
Wages, salaries and allowances TE  He&kEM 499.342 424,582
Termination benefits Bl B 78 (20 14,012 1028
Pension scheme contributions (defined b N e R e
contribution schemes)* (EBEHEREE) * 36,027 3,317
Equity-settled share-based payment MREEERHD MR X
expenses 640 (3,380)
550,021 425,547
Interest income B A (63,285) (78,208)
Other investment income Hipik & W & (9,588) (8,429)
Fair value gains on derivative instruments, $T4 & @ T & Qo B EZ
net & (75) (1,833)
Total financial income R TN (72,948) (88,470)
Impairment of trade and other B 5 & H fth FE K
receivables, net A FE K 2,669 3,758
Impairment of inventories GTEHBEER 6 48.078 75 281
Net loss on disposal of inventories FE®REFEK 6 10.604 21058

*

There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group as the

employer to reduce the existing leve

L of contributions.

*

A B W AE A E AR A BRI R A
MNARRFREFRAKE A BEL ZHK -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B O R SRR M & ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 # £2021512A318 L F &
8. FINANCE COSTS 8. BAEE A
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T AREET T
Interest on bank loans wholly repayable R AF AR EE D
within five years RITERHF A 20,587 12,921
Interest on lease liabilities HEBGENHNE 594 791
21,181 13,712
9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 9. EEREEAITEHTMHN
REMUNERATION

The Directors” and chief executive’s remuneration for the
years, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)

BB EE QR & DI E3831& (1)(a) » (b)
CMAOEE-_HFD BEREZTREZFH

(a), (b, (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Bev iR E8) - AT
Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about
Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T AREET T
Fees % 750 750
Other emoluments H B <
Salaries, allowances and Fe o EMK
benefits in kind B H = 3,889 2,653
Performance related bonuses EEEFHEMNED 6,968 6,300
Pension scheme contributions RIKEET &3 53 -
10,910 8,953
11,660 9,703
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
Ot R R R M EE ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 #; £2021F12A31B It FE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 9. EERERUTEHFMH(R)
REMUNERATION (Continued)
(a)Independent non-executive directors (QIBIERTES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors AEEINGBIFBTESNE
during the year were as follows: BT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBTF T
- Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben -REMEE 250 250
- Mr. Cheng Shoutai -EBSFREE 250 250
- Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway -FHEEHLEE 250 250
750 750
There were no other emoluments payable to the REEERXNGBIFNTES
independent non-executive directors during the year B9 B fth 7 B (20204 - £ ) -
(2020: nil).
(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors and (b)RITESR - FRTEENHBATE

the chief executive

Salaries, Performance Pension
allowances and related scheme Total
Fees benefits in kind bonuses  contributions remuneration
FE R HXEFE BRI
e REWAR Hie E FMes
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
2021 20214 AR¥ TR AR¥TR AR®Tn AR%TR AR%Txn
Executive directors UTES
- Mr. Yan Zhiyuan (i) (ii) —BEEI i) - 3,889 6,968 53 10,910
Non-executive directors FUTES
- Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu -EBHEE - - = = =
- Mr. Qin Peng -FEEE - - - - -
- Mr. Zhang Ping — 5k F Peter & A - - - = =
- Mr. Gu Peiji -BEBELE = = = = =
- 3,889 6,968 53 10,910
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O R SRR M & ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 # £2021F12831H IEFE

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 9. EEREEHITETHN(E)
REMUNERATION (Continued)
(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors and (b)RTTEE ERTEFHNEFRTE
the chief executive (Continued) (#)
Salaries, Performance Pension

allowances and
Fees  benefits in kind

Fe o 2H

related scheme Total
bonuses  contributions remuneration

BEEEE RAeHE

we REMF = MRE flt 3 EMas
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
2020 2020F AREFTT ARBTT ARETR AR¥®TT ARBTR
Executive directors HiTES
- Mr. Yan Zhiyuan (i) (i — B (i - 2,562 6,300 - 8,862
- Mr. Chopin Zhang (iii) — 5% ¥ Chopin % 4 (iii) = 9N - - 91
Non-executive directors FYTES
- Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu -EEREE - = = - -
- Mr. Qin Peng -ZEEE - - - - -
- Mr. Zhang Ping — 5K ¥ Peter & & - - - - -
- Mr. Gu Peiji -BERELE - - - - =
: 2,653 6,300 - 8,953
(i) On 8 January 2020, Mr. Yan Zhiyuan was appointed as the chief (i) 72020F1A8H  BEERELEELEETERE N
executive officer. T8 °
(ii) In 2021, Mr. Yan Zhiyuan has been granted certain units of shares and (ii) 2021F BEBREERETFRFILENR

share options by Mengniu Dairy under its share option scheme and
share award scheme. The amount of fair value amortisation of these
shares and share options granted to Mr. Yan Zhiyuan was RMB119,000
(31 December 2020: RMB695,000]. The remuneration relating to the
share options and shares granted to the directors is not included in
the above analysis.

(iii) On 8 January 2020, Mr. Chopin Zhang resigned as the chief executive (iii)
officer.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

| OF B 75 Rk MY 5E ()

Year ended 31 December 2021 #; £2021F12A31B It FE

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 0. E25R=aMEEE

The five highest paid employees during the year included
one director (2020: one), details of whose remuneration
are set out in note 9 (b) above. Details of the remuneration
for the year of the remaining four (2020: four) highest paid
employees who are neither a director nor chief executive of
the Company are as follows:

AEZRfI &S HFALHEIE— (2020
FOEF FHERFNMEEHND
REXHEIDLEE AFEXMNTE
f7(2020% : MGL)IFEE - FEF AT
EHRGHFSRITRAEBENMESMOT

2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T ARET T

Salaries, allowances and benefits in e EMEREMH S
kind 10,414 2,962
Performance related bonuses HEEABANES 7,993 11,955

Pension scheme contributions (defined & K& 5T 3 £ 3

contribution schemes) (EREHFEED 145 130
18,552 15,047

The number of the non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the
following bands is as follows:

MEI ARTARNFEEERIEER B
TEMNREHFHNESHBENT:

Number of employees

EEE®E

2021 2020

HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 75 192 500,001 7T &
76 #3,000,0007T - 1

HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 75 13,500,001 7T &
7 #4,000,0007T 1 1

HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 7 #4,500,0017T &
75 %5 000,0007T - 1

HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 75 #5,000,0017C &
76 5 500,0007T 2 =

HK$6,500,001 to HK$7,000,000 75 #6,500,001 7T &
7 %7 000,0007T - 1

HK$8,000,001 to HK$8,500,000 76 8,000,001 &
7 #8,500,000 7T 1 =
4 4
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O B SRR I RE ()

Year ended 31 December 2021 & £2021F12A831H It F &

11. INCOME TAX M. FEH
PRC income tax has been provided at the rate of 25% (2020:
25%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in the PRC
during the year. Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have
been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries

FRAEMSHREERFNEFHELEN
& 51 FE &R 708 A #225% (20204F : 25%)
R RETE -

H A 3 [ FE &R R s A B AR

ANBEASEKEMERR (RAEER)

(or jurisdictions) in which the Group operates. WIRITHEGFE -
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR T T
Current income tax BIVHA B 45 A% (4) 3,043
Deferred income tax AT 1S B (11,715) 25,555
Tax (credit)/charge for the year RNEEHRIE(ER), B (11,719) 28,598
A reconciliation of the income tax (credit)/charge applicable EFERER - BB ANE R &P BEE AT
to profit before tax at the PRC statutory income tax rate BRBEXTENMSHRER),BH -
and the income tax (credit)/charge at the Group's effective MR AEEERAMEHBEEATENAA
income tax rate for the year is as follows: SRR BR  HHROT:
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE T AR T
(Loss)/Profit before tax BrBEAT(B1B), i T (93,082) 129,679
At the PRC statutory tax rate of 25% 1R BE B E25%
(2020: 25%) (i) (20204 : 25%](i) (23,271) 32,420
Effect of opening deferred tax of MESHHFNRT
changes in tax rates FrIEHapEnTE = 1,095
Effect of non-deductible expenses AAMBAY AT E 1,242 975
Effect of tax rate differences (i) TR w52 2 (i) (18,009) (21,717)
Tax losses not recognised AR IAE B 50,994 38,467
Tax losses and unrecognised temporary 2 b 7 7k # 32 /&5 18 A1
utilised from previous periods TRMER (14,166) (15,769)
Tax effect of super deduction on e BREEMNN
research and development expenses Mg e (1,925) -
Effect of non-taxable income BB A K Z 2 (6,584) (6,873)
Tax (credit)/charge for the year atthe AFEZREBRH LT ED
effective rate BIEBGER), B A (11,719) 28,598
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Year ended 31 December 2021 #; £2021F12A31B It FE

11. INCOME TAX (Continued)

(i) Pursuant to the Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC

passed by the Tenth National People’s Congress on 16
March 2007 (the “Income Tax Law”), the statutory income
tax rate of the Group’s subsidiaries located in Mainland
China is 25%, except for Oushi Mengniu (Inner Mongolia)
Dairy Products Co., Ltd. ("Oushi Mengniu”) and Ya Ou
Duo (Inner Mongolia) Nutrition & Food Co., Ltd. (“Ya Ou
Duo”) which are subject to a preferential tax rate of 15%
in accordance with “The Notice of Tax Policies Relating
to The Implementation of Western China Development
Strategy”.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman
Islands and the British Virgin Islands (the "BVI’], the
Group is not subject to any income tax in the Cayman
Islands and the BVI.

The provision for Hong Kong profits tax for 2021 is
calculated at 16.5% (2020: 16.5%) of the estimated
assessable profit for the year.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of New Zealand,
Yashili New Zealand is subject to income tax at a rate of
28% (2020: 28%) in New Zealand.

. T8 % (&)

N REE+EEZBEBARRKRAERN

20073 H16B BB R(REAR LM
BexmEHRENFREBHZE]D &
EEARPEKNENNBE QRS
FE TSR R B25% o AR IEIRE DR
A B e 78 86K B B B RS 5 RE R AR IR
FEENBN] AEHEHRFI
ARERETRAA(RIHEFEF])FRK
SEHBMZEERMARAA(HE
BZ)ZEAI%NEEH X -

RERSHERABEZHS (R
BELEBDORERZEZR KK
BEACFNEHELEABRLHSE
BWAEAMAEHR -

AEB0X1FEENSHEBERRE
UAFEMHBFTFESIRar KR
16.5% (20204F : 16.5%) AU i R 5H38 -

BEFTABRROBTE R ER
B EETEENETF228%
(20204 : 28%) Y FT 8 FA T & o
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B O R SRR M & ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 & £2021F12A831H It F &

12. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO  12.

ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic (loss)/earnings per share
amount is based on the (loss]/profit for the year attributable
to ordinary equity holders of the parent, and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares of 4,745,560,296 (2020:
4,745,560,296) in issue during the year.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue
during the year ended 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020:
nil).

The calculations of basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per
share are based on:

BAREBERESEFAARGNER (B
B’) &F

FREXA(BR) /ANDREFAE
ARIEBEERBEARGBR) B
FIBR A S R B 31T & B A0 0 4 P 3 B
4,745,560,2960% (20204 : 4,745,560,296
B & -

AREEBEH E2021FE12A8318 |F - %K
MO E B R % 17(2020F12A318 ¢
/) o

AEEREAMEE(ER) BFER
ERT:

2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AR F T
(Loss)/earnings: (E18) &F :
(Loss)/profit attributable to ordinary AR EFRERRM
equity holders of the parent, used in #wE (8 BAK
the basic and diluted (loss)/earnings BARERERITAA
per share calculations FE(R (E518) % Fl (81,363) 101,081
Number of shares
vk =]
2021 2020
000 ‘000
T T A&
Shares: iR 9 :
Weighted average number of ordinary & & & % & A&
shares for the purpose of the basic #E (1) &
and diluted (loss)/earnings per share B AR Y E i AR
calculations I ¥ 2 4,745,560 4,745,560
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Year ended 31 December 2021

13.43% - BEKRE

HE201F1283BIEEE

Machinery Office
Freehold Plant and and Motor  equipment
land buildings  equipment vehicles  and others Total
BAER
BELit REREFT HBERRE BE®E HitR & &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
2021 20215 AR®TR AR%®Tn AR%Tn AR®Trx AR%®Tn AR%Txn
Cost: BA:
At 1 January 2021 R20211A1H 53,108 973,941 1,663,976 14,305 71,438 2,776,768
Additions NE - 5,237 34,059 326 12,102 51,724
Transfer from construction in BREAERIR
progress (note 14) (Bt 3£14) - 17,956 157,366 - 4,651 179,971
Transfers to investment BRERZRENE
properties (note 15) (Bt #515) - (13,052) - - - (13,052)
Disposals RE - (36,146) (16,728) (5,933) (2,251) (61,058)
Exchange realignment i & 3 & (3,945) (29,068) (61,576) (36) (505) (95,130)
At 31 December 2021 ©2021%12 8318 49,163 918,866 1,777,097 8,662 85,435 2,839,223
Accumulated depreciationand ~ R ERFME:
impairment:
At 1 January 2021 R2021E1A1H = (344,431) (841,223) (12,089) (48,558)  (1,246,301)
Depreciation provided during FRFROTE
the year (note 7) CE - (35,158) (78,251) (542) (13,279) (127,230)
Transfers to investment BERZRENE
properties (note 15) (B 5E15) - 9,901 - - = 9,901
Disposals RE - 21,824 10,290 5,441 2,557 40,112
Exchange realignment fExFHE - 5,076 17,630 34 273 23,013
At 31 December 2021 20214128318 = (342,788) (891,554) (7,156) (59,007)  (1,300,505)
Net carrying amount: REEE:
At 31 December 2021 20214128318 49,163 576,078 885,543 1,506 26,428 1,538,718
At 1 January 2021 R2021E1A1H 53,108 629,510 822,753 2,216 22,880 1,530,467
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Year ended 31 December 2021 & £2021F12A831H It F &

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

13. 9% - BMERRE (&)

Machinery Office
Freehold Plant and and Motor  equipment
land buildings  equipment vehicles  and others Total
HiNE
BELH BMEREFT HBERR KoE  HaR G
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
2020 2020F ARBTT ARBTR ARETRT ARETRT ARBTRT AR®ETR
Cost: BA:
At 1 January 2020 120201818 53,021 920,395 1,612,379 18,066 72,926 2,676,787
Additions NE = 840 57,983 - 6,698 65,521
Transfer from construction in BRATRIR
progress (note 14) (B E14) - 30,251 27,882 - 4,229 62,362
Transfer from investment BRERANMZE
properties (note 15) (Bf#E15) = 23,073 = = = 23,073
Disposals BE = (1,256 (35,603) (3,762) (12,426) (53,047)
Exchange realignment [ExFHE 87 638 1,335 1 1 2,072
At 31 December 2020 R2020€12A31H 53,108 973,941 1,663,976 14,305 71,438 2,776,768
Accumulated depreciationand ~ R EREE:
impairment:
At 1 January 2020 120201818 = (286,580 (779,305) (15,360 (45,873)  (1,127,118)
Depreciation provided during FRFRNTE
the year (note 7) CED - (40,852) (69,430) (313) (8,857) (119,452)
Transfer from investment HRERAME
properties (note 15) (B 5E15) - (17,331) - - - (17,331)
Disposals BE - 423 7,824 3,585 6,176 18,008
Exchange realignment [ & % - (91) (312) (1) (4) (408)
At 31 December 2020 12020512318 = (344,431) (841,223) (12,089) (48,558) (1,246,301)
Net carrying amount: BREEE:
At 31 December 2020 7®2020512A31H 53,108 629,510 822,753 2,216 22,880 1,530,467
At 1 January 2020 202014318 53,021 633,815 833,074 2,706 27,053 1,549,669

As at 31

December 2021, all the property, plant and

equipment of Yashili New Zealand Dairy Co., Limited (“Yashili
New Zealand”) amounting to RMB949,403,000 (31 December

2020: RMB953,783,000) were collateralised.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
Ot R R R M EE ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 #; £2021512A8318 I FE

14. CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS hWEZEEIR
2021 2020
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Mt = ARMF T AR T T
Cost N
At beginning of the year e 49,199 63,414
Additions 30 151,403 48,135
Transfer to property, EEEYE
plant and equipment BB K& 13 (179,971) (62,362)
Exchange realignment M % B (313) 12
At end of the year R E R 20,318 49,199
Carrying amount at 31 December ®12A31H A R M E 20,318 49,199
As at 31 December 2021, all the construction in progress 2021124310 - TAHILEEEA
of Yashili New Zealand amounting to RMB4,230,000 (31 R #4,230,0007C (2020F12 A31BE: A R
December 2020: RMB4,205,000) were collateralised. #4,205000D) M EZTREARERK
BR -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O R SRR M & ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 # £2021F12831H IEFE

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15. REY =
2021 2020
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
M 3 ARE T AR T T

Cost: RN
At beginning of the year REY 72,265 95,338
Transfer from property, plant and # 8 5 %) % - 13

equipment BB K& 13,052 =
Transfer to property, plantand B & F ¥z - 13

equipment BB K& - (23,073)
At end of the year R E R 85,317 72,265
Accumulated depreciation: EEtinE:
At beginning of the year R 7] (8,341) (21,790)
Charge for the year FAME 7 (4,567) (3,882)
Transfer from property, plant and # # 5 %) % - 13

equipment B K& (9,901) -
Transfer to property, plant and  E B =¥ % 13

equipment B R E - 17,331
At end of the year R E R (22,809) (8,341)
Carrying amount at end RERNEEEE

of the year 62,508 63,924

The Group’s investment properties consist of several units REBZREMEHCAPBEKE—E
and car parks in a commercial building in Mainland China. FIERESEEET RIEEAABRK -
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Year ended 31 December 2021 #; £2021F12A31B It FE

16. LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of plant and
buildings, machinery and equipment, motor vehicles used in
its operations. Lump sum payments were made upfront to
acquire the leased land from the owners with lease periods
of 50 years, and no ongoing payments will be made under
the terms of these land leases. Leases of plant and buildings
generally have lease terms between 3 and 6 years. Leases
of machinery and equipment generally have lease terms of
5 years, while motor vehicles generally have lease terms
between 2 and 4 years. Other equipment generally has lease
terms of 12 months or less and/or is individually of low value.
The lease contracts of buildings and machinery include
extension and termination options. Generally, the Group is
restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased assets
outside the Group.

(a) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets
and the movements during the year are as follows:

16. HE

ERERBEA

AEEREMERET  HERERE
EHREZEAEEAGR BB -RHEX
- BEHERROFNHEE L thE A
B RETHEREGRR KTe8BE
TR -BEEREFHNHEHNRABER
3EMF - HERREHEEHNRBER
5 ERRHNEEHNRABT R2E4
FoHMRBBBEHEHERR /N2 A
VB HEEFEERRE - HREBFR
WO HERBEHIRILEEZE - B
FoORERRFIESREZIERMNER
EHENEE -

el EREEE

AEENEREEENRESBAMN
RAMOMESERMT

Plant and Machinery and Motor Land use
buildings equipment vehicles rights Total
BEREF HBERRE ERgE tuwERE &5t
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTRT ARETRT AR%®TRI ARETR
As at 1 January 2020 B £2020F181H 23,749 1,923 1,359 85,628 112,659
Additions AL = = = - -
Depreciation charge RE (6,763) (1,280) (680) (2,374) (11,097
Exchange differences on MEBINEBM
translation of foreign &N EE
operations (55) (57) (30) = (142)
As at 31 December 2020 and B £2020512A318
1 January 2021 &2021F1 718 16,931 586 649 83,254 101,420
Additions AN 3,420 = - - 3,420
Depreciation charge I F (7,971) (488) (597) (2,374) (11,430)
Exchange differences on MEBIIEBH
translation of foreign X ER
operations (95) (98) (52) = (245)
As at 31 December 2021 B Z£2021%12831H 12,285 - - 80,880 93,165
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16. LEASES (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the
movements during the year are as follows:

16. & (&)

EREE A (W)

b)HEEE

AEENHEAENREEBEUR

RENZEFHBERMT :

2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T ARET T
Carrying amount at 1 January FURBmEE 19,539 28,049
New leases HiEHEE 3,379 =
Accretion of interest recognised RERERIE
during the year 594 791
Exchange differences on translation 2 % /8 /h ¥ 75 &)
of foreign operations M H =& (231) (137)
Payments > it (9,486) (8,701)
COVID-19-related rent concessions Z /5B £ %
from lessors - (463)
Carrying amount at 31 December FREBEE 13,795 19,539
Current portion STARE BE 6,575 8,839
Non-current portion SFAEREBEE 7,220 10,700

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in

note 38 to the financial statements.

(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to

leases are as follows:

HEREMIMAOT NP EHRERRN

38 EE

) AEEBRIHNHEEERBROT :

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMT T ARBFT

Interest on lease liabilities HEAGFEMNE 594 791

Depreciation of right-of-use assets {f FE&E E T & 11,430 11,097
Expense relating to short-term EHAEENHEEZR

leases 48,175 43,994
Expense relating to leases of REHENHEER

low-value assets 1,628 4,403
COVID-19-related rent concessions Z |15 @M HE < 2

from lessors — (463)

Total amount recognised & R@Et
in profit or loss 61,827 59,822
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Year ended 31 December 2021 #; £2021F12A31B It FE

16. LEASES (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(d) The total cash outflow for leases and future cash
outflows relating to leases that have not yet commenced
are disclosed in note 32 and note 34 respectively, to the
financial statements.

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note 15) of
commercial properties under operating lease arrangements.
The terms of the leases generally require the tenants to pay
security deposits and provide for periodic rent adjustments
according to the then prevailing market conditions. Rental
income recognised by the Group during the year was
RMB11,234,000 (2020: RMB9,816,000]).

At 31 December 2021, the undiscounted minimum lease
payments receivable by the Group in future periods under
non-cancellable operating leases with its tenants are as
follows:

16. & (&)

EREE A (W)

(dFAEHEENRSRAEARE XA
BHHENRARREREDAFER
B 33 320 Bff 5E34 o

ERHBEA

EEKEREEREMEDEEYE(H
FIBEMETRKREHE  c ZHHEKK
DRAEAMABAES  YRETMHBER
THAZHA: SEAFTFEIHEEK
A B A R #11,234,0007T (2020 : A B ¥
9,816,0007T) °

HZ22021F12A3NE  AEBEHBEFEE
AT REEEHEN AT RERA
EERAEWHRNOT

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T R AREBTT

Within one year —F LA 8,497 6,685
After one year but within two years —FUAEMENRA 6,451 6,151
After two years but within three years M TN E=FUR 1,856 4,242
After three years but within four years =% A P& AR 1,262 3,197
After four years but within five years MEA ERAFAR 920 2,654
After five years HEFEU E 371 2,436
19,357 25,365
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Year ended 31 December 2021 & £2021F12A831H It F &

17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

1NEBEEE

Software Trademarks Total
B e =
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
31 December 2021 2021512 A318 ME ARYTRT AR®TnR AR%® TR
Cost at 1 January 2021, net of FHFE
accumulated amortisation 62,494 283,047 345,541
Purchased BE 19,518 - 19,518
Disposals RE - - -
Amortisation provided NG
during the year 7 (19,306) - (19,306)
Impairment during the year ¢ AR B - (200,000) (200,000)
Exchange realignment P = & g (221) - (221)
At 31 December 2021 FRFE 62,485 83,047 145,532
At 31 December 2021 F R
Cost X 7R 132,457 283,047 415,504
Accumulated amortisation and R 5T ##H K& R E
impairment (69,972) (200,000) (269,972)
Net carrying amount FRFE 62,485 83,047 145,532
Software Trademarks Total
8 EEES & &F
Note RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
31 December 2020 20204F12 A318 Mz ARETFT ARBTT AR®TT
Cost at 1 January 2020, net of FUFE
accumulated amortisation 63,247 283,047 346,294
Purchased i 17,743 - 17,743
Disposals RE (1,119) - (1,119)
Amortisation provided NS s 7 (17,381) - (17,381)
during the year
Exchange realignment P& & % &) 4 - 4
At 31 December 2020 FRZFE 62,494 283,047 345,541
At 31 December 2020 FR
Cost X < 113,914 283,047 396,961
Accumulated amortisation Rt (51,420] - (51,420)
Net carrying amount FARFE 62,494 283,047 345,541

As at 31 December 2021, all intangible assets of Yashili New
Zealand amounting to RMB10,718,000 (31 December 2020:

RMB1,050,000) were collateralised.
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Year ended 31 December 2021 & £2021F12A831H It F &

17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

At 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the intangible
assets represented trademarks with indefinite useful lives
identified in acquisition, and purchased and customised
software held by the Group. Amortisation of the intangible
assets is included in “Administrative expenses”, “Selling and
distribution expenses” and “Cost of sales”.

Impairment testing of trademarks

In 2021, due to the change in branding strategy and under
performance of the Dumex infant formula products, the
directors determined to recognise an impairment lose of the
Dumex trademark of RMB200,000,000.

The recoverable amount of Dumex trademark has been
determined based on value-in-use calculation using cash
flow projection by reference to a five-year-period financial
budget prepared by management. The discount rate applied
to the cash flow projection is 14.00% (2020:16.02%) and the
growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flow beyond the
five-year period is 3% (2020:3%).

Assumptions were used in the calculation of value in use as
at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020. The following
describes key assumptions based on which management
prepared the cash flow projection to undertake impairment
testing of trademarks:

17. BB E (&)

2021412 A318 k2020612 4318 - &
WEERWESIANNEMS T
ENRAEMBERTROBAEERSA
M - BB E#EHE D ATTHHA
X THERKHEASX I RIEERAK] -

o 45 (E R Bt

20214 » B M e BBE BIE A R B X
HEDRETNMHERNREIE E
BERTRRBESILZARHEARE
200,000,0007C ©

EZNARE B NKEERE B AN
hFEUBRBEEXRTBAAEE  KARE
MERANGEMSNEREETUETE -
IR & m = 78 R Y B3R X 514.00% (2020
F:16.02%) c AREERFH 2 ERE
MEMIE R RKA3% (20204 : 3%) °

£ 5 #2021 12 8318 K 2020128318
HiFEFAEEREBETRE BEREEXE
#HIR & W = T8 B 1T R AR R B R & P AR
BOEEBERFLOT:
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O R SRR M & ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 # £2021F12831H IEFE

17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 7. B EE (&)

Impairment testing of trademarks (Continued) AR E R (]|)

a) Budgeted gross margin — The basis used to determine a) FEENX-BAREETHEEENX
the value assigned to the budgeted gross margin is the BENEEDNEEZRBEFEN
average gross margin achieved in prior historical years, ZEEFHEMNE  ITEAERETH
adjusted for the expected efficiency improvements and BEIR A R TE BB A E K AN 0 T A
expected increase in production costs. I EE o

b) Discount rate — The discount rate used is before tax and b) HREX-—FANBRERDB AL R B
reflects specific risks relating to the relevant CGU. FRBReELENNEERR

c) Growth rate — The growth rate used to extrapolate the d BMEX-AREERFHUER 2
cash flows beyond the five-year period is based on the MEWMERE - JJUMBFEEEAR
estimated growth rate taking into account the industry EE WERTELRE BEK
growth rate, past experience and the medium or long BREEBERcsELEEMNPRAE R
term growth target of the relevant CGU. BERstEmE-

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market ARG ERER  THREMR

development of dairy products, discount rates and raw MEBERESNEZHREZEMEHIE

materials’ price inflation are consistent with external B RIR— 2 e

information sources.

18. GOODWILL 18. B8
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARBTF T
Carrying amount at 1 January and 31 M1A1EFMI12A318 K

December RHEEMA 991,236 991,236
In 2015 and 2016, the Group acquired a subsidiary 20154 M20164F » ANEE D B U i —
respectively, the acquisition gave rise to goodwill of FRAF BEEEHEARME272760,000

RMB272,760,000 and RMB718,476,000. JT R A R #718,476,0007T °
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Year ended 31 December 2021 & £2021F12A831H It F &

18. GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is
allocated to the following cash-generating unit for
impairment testing which is in line with the way in which the
Company manages its business:

e Milk powder products cash-generating unit group

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the milk powder
products cash-generating unit group is RMB991,236,000.

The recoverable amount of the milk powder products
cash-generating unit group has been determined based
on value in use calculation using cash flow projection by
reference to a five-year-period financial budget by prepared
management. The discount rate applied to the cash flow
projection is 15.90% (2020: 15.81%). The growth rate used to
extrapolate the cash flows of the milk powder products CGU
beyond the five-year period is 3% (2020: 3%]).

Decrease in the growth rate by 2% would cause the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to decrease
by approximately RMB1,143,699,000. Decrease in the gross
margin by 2% would cause the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit to decrease by approximately
RMB1,132,554,000. Increase in the discount rate by 3% would
cause the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to
decrease by approximately RMB1,098,098,000. In the opinion
of the Company’s directors, any reasonably possible change
in the key assumptions on which the recoverable amount is
based would not cause the cash-generating unit's carrying
amount to exceed its recoverable amount.

18. & (&)

P8R E AR

BAEBAWELNBEREBEEEREE
BROARABIEINNTReELETA
& DA OB E R -

s IMERRETEHLENES

ORI MHERBESESLEMNALSD
BE A A R%991,236,0007T °

MHERBRSEREMAGTIRE 5
A EEEH ENAFHREZEXTE
A eEREE KRARSRERAFEMNS
MEREBETUETE REREFEINH
A5 18 & 515.90% (20204 : 15.81%) » F
REERFH2ARSRENERERA
3% (20204 : 3%) °

WABERTE200BRLT  hHE
MREEHETAANATRDE S E K
T A R #1143,699,0007T @ & £ | X
THR2%WMBERT IHERRESED
BFErxHemmkoOeEETRARE
1,132,554,0007C * £ X £ F3% W 1B
AT PHERREELBETLHEANA
Ue ol < 58 #8 T % A R #1,098,098,0007T °
ARREEERAE GEHEFREER
RANETRILNETMAELNSEE
HHEAN HILTSERNHERRSE
PENHEHANEEEERERETKE
B o
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O B SRR I RE ()

Year ended 31 December 2021

HE2021FE12A318 ILEE

18. GOODWILL (Continued)

19.

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

Assumptions were used in the value in use of calculation as
at 31 December 2021 and 2020. The following describes the
key assumptions, based on which management prepared
cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing of
goodwill:

a) Budgeted gross margin — The basis used to determine
the value assigned to the budgeted gross margin is the
average gross margin achieved in prior historical years,
adjusted for the expected efficiency improvements and
expected increase in production costs.

b) Discount rate — The discount rate used is before tax and
reflects specific risks relating to the relevant group of
CGU.

c)] Growth rate — The growth rate used to extrapolate the
cash flows beyond the five-year period is based on the
estimated growth rate taking into account the industry
growth rate, past experience and the medium or long
term growth target of the relevant CGU.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market
development of dairy products, discount rates and raw
materials’ price inflation are consistent with external
information sources.

18. & (&)

8 R E A (|)

£ 5t B 20214 K2020%12 A318 & & A
BEENKEKBETRR TEEEERS
REBANETEERENSAMKED
FERKZFMRWOT

a) MEEME — AREEREENX
BB EET R E S
2% FEFIE 3 B 6 A
B 1R I T8 B0 4 7 AR A B 07 T L
e

b) #IEE — B YT KT AL R
ARRSELENMNEERR -

) BEX — ARNHELFHURR S
MEMBERX  DUMGAERXRS
EE PTEFETREBEREX BELK
BRLERECELBEUPRBER
BRstEmME -

AERAMEMMEERBERL  IREXMER
MHEREHHEERKROEEEINE
E287 % = G

DEBT INVESTMENTS AT AMORTISED COST 19. UEBR R ATENEERE
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T ARET T
Debt investments EHERE 24,532 =

As at 31 December 2021, the Group's debt investments
were mainly financial products purchased from bank with
good credit rating, which were classified and measured at
amortised cost, as the contractual cash flows are solely
collection of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding. The Group plans to hold it till maturity, with an
expected annual interest rate of 4.18%.
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20. DEFERRED TAX

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Year ended 31 December 2021

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during

the year are as follows:

& Ot R IR R M A ()
HE2021F 1288 ILEE

20, 3E FE F 18

ENEEFEHEEENABENED
m

3 (=]
Deferred tax assets BERBVAE
Impairment Tax losses Accruals Others Total
EEHE REER ARER Hit At
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Pt &% ARBFRT ARETE ARETR ARBTT ARET:
At 1 January 2021 R2021%F1 818 9,221 224,449 118,020 19,305 370,995
Deferred tax credited to the FRARBRERIA
statement of profit or loss MR ET R
during the year " 1,573 56,741 (41,314) (2,325) 14,675
Charged to other comprehensive ~ Hft 2 AW ER
income % & - (3,301) - - (3,301)
At 31 December 2021 R2021F12 4318 10,794 277,889 76,706 16,980 382,369
At 1 January 2020 R2020%14318 16,083 130,169 218,909 20,551 385,712
Deferred tax credited to the FRARBRERA
statement of profit or loss IR E B IR
during the year " (6,862) 94,221 (100,889) (1,246) (14,776)
Charged to other comprehensive ~ EfZ2EKER
income %K - 59 - - 59
At 31 December 2020 R2020%12 3180 9,221 224,449 118,020 19,305 370,995
Deferred tax liabilities BIEFIFRMAR
Accelerated
depreciation
Interest  of property,
income plant and
accruals equipment Others Total
EHERA ETEEM
BER B E Hit Ch
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
P 5% ARETT AREBTR ARETT ARBT:
At 1 January 2021 R2021F1 818 10,638 9,406 31 20,075
(Credited)/charged to the statement of FRNRERKRFTATNR
profit or loss TR B 1 (6,588) 9,548 - 2,960
At 31 December 2021 ®2021F12 8318 4,050 18,954 31 23,035
At 1 January 2020 20201818 9,265 - 31 9,296
Credited to the statement of FRRERRIARNER
profit or loss ER A " 1,373 9,406 = 10,779
At 31 December 2020 ®2020%12A318 10,638 9,406 31 20,075
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O R SRR M & ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 # £2021F12831H IEFE

20. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 20 3B FE B IE (&)

Deferred tax liabilities [Continued) EEFSRARE(E\E)
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T

Represented by: HA a4

- Deferred tax assets —RERIEBEEE 382,369 370,995
- Deferred tax liabilities —REFHIBEAE (23,035) (20,075)
359,334 350,920

As at 31 December 2021, all the deferred tax assets of Yashili
New Zealand amounting to RMB35,904,000 (31 December
2020: RMB26,921,000) were collateralised.

Management expects that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which the above tax losses and
deductible temporary differences can be utilised in the
coming years.

The Group has tax losses arising in New Zealand of
RMB129,814,000 on which deferred tax assets have been
recognised (31 December 2020: RMB96,145,000) that are
available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable
profits of the companies in which the losses arose.

The Group also has tax losses arising in China of
RMB998,330,000 on which deferred tax assets have been
recognised (31 December 2020: RMB797,872,000]. The tax
losses arising in Mainland China will expire in one to five
years for offsetting against future taxable profits. The tax
losses arising in Hong Kong are available indefinitely for
offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in
which the losses arose.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
the following items:

2021124318 - TAHILEEE A
R #35,904,0007T (2020512 A31H : AR
#26,921,00070) AR RE B 18 & E AR K
PR AR o

EEEEHRARFERAELERRN
FE - AR IAE N b A E g5 18 KR AT
MEREER -

AREBRHABRELENREEBEARE
129,814,000 E 52 ik (E 7 18 & /&= (2020
F12A318 : A R #96,145,0007T) » A &
REFIEE BB RARIMARREHREF -

REBRFRELENHREAEBEAAR
#998,330,000/t E MR IE L T 1H & &=
(2020128318 : A K 797,872,000
TT)e RABERKEEEAMNHBEBER
—ZRFEm AEBERREFREF -
REBEENHEBEITERBRBE
EIEEBIBHNARRRRERB AT -

BEXERBEEL R TFIEB R

2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMF T AR T T
Tax losses arising in China (i) R EEER

BIA E R ) 1,169,740 1,892,426

Tax losses arising in New Zealand (ii) REAFEEED
1 I8 I8 18 (i) 398,021 324,043
1,567,761 2,216,469
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

| OF B 75 Rk MY 5E ()

Year ended 31 December 2021 & £2021F12A831H It F &

20. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities (Continued)

() The above tax losses arising in Mainland China are
available for a maximum of five years to offset against
future taxable profits of the companies in which the
losses arose. The above tax losses arising in Hong Kong,
are available indefinitely for offsetting against future
taxable profits of the companies in which the losses
arose.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect
of the above item as it is not considered probable that
there will be taxable profit available to offset against the
tax losses in the future.

(ii) The above tax losses are available indefinitely for
offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies
in which the losses arose.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect
of the above item as it is not considered probable that
there will be taxable profit available to offset against the
tax losses in the future.

The following deferred tax liabilities have not been
recognised in respect of the following item:

At 31 December 2021, temporary differences relating to
the undistributed profits of the subsidiaries established in
Mainland China amounted to RMB906,313,000 (31 December
2020: RMB666,429,000). Deferred tax liabilities have not been
recognised in respect of the withholding tax that would be
payable on the distribution of these retained earnings, as the
Company controls the dividend policy of these subsidiaries in
Mainland China and the directors have determined that these
profits are not likely to be distributed in the foreseeable
future.

20, 3R € 15 77 (&)
iR BE P 5 R AR ()

i) P REBEEEPRPEREELEN
MEEETANERELARNELER
BRERBANBZRZHF - LA
BEEREAELANNEBAERAIE
REEEEB QRN RKEGEF -

LR BENELERBEEL KT
NHER RARAEB AARGEHEE
R R FE AR BN B A DA K 85 K By A B
HIEE o

li) EAi R IEE B A AR BB 1B
A H) R R FE B A o

RERRENREEHBEEL KT
NER  RARASETAAERSE
ARBERRNBERAEE RS AHR
HER -

AEANELEHEEE:

72021612 4318 » B2 78 B K FE A A2
T RRIMADREFBEREEEZE
B ARM906,313,0007T (2020412 A31
B: AR666,4290007T) c BHRAKRD T
EHESERBRAEST Q86K BE K
R VHEFCHEERATROBREF
BrEW Ol MABERRN SRS
BEABNEZHMNERERBE
ERHIEEE -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B O R SRR M & ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 # £2021F12831H IEFE
21. INVENTORIES 0. F7E
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET R AREET T
Finished goods X & 299,925 483,555
Raw materials & %4 261,370 359,722
Work in progress E A 219,108 109,328
Packing materials BEME 32,366 29,767
Low-value consumables KEEHE R 3,201 2,388
815,970 984,760

As at 31 December 2021, all the inventories of Yashili New
Zealand amounting to RMB93,113,000 (31 December 2020:
RMB202,258,000) were collateralised.

22. TRADE RECEIVABLES

R2021F12A831H  FTABIAEEE A
R #93,113,0007T (2020F12 A31H : A R
#202,258,0007T) W 17 & A 70 3K # =X i
R o

22. B B

2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARE T ARET T

Trade receivables 2 5 WK 426,513 103,219
Provision for impairment B g (11,783) (12,053)
414,730 91,166

The Group normally allows a credit limit and credit term to
its customers which are adjustable in certain circumstances.
The Group’s trade receivables relate to a large number
of diversified customers, and there is no significant
concentration of credit risk. Trade receivables are non-
interest-bearing.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

| OF B 75 Rk MY 5E ()

Year ended 31 December 2021 #; £2021F12A31B It FE

22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of
loss allowance, is as follows:

2.ESRERF(E)

REB|EHR - EINRR B E ORI R KR
HEAHOREITAOT

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARE T ARETF T

Within 3 months =@ AR 365,080 80,472
3 to 6 months =Z=-~EA 46,198 8,817
6 months to 1 year NEAE—F 2,679 1,407
1 to 2 years —FEMF 773 470
414,730 91,166

As at 31 December 2021, all the trade receivables of Yashili
New Zealand amounting to RMB52,152,000 (31 December
2020: RMB60,507,000) were collateralised.

Except for the amounts disclosed above, the amounts are
unsecured and non-interest-bearing.

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of
trade receivables are as follows:

R2021F12A318 FTAHAEEEA
R #52,152,0007T (2020512 A31H : A B
#60,507,0007C ) &9 & 5 & U 3k A 7K 7
R EAR o

Bl erEs BEZRERERTRR

B o
/Tn

BB BERENEZZHMT

2021 2020

Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR¥T R ARBT T

At beginning of year 4 9] 12,053 11,982
Impairment losses, net WEBKFHE (270) 71
At end of year R E R 11,783 12,053

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on the ageing of the balances
for groupings of various customer segments with similar loss
patterns [i.e., by customer type). The calculation reflects the
probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and
reasonable and supportable information that is available at
the reporting date about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions.

SEBSEHSEAEEEELETRE
SHF U BEEEAEL BREE
RABELBABANSAES RGOS
BMEESER)NERRE - Rt E
BT S A R - T B A A
RBEEHTESOBARBESEN ¥
A1 S0 SR SR S R R A M &2 B
XEMBE -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O B SRR I RE ()

Year ended 31 December 2021 & £2021F12A831H It F &

22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 2. B Z W (&)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a provision

matrix:

7R BB 5N IR R R 5
RBEHELAHIMT

Ageing
BR
Less than 1to2 Over
1 year years 2 years Total
As at 31 December 2021 M2021512A318 —FURN —FEWMF WMFUE Bt
Expected credit loss rate TEHERBELRX 1% 83% 100%
Gross carrying amount EEREEE
(RMB'000) (AR®T7T) 420,121 4,425 1,967 426,513
Expected credit losses BHEREBEX
(RMB’000] (ANR®FT) 6,164 3,652 1,967 11,783
Ageing
AR e
Less than 1to2 Over
1 year years 2 years Total
As at 31 December 2020 2020612 H31RH —FURN —FERMF WFUE Bz
Expected credit loss rate REHERABEAX 9% 83% 100%
Gross carrying amount REREEE
(RMB’000] (ANR®FT) 99,5632 2,789 898 103,219
Expected credit losses BHEREBX
(RMB’000) (AR T 7T) 8,836 2,319 898 12,053
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
Ot R R R M EE ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 #; £2021512A8318 I FE

23. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER 23.FE{t&1E - Hitt EREBER HtE

ASSETS =3
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARBTF T
Tax recoverable T8 e B AR 29,980 37,547
Prepayments of expenses T E AR 24,671 22,358
Prepayments for raw materials BB E RME 8B R 23,988 71,900
Advances to sales offices Bag BB R & 4,345 4,555
Interest receivable JE W T B — 10,220
Others H 27,683 28,205
110,667 174,785
Less: Non-current prepayments B : —F U EH REBFHE R (1,011) (403)
Impairment allowance B 41 (2,137) (2,637)
107,519 171,745
As at 31 December 2021, all the prepayments, other 2021512 H31H - TEMILEEEA
receivables and other assets of Yashili New Zealand R #18,508,000 T (202012 A31H : AR
amounting to RMB18,508,000 (31 December 2020: #16,838,0007T) Y TE 1t 3R I8 - E ftb & X
RMB16,838,000) were collateralised. RELREMEERRBERKER -
Except for the amounts disclosed above, the amounts are br Lt & 5N - TERFRIE - H A BUK
unsecured, non-interest-bearing and have no fixed terms of EHEEMWEELEBHERBRLEE &
repayment. BFEERBA -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O R SRR M & ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 # £2021F12831H IEFE

24, 0THER CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS/ UHMREEMEE EEMRTE
STRUCTURAL BANK DEPOSITS ES

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARET ARET T

Structural bank deposits (i) 45 18 M AR 1T 17 SR A) - 101,764
Commercial bank wealth EERTHETERE

investment products (ii) &= i) - 20,000

Bills receivable (iii)(iv) JE Uk 22 4% (i) (iv) 93,865 =

93,865 121,764

(i) At 31 December 2021, the Group has no structural bank
deposits (31 December 2020: RMB101,764,000 out of which
RMB100,000,000 were pledged for bank loans).

(i) At 31 December 2021, the Group has no bank
wealth management products (31 December 2020:
RMB20,000,000).

(iii)At 31 December 2021, the Group’'s bills receivable
amounting to RMB93,865,000 were measured at fair value
through profit or loss.

(iv]At 31 December 2021, all the bills receivable of Yashili
New Zealand amounting to RMB92,885,000 were
collateralised.
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1S £hH
B o
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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Year ended 31 December 2021 #; £2021512A8318 I FE

25. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

26,

B.ITEEMIA

2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE T AR T T
Assets Liabilities Assets  Liabilities
BE af&E BE BE
Foreign currency forward EHINE S L
contracts 1,901 407 2,175 262

As at 31 December 2021, all the derivative financial assets
of Yashili New Zealand amounting to RMB1,901,000(31
December 2020: RMB2,175,000) were collateralised.

The Group has foreign currency forward contracts with
a bank to manage its exchange rate risk. These forward
contracts are not designated for hedging purposes and are
measured at fair value through profit or loss.

CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND OTHER
DEPOSITS

2021128318 - TAHILEEEA
R #1,901,0007T (20204E12 A31H: A B
2175000 M TE e MEE AR K
Pk AR o

AEBREREXRER BETIILE

HISNE SR - ZEHAHYLIFHEE HF
R YRAREBEFABGZTE -

B.RERBITEBRREBESER

2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE T AR T T
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in A IR & RE XY
the consolidated statement of cash RELREZFED
flows 1,529,931 1,818,288
Pledged deposits = PR 1 & #R 17 17 3K 90,354 150,261
Time deposits with original maturity of R X HH A =1E 8
more than three months MA £ B 77 K 965,674 998,634
2,585,959 2,967,183
Less: Short-term pledged deposits for & : SR1T @& 2
banking facilities REZRBAFX 90,354 150,261
Less: Long-term bank deposits B REIRITE K 370,558 736,004
Cash and bank balances as stated in the & #f 81 # ik %t & Fr %1l
consolidated statement of financial R e RIRITH R
position 2,125,047 2,080,918
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O R SRR M & ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 # £2021F12831H IEFE

26. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND OTHER WIHRERBITEBRREEFSER(E)

DEPOSITS (Continued)

2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARBFT

The above balances denominated in: AT EENERNR S

MR 1T 4 8%

-RMB - AR¥ 2,499,407 2,505,205
-Hong Kong dollar ("HKD") — B 10,415 160,811
-United States dollar (“USD") - %7 33,332 151,915
-New Zealand dollar (“NZD") — i 30,683 116,101
-European dollar ("EUR") — BT 1,956 26,322
-Australian dollar ("AUD") — BT 10,166 6,829
2,585,959 2,967,183

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies.
However, under Mainland China’'s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at the prevailing market
interest rates. As at 31 December 2021, the effective
annual interest rates of short-term time deposits were
approximately 2.20% to 4.18% (31 December 2020: 1.93%
to 4.18%), which would be due within a year. The effective
interest rate of long-term deposits was 3.65% to 3.95% (31
December 2020: 3.14% to 4.18%). The bank balances and
pledged deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with
no recent history of default.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

| OF B 75 Rk MY 5E ()

Year ended 31 December 2021 #; £2021F12A31B It FE

26.CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND OTHER

DEPOSITS (Continued)

As at 31 December 2021, the long-term bank deposits
amounting to RMB50,000,000 and the short-term bank
deposits of RMB20,000,000 were pledged for bank loans
amounting to RMB120,556,000 (31 December 2020:
RMB146,000,000).

As at 31 December 2021, the short-term bank deposits
amounting to RMB20,354,000 were pledged for bank
acceptance bills (31 December 2020: RMB29,369,000).

As at 31 December 2021, no deposits were pledged for letters
of credit (31 December 2020: RMB4,476,000).

As at 31 December 2021, the long-term bank deposits
amounting to RMB20,000,000 and the short-term bank
deposits of RMB50,000,000 were pledged for banking
facilities (31 December 2020: long-term bank deposits
of RMB44,892,000 and short-term bank deposits of
RMB130,000,000 were pledged for banking facilities).

As at 31 December 2021, all the bank deposits of Yashili New
Zealand amounting to RMB31,707,000 (31 December 2020:
RMB112,956,000) were collateralised.

As at 31 December 2021, the bank deposits of Dumex
amounting to RMB50,000,000 (31 December 2020: nil) were
collateralised.

BHEERBTEHKRREBEEFR(E)

MR2021F12A31H B & A AR
50,000,000 I R ISR ITER R A RE
20,000,0007T A 52 BR 4R 17 17 3X 1% & 38 A
R EE A K %120,556,0007C ) R 17 & &
(722020128318 « A K ¥146,000,000
JL) °

R2021F12831H B & A AR
20,354,0007T M9 52 BR R 1T 17 SR W 1E & 5
BRTEEEZNRES (2020912
A318 : AR #29,369,0007T) °

MR2021F12831H » BT FERWIEAE
MEAEEHABZNRES(FR2020F12A31
B: AR%4,476,0007T) ©

R2021F12R8318 BB AR ARE
20,000,000t KR L ITHE R MAREK
50,000,0007T # %5 H7 4R 17 77 3% A 70 K #f
LAERUIR 2 58 E (R2020F12 A31H » 42
SR A ANRALL892,0005T B K H R 17
17 Z A0 A R #130,000,0007T #) 42 21 R 17
BRRARNERAERZERAE) -

R2021F12831H TR EIAEEEA
R #31,707,0007T (20205F12 318 : A B
#5112,956,00070 ) &9 4R 17 77 30 A A 1K 17
IR o

R2021F128318 22 EE AR
50,000,0007T (202012 A318 : £ ) /) iR
THEFREAREE R IER -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O R SRR M & ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 # £2021F12831H IEFE

27. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES .EZRARERE
An ageing analysis of trade and bills payables as at the end NSRS AEERBEEZAHNE
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as SERNALZBENRRONOT
follows:
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T R AREBTT
Within 3 months =B ANRK 698,714 598,593
3 to 6 months =@ A= ~EA 21,143 70,755
More than é months ~E A E 94,028 28,704
813,885 698,052
Trade payables, including amounts due to related parties, BoEMNK  SFENEES RN
are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled within one RTFRE— MR —ZE=ZEARNEEHE -
month to three months.
28. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS BHMESREEGER
2021 2020
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
B &£ AR® TR ARBTT
Accrued expenses FEIREH 63,516 265,258
Contract liabilities &R &EE (a) 160,033 220,522
Accrued payroll it H < 106,761 173,273
Payables for constructions of FER TR
property, plant and equipment 65,278 83,882
Guarantee deposits from W EFHRE
customers 75,645 69,501
Other tax payables H b fE R 1B 47,374 8,842
Interest payable & £ F & 1M1 1,892
Others H A 50,510 127,821
569,228 950,991
Note: Bt 5
(a] Details of contract liabilities are as follows: (a) ERAEGBEFBEET:
31 December 31 December 1 January
2021 2020 2020
20214 20204 20204
128318 124318 1A18
RMB’000 RMB"000 RMB'000
AR¥ TR ARETF T ARBTF T
Short-term advances received from customers V@& I=N:0p B % o]
Sale of goods 55 7 @ 160,033 220,522 126,938
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Ot R R R M EE ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 #; £2021512A8318 I FE

29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 29. 5H SR 1T R HL AR5 K
BORROWINGS
As at 31 December 2021 As at 31 December 2020
M2021F128318 72020512 A31H
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
(%) Maturity RMB’000 (%) Maturity RMB'000
ERFAE% IHERE AR®TT ZHRAEX% HER ARBTT

Current B

Bank loans — secured RITER—FEA 2.55 to0 2.80 2022 120,556  2.60 to 3.22 2021 326,664

Credit loans EREXR 3.30 2022 200,202 LIBOR+1.20 2021 39,193

320,758 365,857
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARB TR ARBF T
Bank loans denominated in RITER
-RMB —-RAAR®EE 320,758 326,664
-UsD —AETTEE - 39,193
320,758 365,857
As at 31 December 2021, the time deposits amounting to MR2021F12A31R - B2 B AAREK
RMB70,000,000 were pledged for bank loans amounting 120,556,000 &) R 1T BE A A B
to RMB120,556,000 (31 December 2020: time deposits 70,000,0007T M R 1717 ;R #E 77 & B (R
amounting to RMB96,000,000 were pledged for bank loans 20206F12A31B: 2 @ 8 »B A R &
amounting to RMB178,450,000). 178,450,0007T #) SR 17T B K A A B %
96,000,000 T W R ITIF FKAETE ) -

As at 31 December 2021, no bank loans were pledged with MR20214F12A318 - EEITE R UL E
structured deposits and bank deposits (31 December 2020: METF ROR IR 17 17 5K 8 17 E 37 (7220204
structured bank deposits amounting to RMB100,000,000 and 12A31B - & 25R” A K 148,214,000
time deposits amounting to RMB50,000,000 were pledged for JL R R 77 B B A A R #100,000,0007T /9
bank loans amounting to RMB148,214,000). % F A A R %50,000,0007T &9 R

TEFETER) -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B O B SRR I RE ()

Year ended 31 December 2021

30. DEFERRED INCOME

HE2021FE12A318 ILEE

30. 3E FE W 55

2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE T AR T T
As at beginning of the year F )& R 9,200 3,477
Received for the year F RN E 1,114 6,000
Amortisation for the year F A (240) (277)
As at end of the year F R 4R 10,074 9,200
31. SHARE CAPITAL KJ N
Number of shares Nominal value
BoHE H1E
Notes 000 RMB’000
M 3 T AR®T R
Authorised: 2 fit:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each & % {50.158 7T &Y (i)
SER R 10,000,000 861,600
Ordinary shares, issued and E%T - EHE:
fully paid:
Shares issued upon the 720104 & 40 5 25 1T (ii)
reorganisation in 2010 ol ) 100 9
Capitalisation issue in 2010 20104 & AL 2 17 (iii) 2,925,900 251,364
Shares issued by share offer 20104 3% 8 I 17 (iv)
in 2010 BERITRG 574,000 49,312
Shares repurchased in 2011 2011 % 17 O] 85 (v) (10,000) (818)
Accumulated share options 20145 7 R 5 Bz #
exercised up to 2014 st BT 69,170 5,665
Shares issued to Danone Asia 720154 ) 2 &2 28 M (vi)
in 2015 BATAHE 1,186,390 93,820
At 31 December 2021 and 2021 R2021ER
2021512 H31H 4,745,560 399,352
Notes: B o

(i) The Company was incorporated on 3 June 2010 with authorised capital
of 3,800,000 shares at HK$0.10 per share. As part of a reorganisation
of the Group in preparation for the listing of the Company’s shares on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) in 2010 (the “Reorganisation”), the authorised share capital
of the Company was increased to HK$1,000,000,000 (equivalent to
RMB861,600,000) divided into 10,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.10 each.
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AABFR2010F 6 A3BEFMA L - ZEBRAR A
3,800,000/ - B R EE B0IE THRHD - 1
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Year ended 31 December 2021

31. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

On 2 July 2010, as part of the Reorganisation, the Company issued a total
of 99,999 shares at HK$0.10 per share equivalent to RMB9,000 to the
shareholder of Yashili (Guangdong) as the consideration to acquire Yashili
(Guangdong).

Pursuant to the resolution of the Company’'s shareholders passed
on 8 October 2010, the authorised share capital of the Company
was increased from HK$380,000 to HK$1,000,000,000; in addition,
2,925,900,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each were issued at par value
to the shareholders of the Company as at 8 October 2010 by way of
capitalisation of HK$292,590,000 (equivalent to RMB251,364,000) from

the Company’s share premium account.

A total of 3,500,000,000 shares of the Company were listed on the Stock
Exchange on 1 November 2010 (“IPO”), among which 644,000,000 shares
(18.4% of the total number of shares of the Company) were issued to
the public, comprising 574,000,000 new shares and 70,000,000 sale
shares. The gross proceeds received by the Company from the IPO were

approximately HK$2,411 million.

On 10 June 2011 and 13 June 2011, the Company repurchased all of its
own ordinary shares of 10,000,000 at an aggregate price (including
a transaction fee and commission) of HK$18,728,000 (equivalent to
RMB15,538,000), which was deducted from reserves.

The repurchased shares were cancelled and accordingly the issued
share capital of the Company was reduced by the nominal value of these
shares. Pursuant to section 49H of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
an amount equivalent to the par value of the shares cancelled of
HK$1,000,000 (equivalent to RMB818,000) was transferred to the capital
redemption reserve. The premium and transaction costs paid on the
repurchase and cancellation of the shares of HK$17,728,000 (equivalent
to RMB14,720,000) were charged to reserves.

On 30 October 2014, the Company, Mengniu International and Danone
Asia entered into a Subscription Agreement pursuant to which, among
other things, Danone Asia has conditionally agreed to subscribe for and
the Company has conditionally agreed to allot and issue 1,186,390,074
subscription shares at the subscription price of HK$3.70 per subscription
share.

The share subscription has been approved by the Company’s
shareholders at an extraordinary general meeting on 28 November 2014.

On 12 February 2015, the Company received all the share subscription
proceeds of HK$4,389,643,000, equivalent to RMB3,471,330,000,
among which RMB93,820,000 was accounted for as share capital,
and the remaining, after deducting issuance cost, amounting to
RMB3,374,773,000 was accounted for as share premium.

& Ot R IR R M A ()
HE2021F 1288 ILEE

3 R (&)

B aE: (8)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v]

(vi)

MN2010F7A28 - tFARERAN— 82D - A2 7
MELTH(ER)EFESZRRETEH9.999
S REEIEB T, - HENARK000
T ERARBRER LN (BER)NEE -

B ARQ TR EN2010FE10A8E BB R H
R KRR A A TR A H380,000% TN E
1,000,000,000/& 7T : B 50 - BB AR E R H
% (B BF % 3£292,590,0008 T (B E R A R ¥
251,364,0007T) fE & X - A X & 1220104510 A8
A% 8 A H AR R % 172,925,900,000% & R @
B0V TR TR -

ANRE WD R2010FE11B1BEF B B AT
EFm(TEXRABET]) - 4 %£053,500,000,000
A% - E #644,000,0000% (15 &~ 2 7 % 15 42 1Y
18.4%) M AR AT 81T + A 81E574,000,000
T B% 7 A% }£.70,000,0008% 84 & AR 15 A QA UK
MOEXRRAFABETHABSRELELN H2,411
BEBT -

R201ME6A108 R6A13H » A AR £ B #EH
B & & % i A%10,000,0008% - BEER(EFE
ERME) 5B 118728000 (ERARK
15,538,0007T) * WE R EHEP K

EEROCERHEHE MARAHEBETHRAR
NEHEREZSEHERMCAHAEE - KBE
BERBIEPFEOHES  THEBONEEBYE
1,000,0007T (55 & A K #818,0007T) & A %
BIEFHES - SEEREHERGAT XN
B RSk ABK17728000c(ZEE AR
14,720,0007T) B £ & # Bk -

2014%F10A308 AR 7 - REBE K iEE

METTREGE  HPEK Z2INEW
BKHERERE  EARFAEWKHEREEZE R
171,186,390, 074 RE R D - REER AT

B R BB B £93.708 T ©

R2014F1MA28BZ RO RBEERARAIRRK
ERRER KRS EHE -

R2015%2A128 - ARRIK B 2 BBRERER
4,389,643,0005% 7T 414 A K %3,471,330,000
T H & A R #93,820,0007T 5t A B % 17 I
K HHpeBENRBETEALRHOARYE
3,374,773,0007C 5t A R AR & (B o

BITAEERERERAE
20214 R
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B O B SRR I RE ()

Year ended 31 December 2021 & £2021F12A831H It F &

32.NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions

In 2021, the Group had non-cash additions to right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities of RMB3,420,000
and RMB3,379,000, respectively, in respect of lease
arrangements for plant and equipment. In 2020, the
Group had no non-cash transaction of right-of-use assets

RNEHREREBRME

QIERFREXH

021  AEEBRAFTREEE
MEEEBEMNHEEEZRHSIARE
3,420,0007C 1 A K #3,379,0007T °
DR RERNBMEMNREBNRSTH -
2000 A EBRBEREFRABEE

and lease liabilities.

(b)Changes in liabilities arising from financing

MEERENERERS -

hERBEIBDSIEHARESDMT

activities
Bank loans Lease liabilities
RATERK HEA®E
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR T AR T
At 1 January 2021 A2021FE181H 365,857 19,539
Changes from financing cash flows @& R © i £ M & 2 (44,725) (8,892)
New leases EHEE - 3,379
Exchange differences on translation % &8 Jh ¥ 7% &9
of foreign operations e H Z & (374) (231)
Interest expense MEER = 594
Interest paid classified as operating &I &K & F 1Y
cash flows B AT - (594)
At 31 December 2021 72021412 318 320,758 13,795
At 1 January 2020 7R 2020F1H1H 26,831 28,049
Changes from financing cash flows gl & IR & i £ 0 & & 341,220 (8,373)
Exchange differences on translation 1 E &N E %K
of foreign operations M H = &R (2,194) (137)
Interest expense MEZEA = 791
Interest paid classified as operating E&IRELHREFH
cash flows B - (328)
COVID-19-related rent concessions & IFH & R &
from lessors - (463)
At 31 December 2020 72020412 5318 365,857 19,539
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

| OF B 75 Rk MY 5E ()

Year ended 31 December 2021 #; £2021512A8318 I FE

32.NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the
statement of cash flows is as follows:

2.8 HHH R BRMEE)

(BEREEHR &AW

BEREXTEENHEENRER
HAEBRWT:

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T R ARBTF T

Within operating activities BEERLEEY (594) (791)
Within financing activities BEERMEEY (8,892) (8,373)
(9,486) (9,164)

33. PLEDGE OF ASSETS
Details of the Group’s pledged assets are included in notes

13, 14, 17, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26 and 29 to the financial
statements.

34.COMMITMENTS

(a) The Group had the following capital commitments at the

NEEEHA
FREEESEEEERNFRE SR
R &R M EE13 1417 20 ~ 21~ 22~
23 224~ 25~ 26829 °

36, R YE

QBEAREHRR  AEEEAKE

end of the reporting period: BRIAT :

2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARBTF T

Contracted, but not provided for: B ET 418 & B &
Housing and buildings EEREZEY - 661
Intangible assets EWEE 671 =
Plant and machinery M 1 3% & 556 3,590
1,227 4,251

(b) The Group has various lease contracts that have not yet
commenced as at 31 December 2021. The future lease
payments for these non-cancellable lease contracts are
RMB1,251,000 (31 December 2020: RMB3,625,000] due
within one year and RMB350,000 (31 December 2020:
RMB1,976,000) due in the second to fifth years.

(b) B2021F 12 3B AEB FED %]

BRHAABNEESR - REKMH
ST EEREESR —FAM
HEBRHAEAR251,0007T (2020
F12A318: A R #3,625,0007T ) -
ARFABIZNOHTAHBARAES
AMFEzRAFNHEERAARE
350,0007T (202012 A31H: A R
1,976,0007T) °

BITAEERERERAE
20214 R
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B O B SRR I RE ()

Year ended 31 December 2021 & £2021F12A831H It F &

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

B.EBLXS

(a)In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in QI EE A RE E M WEEP?E&
these financial statements, the Group had the following RIRAEE AT 5 KE i ER 7 17
material transactions with related parties during the NTERRXS
year:

2021 2020
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt & ARB TR AR® T
Transactions with subsidiaries of £ & 4% 2 iIx A R &Y
the ultimate holding company ?Ajmﬁaﬁwﬁ?ﬁ%
Purchase of goods BB P (i) 374,385 360,562
Sale of goods S m (i) 282,711 139,673
Service income PR 745 e A* (i) 45,570 33,075
Service fee R %% & R * (i) 11,720 669
Trademark licence fee ?ﬁ@ A& (i) - -
Share option and share award A% 2 HA 4 I AR R D (i)
arrangements & &l* 732 -
Transactions with subsidiaries ER % AR 1 IR A B A
of the ultimate holding FTERFRBOHE
company’s main shareholder REINABAT RS
Purchase of packing materials BEBEMH (i) 92,534 74,320
Purchase of raw materials EE RN (i) 25,389 9,652
Sale of goods $HE M m (i) 12 -
Transactions with a substantial HASEBEEZ AT EN
shareholder and its BEHREMBRA
subsidiaries
Sale of base powder SHEE M (i) 142,223 353,831
Purchase of raw materials FEE Rk (i) 507 1,244
Income from consigned ZREMIMHE R (i)
processing LN 1,062 3,149
Consulting service expense A 8 AR 75 B * (i) 1,330 3,008
Office rental expense & A (i) - 55
Testing service income 182080 AR 75 Uk A (i) 47 50
(i) The above related party transactions were conducted () LB SHREE T ERF

in accordance with the terms mutually agreed between
the parties.

The above transactions also constitute connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
Ot R R R M EE ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 & £2021F12A831H It F &

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) B.EBERS(E)

(b) Outstanding balances with related parties (b) ERREBE AR EEFRER
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AREFT
TRADE RECEIVABLES B 5 E WX
A substantial shareholder and its HAKEBBEEATZEDN
subsidiaries REARHEMBRA 12,253 9,899
Subsidiaries of the ultimate holding =& ZERAF KT A A
company 37,253 8,743
Subsidiaries of the ultimate holding H&EIER AR N EE
company’s main shareholder % 3R A& BT B A A 340 326
49,846 18,968
PREPAYMENTS, OTHER BARE HttEWKE
RECEIVABLES AND OTHER RHEMEE
ASSETS
Subsidiaries of the ultimate holding & & % A A K+ A A
company 2,805 288
Subsidiaries of the ultimate holding HEIER AN T E
company’s main shareholder % & KB A A 27 1,926
2,832 2,214
TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES ESRNRERE
Subsidiaries of the ultimate holding H&ER RN ER
company’s main shareholder % & BB A A 47,514 70,090
Subsidiaries of the ultimate holding & &% A R K T 2 A
company 168,694 15,787
A substantial shareholder and its HAEEEEATEDN
subsidiaries "EHFREWBAF - 273
216,208 86,150
OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS HfthEFR R EE A
Subsidiaries of the ultimate holding =& ZER AT KT QA
company 13,257 13,346
A substantial shareholder and its HAEBEBEEAZED
subsidiaries REFREWMERG 616 2,487
13,873 15,833

As at 31 December 2021, the above balances are M2021512 8318 » it 62 %8 & 4 12
unsecured, non-interest-bearing and repayable on credit R OEEHRE EBRRBREUNFE
terms similar to those offered to or by independent third VEZFTREIBEBIE=ZFIEMH

parties. WS BERREE -
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B O B SRR I RE ()

Year ended 31 December 2021 & £2021F12A831H It F &

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(c) Compensation of key management personnel of

the Group

Key management compensation is detailed in notes 9 and

10 to the financial statements.

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as

follows:

B.EBLER 5 (&)

FEKEEREEBARNHE

REBEABO R E N Y B R

=M EE9R0 o

31 December

BEEHEIHERMTA

HEREHA SHEsRTEMNE@E
(ERUNNE

31 December

2021 2020
B —-F —E-THF
+=Z—B=+-H +=ZA=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’'000
Financial assets ERMEE AR®T T ARBFT
Financial instruments at amortised DB ER R AR EMW
cost c@MIA
Trade receivables B 5 & WK 414,730 91,166
Prepayments, other receivables and FTEATFRIE - HAth e R FKIA
other assets N H A& E 7,116 24,104
Pledged deposits X R il 8R 17 177 &K 90,354 150,261
Long-term bank deposits R AR 1717 K 370,558 736,004
Cash and bank balances & KRR 1T A R 2,125,047 2,080,918
Debt investments at amortised cost LAEEBR K A ET 2
BEERE 24,532 -
Financial assets at fair value through UARAEBEIEEHEEH
profit or loss FFABENERMEE
Other current financial assets EmrsemEE 93,865 20,000
Structural bank deposits EBERITER - 101,764
Derivative financial instruments TEemIA 1,901 2,175
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Year ended 31 December 2021 #; £2021512A8318 I FE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY b.IREHE TSR TE(E)

(Continued)

31 December

31 December

2021 2020

—B-—& —E-TF

+=A=+-8B +ZA=+—8H

RMB’000 RMB’000

Financial liabilities o= SR AR®BT R AR T
Financial liabilities at amortised cost LA R A EH

cRAas

Trade and bills payables HEORNRRRE 813,885 698,052

Other payables and accruals Hi BN KRR EER 255,060 548,354

Derivative financial instruments MmESMTA 407 262

Interest-bearing bank borrowings T ERITERK 320,758 365,857

37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial

NEMTAZARERAARERER

AEENERTANKEERAER

instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that TEEBEFRURAABENEKEE 15
reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows: R

Carrying amounts Fair values

IREEE ARERE
2021 2020 2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AREFTT AR®TR AR®TR

Financial assets ERMEE

Long-term bank deposits EHRITER 370,558 736,004 364,595 724,829
Other current financial assets HnoemsEE 93,865 20,000 93,865 20,000
Structural bank deposits EEMFITER - 101,764 - 101,764
Derivative financial instruments MEL®MIA 1,901 2,175 1,901 2,175
466,324 859,943 460,361 848,768

Carrying amounts Fair values

REEE AREE
2021 2020 2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AREFrT AR®FTR ARE®TR

Financial liabilities ERMBE
Derivative financial instruments eI A 407 262 407 262
Interest-bearing bank borrowings STEEETER 320,758 365,857 320,758 365,857
321,165 366,119 321,165 366,119
BEREERZERAERLA 245
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37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, the current portion of pledged deposits,
trade receivables, other current financial assets, derivative
financial instruments, trade payables, financial assets
included in prepayments, other receivables and other
assets, financial liabilities included in other payables and
accruals, derivative financial instruments and short-term
interest-bearing bank loans approximate to their carrying
amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these
instruments.

The Group's corporate finance team headed by the finance
manager is responsible for determining the policies and
procedures for the fair value measurement of financial
instruments. The corporate finance team reports directly to
management. At each reporting date, the corporate finance
team analyses the movements in the values of financial
instruments and determines the major inputs applied in
the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved
by management. The valuation process and results are
discussed with management twice a year for interim and
annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

The following method and assumption were used to estimate
the fair values:

The fair values of long-term bank deposits, other current
financial assets, structural bank deposits, derivative
financial instruments and interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings have been calculated by discounting the
expected future cash flows using rates currently available
for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities. The changes in fair value as a result of the
Group’s own non-performance risk for interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings as at 31 December 2021 were assessed
to be insignificant.
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TRMITE BHFABRRITERNAIAE
EREGEEERR BRELESHT
ENABBERBARHE -

AEEAMBEEEAENMBEKEER
BESRTARAABEFENKRNIE
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37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF NEMITAZARERAABEER(E)
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Fair value hierarchy DREBHR
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement REBRAUTERUSASR T AN
hierarchy of the Group's financial instruments: NAEFZ:
Assets measured at fair value: BRARBEFENEE:
Fair value measurement using
NAREFENER
Significant Significant
observable inputs observable inputs
(Level 2) (Level 2)

EXTHEERA SAUTEEHA
HE(F-FR) BB (F-_FQ

As at As at

31 December 31 December

2021 2020

20214 720204

12H318 12 A31H

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® T ARBFTT

Other current financial assets EmrsemEE 93,865 20,000
Structural bank deposits EBESRITER - 101,764
Derivative financial instruments MESMITA 1,901 2,175
95,766 123,939
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O R SRR M & ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 # £2021F12831H IEFE

37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF N EMIECARERANEBERER(E)
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) AREER(HE)
Liabilities measured at fair value: BARBIFENEE:

Fair value measurement using
MREFENEHR
Significant Significant
observable inputs observable inputs
(Level 2) (Level 2)
EXTEEHA SATEEHA
BE(E-ZER B(EFE_FN

As at As at
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
R20214F 20204
12A31H 12A31H
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥TF R AREBFTT
Financial liabilities TRAasE
Derivative financial instruments MESBMIA 407 262
During 2021, there were no transfers of fair value 2MFeMEENEREBEL &EFE —
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers ERBEE_ZEHCENAABEEER
into or out of Level 3 for financial assets and financial BEmaFE =5 RmeE Ak T(20204F ¢
liabilities (2020: nil). &) -
Assets for which fair values
are disclosed
EHEARENEE
Significant Significant
observable inputs observable inputs
(Level 2) (Level 2)
EXATEHEBA ZAUHEIEHA
HEB(EF-Z2R) HEB(E_FR)
As at 31 As at 31
December 2021 December 2020
20215128318 7120205124318
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARMF T AR T T
Long-term bank deposits R AR 1717 K 364,595 724,829
Investment properties KEME 185,160 171,950
549,755 896,779
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Year ended 31 December 2021

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than
derivatives, comprise interest-bearing bank loans and other
borrowings, cash and cash equivalents and pledged deposits.
The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise
finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various
other financial assets and liabilities such as trade and bills
receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from its
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’'s financial
instruments are fair value and cash flow interest rate risks,
foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. Generally,
the senior management of the Company meets regularly
to analyse and formulate measures to manage the Group’'s
exposure to these risks. In addition, the board of directors
of the Company holds meetings regularly to analyse and
approve the proposals made by the senior management of
the Company. Generally, the Group introduces conservative
strategies on its risk management. The Group’s accounting
policies in relation to derivative financial instruments are set
out in note 2.4 above.

(a) Fair value and cash flow interest rate risks

The Group regularly reviews and monitors the fixed
interest rate borrowings in order to manage its interest
rate risk. The Group’s interest-bearing bank loans and
short-term deposits are stated at amortised cost and
not revalued on a periodic basis. Floating rate interest
income is credited to profit as earned.

If there was a general increase/decrease in the interest
rates of deposit and financial products with floating
interest rates by one percentage point, with all other
variables held constant, the consolidated pre-tax profit
would have no changes for the year ended 31 December
2021 (2020: increased/decreased by approximately
RMB200,000], with no impact on other components of
the consolidated equity, except for retained earnings
of the Group. The sensitivity analysis above has been
determined assuming that the change in interest rates
had occurred at the end of the reporting period and the
Group has applied the exposure to interest rate risk to
those financial instruments in existence at those dates.
The estimated one percentage point increase or decrease
represents management’'s assessment of a reasonably
possible change in interest rates over the period until the
end of the next reporting period.

Ot R R R M EE ()
HZE2021F12A318 L EE

38. B 7 LB E EEER R R

AEBRTETRAINTIZSRTAR
RABRRTER RERBEFEDLR
EERER -ZFeRITANTIZAN
EEKEIL“gﬁéi rEBHEA
CROAHEBELERELNEMEREE
REE MEZERKRTEARBERERR
BHENRIA -

$Eléﬁilﬁi\3$ﬂ@‘£§}ﬁﬁﬁi\%@ﬁ

BELREERENZER SN R
=& A &ﬁ@béﬁé‘t\ﬂA°—ﬂxﬁﬁ‘§*

ZAN/N T%i&gﬁl‘amﬁﬂﬁﬁéﬁﬁﬁ
&%‘JEB{% Eﬁ$ﬁlﬁﬁuum_ﬂz%ﬂ
I N NY/NET- Hﬁ”ﬁaﬁé\.%
oI A i /NI = EEE? 2N
& —RME - K%E’:‘ﬁ@ﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁfﬂ
RERTRE AEBEHETLEESRT
ARG BURE N £ XM sE2.4 -

()2 RBERR & B FI 5 HE

AEBETHEETY EEETEMNEH
B NEBEMEXEAR - NEE
BERTEFRREHERRZEHK AN
Sl - MAEEREM - FBHE
MBWAZBEBRO WA AR -

WIRZHANEFENTRREYE
MM EREENE BRE—EAS
BomATBEEMEELNE  A/HZE
2021 12A3MBLEEFE - B U B AT A
G (L (20204 - 1B A0 R A 4
/\E@Mooooox) HEAEEHA M
EEMELRITEFE XD
HE%‘J/F%B,’MI\oLLaﬁmJ;mﬁ%fEE
é“%IJT%?%%EEA&*&ttHH?K%%EHﬁ
T ALSBEEBE@EBENFEERR
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B —EESEMNEREEREY
BHRNEE T —EAmfREHKRALEF =
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B O R SRR M & ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 # £2021F12831H IEFE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

(b)Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily
on bank deposits, other receivables, trade payables and
bank loans of the operations to which the transactions
relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily
HKD, USD, NZD and EUR.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in the RMB exchange rates
to HKD, USD, NZD and EUR with all other variables held
constant, of the Group's profit before tax (due to changes
in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities):

38. Bt 7% B b B AR I BUK (4E)

(b) 5 5 R B%

AREBWIIERREBREUINE
AAEZRITENR HMREWK B
SERNREBEARRITER  ADEE
BHBAXZZNEEBEAIINEE -
SIHEBRZEBTERBE XL
AR RBOT -

TRINTEMBEEMEBEHGERT T2
MEBERT ARBEE®E - XT 4
B A RBITH R B R 8 H R W
FHEH(REREERABNAR
BEEHBH)HAKE KGN AT
@

Increase/
(decrease) in RMB Increase/(decrease)
exchange rate % in profit before tax
ARMBER B A0 5 A
EH/(TR) % EH/(TH)

2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTT
If RMB weakens against the USD MARBRETRE (5) 833 7,596
If RMB strengthens against the USD i A R HETHE 5 (833) (7,596)
If RMB weakens against the HKD MARBRETRE (5) 693 7,961
If RMB strengthens against the HKD i A R E BT H E 5 (693) (7,961)
If RMB weakens against the NZD MARBRATRE (5) 101 5,805
If RMB strengthens against the NZD A RE L 4 7 & 5 (101) (5,805)
If RMB weakens against the EUR fWARERBR TR E (5) (826) 545
If RMB strengthens against the EUR  fii A R # 5 BT 7 & 5 826 (545)
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
Ot R R R M EE ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 #; £2021F12A31B It FE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 38. BB EBEEAEERRE (&)
POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Credit risk (c) 5 & Mm%

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade
receivables, prepayments, other receivables and other
assets, pledged deposits and cash and cash equivalents.
Exposure to the credit risk is monitored by management
on an ongoing basis. Details of the Company’s credit
policy are contained in note 22 to the financial
statements.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging:

The table below shows the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group's
credit policy, which is mainly based on the ageing
information unless other information is available without
undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification
as at 31 December.

AEENEERRIERBESE
Wk BAERR R ERERK
HMEE ZRHERTHERMES
ERTHEF EERRTAEEE
FEER ARXANERRXEAN
s mARME22 -

EmiEERR:

TREIEARAEBEEFEEBRENE
BEEENRAREERBHO - AR
HENANBMNBESE - ZEER
FETEERBENEREEE UK
HEE T MLENKARE HENA
EEMES -

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs Total
12@ARH
EREX EEGEARAGRARL @t
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach

F-EE  F-EBR  E=ER  EBLrX
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

As at 31 December 2021 R2021F12A318 ARETR AR%¥TR AR%¥Tx AR%¥Tx AR%¥Tx
Trade receivables* P L6 - - - 426,513 426,513
Financial assets included BEBRMNHE A

in prepayments, other it JE L R A E

receivables and other WmEENSH

assets BE

— Normal** — JIE it 7,116 — - - 7,116

— Doubtful** — TE R - — - - -
Pledged deposits X TF S

— Not yet past due — K5 90,354 - - - 90,354
Long-term bank deposits RARTER

— Not yet past due — REH 370,558 - - - 370,558
Cash and bank balances ReRRTEH

— Not yet past due — R E 2,125,047 - - — 2,125,047

2,593,075 — - 426,513 3,019,588
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O R SRR M & ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 # £2021F12831H IEFE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 38. BB EBEEAERRE (&)
POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Credit risk (Continued) (c) {5 5 BB (#8)
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs Total
1218 A 78 &
EREX REFEHRAEREAEX @t
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach

—BER  F-ER  E-ER  BEFEX
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

As at 31 December 2020 R2020F12A318E ARBTRT AR®TRT AREKTRE ARETR AR¥TR
Trade receivables* B 5 e - - - 103,219 103,219
Financial assets included BEBMNFE
in prepayments, other H i & U s A
receivables and other HEED
assets TREE
— Normal** IIE 24,104 — - - 24,104
— Doubtful** — TFRxx - — 2,637 - 2,637
Pledged deposits X IR &R 177 5K
— Not yet past due — REH 150,261 - - - 150,261
Long-term bank deposits RHRTHER
— Not yet past due — R E|H 736,004 = = = 736,004
Cash and bank balances Be RRAESR
— Not yet past due — K5/ 2,080,918 — = — 2,080,918
2,991,287 — 2,637 103,219 3,097,143
*  For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified * BRAEERARENELETENEHEK
approach for impairment, information based on the provision matrix RME ERBEERENEHDAIRGH
is disclosed in note 22 to the financial statements. AN 22 E o
** The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, * ENRE HMERRNHEGEERES
other receivables and other assets is considered to be “normal” NeREENGEEEEEARIPRERR
when they are not past due and there is no information indicating [EEIEBVHRERUAREEFEERAZ
that the financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk CMEENEERRBEEEN - TR - 2
since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial MEENGEEERRARIFEMN] -
assets is considered to be “doubtful”.
The majority of the Group’s customers have been trading REBREIPEFP—BERAEER
with the Group for years and the Group did not record BZF  MEE2021F128318 1L F
significant bad debt losses during the years ended 31 ERAEERNIEBPREA T EEKE
December 2021 (31 December 2020: nil). At the end of the BEAREREEE(20206F12A318 : &) -
reporting period, the Group had certain concentration REZER - Kﬁlﬁ = T&ERESE
of credit risk of the trade receivables as the receivables W fEERRE - R2021F12A8318 -
from the five largest trade debtors represented 48.46% ARKEDE 1451 FhRE S RN RN
of the total trade receivables as at 31 December 2021 (31 48.46% (202012 A31H : 87.85%) °
December 2020: 87.85%).
The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented EmiEERBREECHEEEERNA
by the carrying amount of each financial asset in the ZEeRMEENEREEME AEEIL &
consolidated statement of financial position. The Group =AM /H\ﬁﬂ}f‘% B R B HE PR
does not provide any other guarantees which would 2 § &k

expose the Group to credit risk.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
| OF B 75 Rk MY 5E ()

Year ended 31 December 2021 #; £2021F12A31B It FE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

38. Bt 7% B b B AR I BUK (4E)

(c) Credit risk (Continued) (c) 15 & MBS (48)

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group's
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables are
disclosed in note 22 to the financial statements.

(d) Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial
assets (e.g., trade receivables) and projected cash flows
from operations. The Group's objective is to maintain
a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility

through the use of bank overdrafts, bank loans and other

interest-bearing loans.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities

ERASEREEWRERXMA@HZ
FEERRBZHEMELHEE BER
M mARME22 -

(d) 37 Bh 14 o B

rEBEFTRAKLEFUERDESFET
BEEERFEsRERBROER ZITAZE
EHEeRTANSREEWBNES
FEWBR RO R BB B A R 42 =08 B &Y
ErRERE - AEEMNBERA
BEARITES RITERMEM
HEER TESEBEHENEEMH
ZEREFFE -

rEBRARAICRABER

i%a

as at the reporting period, based on the contractual WBEBIER(RERRFTBRNRGTE
undiscounted payments, is as follows: {1 N
Within 1 year
or on demand 110 2 years 2to 5years Total
-FRR
REXR -ZWE 2 @
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
31 December 2021 20214128318 ARBTT ARETRT AR®Tn ARET:
Derivative financial instruments fTEEBITEA 407 - - 407
Lease liabilities HEAE 6,575 5,263 1,957 13,795
Interest-bearing bank borrowings SFRBITER 320,758 - - 320,758
Trade and bills payables BORNERRER 813,885 - - 813,885
Other payables and accruals HihEAH R
EER 255,060 - - 255,060
1,396,685 5,263 1,957 1,403,905
31 December 2020 202012 A318
Derivative financial instruments fTEEBIEA 262 = = 262
Lease liabilities HEBE 8,839 5,942 4,758 19,539
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FRBBITER 365,857 = = 365,857
Trade and bills payables BORNEARER 698,052 - - 698,052
Other payables and accruals Hi eI R R
&R 548,354 - - 548,354
1,621,364 5,942 4,758 1,632,064
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B O R SRR M & ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 # £2021F12831H IEFE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

(e) Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. No changes were made in the objectives, policies
or processes for managing capital during the year ended
31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: nil).

The Group uses different measures including an adjusted
net debt-to-equity ratio to monitor its capital. Net debt is
calculated as interest-bearing bank loans, as shown in
the consolidated statement of financial position, less cash
and bank deposits. Total capital is calculated as equity
holders’ funds [i.e., total equity attributable to owners of
the parent], as shown in the consolidated statement of
financial position. The ratios as at the end of the reporting
periods were as follows:

38. Bt 7% B b B AR I BUK (4E)

le)EXER

AEBEAEENTIEARRRE
ZIKEIT%f?%%f&%’ET%@EE’éZKtE
KRN UXFKEEBRRAL
BREE-

ZKEIEIEEé% o WRE L
BB ERAEEENRRE

iﬂfﬁuﬂ% B E2021F12 8318 1

iﬁ BEAEEMBEREZE BHXZIER
& F) (2020412 A318 : &) -

AEBFERTRERE BELSHE
FEBESLEE LEBEREELX-
FEBUNEHEEAGERATINE
HEEBRBRASRBITTERTES
HeBERAUNEGEHEEABRA T
MkEREAES (A ARIRER
EABRBER)GESE -#HER
EHROLE DT

2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ TR AREFTT
Interest-bearing bank borrowings SRR T K
(note 29) (B 5% 29) 320,758 365,857
Lease liabilities (note 16) HE & &M EE16) 13,795 19,539
Less: Do
Cash and cash equivalents [note 26) BHERKIRESEEY
(BT 5% 26) 1,529,931 1,818,288
Short-term bank deposits WEIR T IE K 595,116 262,630
Long-term bank deposits (note 26) RERITER
(PR 5% 26) 370,558 736,004
Pledged bank deposits (note 26) = PR § 3R 17 15 3K
(B 5% 26) 90,354 150,261
Net debt BEEH (2,251,406) (2,581,787)
Total equity attributable to owners NRIREFEA
of the parent FETE 0 R 5,528,059 5,723,117
Adjusted net debt-to-equity ratio RO TE\WTE =
= (41%) (45%)

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries is subject
to externally imposed capital requirements.
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39.

40.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Year ended 31 December 2021

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Company has issued an announcement on 16 March
2022. The Company was informed by Mengniu Dairy,
its controlling shareholder, that Mengniu Dairy was in
discussion with other parties regarding its holdings in
Yashili and certain other business interests, which may
result in a number of potential transactions (the “Potential
Transactions”), the structure and details of which are
yet to be finalized but which may include a potential pre-
conditional privatization offer for Company by Mengniu Dairy
(or through its affiliate] (the "Potential Offer”). As of the
date of the financial statements, no definitive agreement or
arrangement in respect of any the Potential Transactions
has been entered into. Therefore, the Potential Transactions,
including the Potential Offer, may or may not proceed.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the
Company at the end of reporting period is as follows:

& Ot R IR R M A ()
HE2021F 1288 ILEE

NHEHPEREE

MR2022F38168 » KRB BEMRE o K
NAEERBRREFIAEEN R4
¥XERERAEIANORERSE TEHA
¥R EEM T ETHR > B2 E
BRZHEERG((BEXRSE]) 8
EERHBHEREE  BERERER
SIHE(KEREHB AR M ARA IR
HEEMRIREHELBLEEN(BEE
N - B=WBHREREBH HERTHE
BERGELEERBHEIZTHE - Bt
BEXRZ(BEBEEZH) ]S ks
RLEHLT o

40. DB B % AR R 3R

BRARARANFHBMRREELT

2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS kRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries R FRAAMER 5,315,077 5,133,151
Total non-current assets IERBEELE 5,315,077 5,133,151
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Prepayments, other receivables and TEAT I - E fth & K
other assets BN EMEE 257,131 589,879
Cash and cash equivalents BehBE2EEY 11,798 13,660
Total current assets MEEERTE 268,929 603,539
CURRENT LIABILITIES o R=Ri
Trade payables B 5’ 1,042 970
Other payables and accruals H b fE 1~ 50IB &
B & 11,810 11,255
Total current liabilities mBAEERE 12,852 12,225
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 256,077 591,314
Net ASSETS EEFRH 5,571,154 5,724,465
EQUITY 5
Share capital f&% 7 399,352 399,352
Reserves B 5,171,802 5,325,113
Total equity e 5,571,154 5,724,465
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B O B SRR I RE ()

Year ended 31 December 2021

HE2021FE12A318 ILEE

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)

40. 5] B 7 AR 3R 3R (48)

Note: B &E
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: RARAAWEHEEZESHOT
Capital
Share  redemption  Contributed  Translation Retained Total
premium reserve surplus reserve earnings reserves
EXEB
R 13 % B & EdBH ERfRE REEF HEAE
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFL ARETE ARETR ARBTT ARETR ARETR
(i) (ii) (iii)
At 1 January 2020 R2020F1 818 M & & 3,845,616 818 1,449,863 437,881 (42,896) 5,691,282
Total comprehensive loss for the year ZEBALE - - - (367,264) 1,095 (366,169)
At 31 December 2020 R2020%F12 A31H 6 £ 8 3,845,616 818 1,449,863 70,617 (41,801 5,325,113
Total comprehensive loss for the year ZEBAGE - - - (162,495) 9,184 (153,311)
At 31 December 2021 R2021E12 831 B M & % 3,845,616 818 1,449,863 (91,878) (32,617) 5,171,802
Notes: Bt % -

(i) Share premium

The excess of the issued price net of any issuance expenses over the

par value of the shares issued has been credited to the share premium

account of the Company. Under the Companies Law (Revised] of the

Cayman Islands, the funds in the share premium account of the Company

are distributable to the shareholders of the Company provided that

immediately following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be

distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as they

fall due in the ordinary course of business.

(i) Contributed surplus

As part of the Reorganisation, the shareholders of Yashili (Guangdong)

transferred their equity interests in Yashili (Guangdong) to Yashili (HK)
on 2 July 2010. A contributed surplus of RMB1,367,204,000 was resulted
from these transfers for the purpose of the Group’'s consolidated

financial statements.

In addition, for the purpose of the Company’s financial statements,

a contributed surplus of RMB1,449,863,000 arose from the issuance

of shares by the Company in exchange for the equity interests in the

subsidiaries held by the shareholders of these subsidiaries pursuant to

the Reorganisation.

(iii) Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences

arising from the translation of the financial statements.

41. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(i)

(ii)

B 1 3 8

BOEMBREABETRDBHEHTRAR
ENEBECHALARBNBROEER - RIERF
ERERTEEER) ARARNDEERD
BE2UDKTARABARR  HEBEREZE SRR
SRME  ARRAABERNEEEARBEERK
BRETEIHZER -

R2010F7A28 - fEAEHEMN—H L F
(ER)ERMREBEERTF(ER) MR
TEERBELTF (BB - AKEES KUK
FHPAZEERELEEHBHARY1,367,204,000
c35

BN RARBIB B RES  BEAANDQAE
TRELNBERFAGIREEF AR BTANR
mEEEBEHRBARYL49,863,0007T °

(iii) FE 3 4@

RERBEERAEM B RRMELNMEIN
EER -

AR 4§ S

The financial statements were approved and authorised for

issue by the board of directors on 30 March 2022.

256 YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD

ANNUAL REPORT 2021

£ E 20 R202263A8308 # & K& X #E

T

BB REK



A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the

published audited financial statements, is set out below.

The table below sets forth the summary income statement

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

—Ito

AFMBGBRE

MAERERMBRRZASELAE @Y
BERCAMZERE BERAGEHEN

TREJAEERATIARHRE R R E

information of the Group for the periods indicated: R

RMB million AREEETR 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
Revenue A 2,254.70 3,011.20 3,412.00 3,649.20 4,434.70
Cost of sales 5 & B AR (1,332.50)  (1,817.40)  (2,145.20)  (2,315.40)  (2,974.70)
Gross profit X 922.20 1,193.80 1,266.80 1,333.80 1,460.00
Other revenue N 70.20 91.60 28.90 102.00 59.50
Selling and distribution 5% & &8 $5f %

expenses (893.20) (1,140.40) (963.80) (1,039.10)  (1,146.80)
Administrative THRAX

expenses (271.20) (208.60) (223.00) (186.6) (239.30)
Impairment losses on & @ & E B E 18 &

financial assets (17.40) 1.20 (5.80) (3.80) (2.70)
Other expenses H i [ 2 (145.60) (69.90) (84.80) (151.50) (275.50)
Profit/(loss) from SRR (B518)

operations (335.00) (132.30) 18.30 54.90 (144.80)
Finance income U N 123.70 113.60 94.50 88.50 72.90
Finance costs 8 75 B A (18.10) (16.10) (9.80) (13.70) (21.20)
Net finance income/ SFE WA S

(expense) (R ) 105.60 97.50 84.70 74.80 51.70
Profit/(loss) before BrATS R AR A

income tax (EH8) (229.40) (34.80) 102.90 129.70 (93.10)
Income tax expense FrEBiAx 49.60 87.10 9.40 (28.60) 11.70
Profit/(loss) from SEREERHH

continuing (E#E)

operations (179.80) 52.30 112.40 101.10 (81.40)
Discontinued operation #% | & & ¥ 7%
Loss from discontinued #% |- A% & % 75 &5 18

operation (net of (FOBRFTEHE)

income tax)
Profit/(loss) for the FERF(EE)

year (179.80) 52.30 112.40 101.10 (81.40)
Profit/(loss) LARAEREER

attributable to (B ) (179.80) 52.30 112.40 101.10 (81.40)
Non-controlling FE 1 R R 5

interests — — — — —
Profit/(loss) for the FERFA,(EE)

year (179.80) 52.30 112.40 101.10 (81.40)

BEIRERERERLDE
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY (CONTINUED)

TFMBEHEGE

The table sets forth the summary balance sheet information as
of 31 December 2017, 2018, 2019, 2020 and 2021:

T &R & A &£ B R20174 - 20184 - 2019

£ 2020 R2021E12A3NBM B ERARER

MEER:

RMB million ARBEETR 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
Non-current assets EREBEE 3,404.70 3,555.60 4,072.80 4,189.20 3,629.90
Current assets mEE E 4,025.90 4,166.60 3,439.70 3,602.80 3,649.40
Current liabilities mE ARG 1,918.00 2,150.00 1,799.30 2,028.90 1,710.90
Net current assets/ REBEE (BE)

(liabilities) B 2,107.90 2,016.60 1,640.40 1,573.90 1,938.50
Total assets less EEERLRDAERE

current liabilities 5,512.60 5,572.20 5,713.20 5,763.10 5,568.40
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